SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549 FORM 10-Q

[X] QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended July 1, 2001

OR

[] TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

COMMISSION FILE NUMBER 1-3295

--

MINERALS TECHNOLOGIES INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

DELAWARE 25-1190717

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

(I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

405 Lexington Avenue, New York, New York 10174-1901 (Address of principal executive offices, including zip code)

(212) 878-1800

(Registrant's telephone number, including area code)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that registrant was required to file such reports) and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

YES X NO

Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the issuer's classes of common stock, as of the latest practicable date.

CLASS

OUTSTANDING AT July 27, 2001

Common Stock, \$ 0.10 par value

19,581,031

MINERALS TECHNOLOGIES INC.

INDEX TO FORM 10-Q

Page No.

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1.

Financial Statements:

Independent Auditors' Report

Condensed Consolidated Statement of Income for the three-month and six-month periods ended July 1, 2001 and June 25, 2000	3
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet as of July 1, 2001 and December 31, 2000	4
Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the six-month periods ended July 1, 2001 and June 25, 2000	5
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements	6
	U

Item 2.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	10
Item 3.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk	12
PART II.	OTHER INFORMATION	
Item 1.	Legal Proceedings	13
Item 4.	Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders	13
Item 6.	Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K	13
Signature		14

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

2

ITEM 1. Financial Statements

MINERALS TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME (Unaudited)

	Three M	Ionths Ended	Six Months Ended	
(thousands of dollars, except per share data)	July 1, <u>2001</u>	June 25, <u>2000</u>	July 1, <u>2001</u>	June 25, 2000
Net sales	\$170,738	\$172,216	\$334,713	\$333,145
Operating costs and expenses:				
Cost of goods sold	125,255	119,572	245,731	233,602
Marketing and administrative expenses	18,800	19,610	36,926	37,084
Restructuring charge	3,403		3,403	
Research and development expenses	<u>6,096</u>	<u>6,574</u>	<u>11,983</u>	<u>12,464</u>
Income from operations	17,184	26,460	36,670	49,995
Non-operating deductions, net	<u>2,169</u>	819	<u>4,060</u>	<u>1,772</u>
Income before provision for taxes				
on income and minority interests	15,015	25,641	32,610	48,223
Provision for taxes on income	4,327	8,036	9,784	15,117
Minority interests	347	<u>452</u>	827	928
Net income	\$ 10,341 =====	\$ 17,153 =====	\$ 21,999 =====	\$ 32,178 =====
Earnings per share:				
Basic	\$ 0.53	\$ 0.83	\$ 1.12	\$ 1.56
Diluted	\$ 0.52	*	\$ 1.10	\$ 1.51
Cash dividends declared per common share	\$ 0.025	\$ 0.025	\$ 0.050	\$ 0.050
Shares used in the computation of earnings per share:				
Basic	19,564	20,582	19,674	20,684
Diluted	19,969	21,227	20,016	21,251
See accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements	5.			

See accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

MINERALS TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

ASSETS

(thousands of dollars)	July 1, <u>2001</u> *	December 31, 2000**
Current assets:		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 7,515	\$ 6,692
Accounts receivable, net	126,610	116,192
Inventories	73,063	71,883
Other current assets	23,880	20,590
Total current assets	231,068	215,357
Property, plant and equipment, less accumulated depreciation and depletion - July 1, 2001 - \$488,656; December 31, 2000 - \$466,534	538,269	548,209
Other assets and deferred charges	62,184	<u>36,266</u>
Total assets	\$831,521 ======	\$799,832 =====
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS'	EQUITY	
Current liabilities: Short-term borrowings	¢ 07 400	¢ 40.10F
Current maturities of long-term debt	\$ 87,409	\$ 48,105
Accounts payable	343	765
Other current liabilities	34,408	36,153
Total current liabilities	<u>51,290</u>	<u>48,504</u>
	173,450	133,527
Long-term debt	89,024	89,857
Other non-current liabilities	92,322	92,809
Total liabilities	354,796	316,193
	354,730	510,155
Shareholders' equity		
Common stock	2,588	2,585
Additional paid-in capital	155,858	155,001
Retained earnings	600,198	579,181
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	<u>(58,134</u>)	<u>(44,073)</u>
	700,510	692,694
Less treasury stock	<u>223,785</u>	<u>209,055</u>
Total shareholders' equity	476,725	483,639
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity	\$831,521 =====	\$799,832 =====

^{*} Unaudited

See accompanying Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

^{**} Condensed from audited financial statements.

OIA MIUHUIS LIN	····

(thousands of dollars)	July 1, <u>2001</u>	June 25, <u>2000</u>
Operating Activities		
Net income	\$ 21,999	\$ 32,178
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities, net of acquisition:		
Depreciation, depletion and amortization	32,132	29,724
Other non-cash items	1,620	2,844
Net changes in operating assets and liabilities	<u>(13,142)</u>	<u>(13,180</u>)
Net cash provided by operating activities	<u>42,609</u>	<u>51,566</u>
Investing Activities		
Purchases of property, plant and equipment	(34,155)	(52,297)
Acquisition of business	(35,763)	(12,580)
Other investing activities, net	5,241	325
Net cash used in investing activities	<u>(64,677</u>)	<u>(64,552</u>)
Financing Activities		
Proceeds from issuance of short-term and long-term debt	138,797	46,428
Repayment of debt	(99,841)	(16,104)
Purchase of common shares for treasury	(14,730)	(19,986)
Other financing activities, net	(121)	<u>2,872</u>
Net cash provided by financing activities	<u>24,105</u>	<u>13,210</u>
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents	_(1,214)	<u>(1,851</u>)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents	823	(1,627)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	6,692	20,378
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$ 7,515 =====	\$ 18,751 =====
Interest paid	\$ 4,128 =====	\$ 3,026 =====
Income taxes paid	\$ 4,200 =====	\$ 10,282 =====

MINERALS TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 -- Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with the rules and regulations of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission. Accordingly, certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles have been condensed or omitted. Therefore, these financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto contained in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000. In the opinion of management, all adjustments, consisting solely of normal recurring adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of the financial information for the periods indicated, have been included. The results for the three-month and six-month periods ended July 1, 2001 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ending December 31, 2001.

Note 2 -- Inventories

The following is a summary of inventories by major category:

(thousands of dollars)	July 1, 	December 31,
Raw materials	\$25,264	\$24,717
Work-in-process	8,655	7,541
Finished goods	21,896	20,700
Packaging and supplies	<u>17,248</u>	<u>18,925</u>
Total inventories	\$73,063	\$71,883
	====	=====

Note 3 -- Debt and Commitments

The following is a summary of long-term debt:

(thousands of dollars)	July 1, 	December 31, 2000
7.49% Guaranteed Senior Notes Due July 24, 2006	\$ 50,000	\$ 50,000
Yen denominated Guaranteed Credit Agreement Due March 31, 2007	9,224	10,057
Variable/Fixed Rate Industrial Development Revenue Bonds Due 2009	4,000	4,000
Economic Development Authority Refunding Revenue Bonds Series 1999 Due 2010	4,600	4,600
Variable/Fixed Rate Industrial Development Revenue Bonds Due August 1, 2012	8,000	8,000
Variable/Fixed Rate Industrial Development Revenue Bonds Series 1999 Due November 1, 2014	8,200	8,200
Variable/Fixed Rate Industrial Development Revenue Bonds Due March 31, 2020	5,000	5,000
Other borrowings	343	<u>765</u>
	89,367	90,622
Less: Current maturities	343	<u>765</u>
Long-term debt	\$ 89,024 =====	\$ 89,857 =====

6

MINERALS TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 4 -- Earnings Per Share (EPS)

Basic earnings per share are based upon the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share are based upon the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period assuming the issuance of common shares for all dilutive potential common shares outstanding. The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share:

	Three Months Ended		Six Months Ended	
Basic EPS (in thousands, except per share data)	July 1, <u>2001</u>	June 25, 2000	July 1, <u>2001</u>	June 25, 2000
Net income	\$ 10,341	\$ 17,153	\$ 21,999	\$ 32,178
Weighted average shares outstanding	<u>19,564</u>	20,582	<u>19,674</u>	<u>20,684</u>
Basic earnings per share	\$ 0.53 =====	\$ 0.83 =====	\$ 1.12 =====	\$ 1.56 =====
Diluted EPS				
Net income	\$ 10,341	\$ 17,153	\$ 21,999	\$ 32,178
Weighted average shares outstanding Dilutive effect of stock options	19,564 <u>405</u>	20,582 <u>645</u>	19,674 <u>342</u>	20,684 567
Weighted average shares outstanding, adjusted	<u>19,969</u>	21,227	<u>20,016</u>	<u>21,251</u>
Diluted earnings per share	\$ 0.52 =====	\$ 0.81 =====	\$ 1.10 =====	\$ 1.51 =====

Note 5 -- Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The following are the components of comprehensive income (loss):

	Three Months Ended		Six Months Ended		
(in thousands of dollars)	July 1, <u>2001</u>	June 25, 2000	July 1, <u>2001</u>	June 25, <u>2000</u>	
Net income	\$ 10,341	\$ 17,153	\$ 21,999	\$ 32,178	
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:					
Foreign currency translation adjustments	(3,652)	<u>(4,262</u>)	<u>(14,061</u>)	<u>(8,206</u>)	
Comprehensive income	\$ 6,689 =====	\$ 12,891 =====	\$ 7,938 =====	\$ 23,972 =====	

The components of accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of related tax, are as follows:

	July 1,	December 31,
	<u>2001</u>	<u>2000</u>
Foreign currency translation adjustments	\$(57,133)	\$(43,072)
Minimum pension liability adjustments	<u>(1,001</u>)	<u>(1,001</u>)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	\$(58,134)	\$(44,073)
	=====	======

7

MINERALS TECHNOLOGIES AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 6 -- Segment and Related Information

Segment information for the three-month and six-month periods ended July 1, 2001 and June 25, 2000 was as follows:

(thousands of dollars)

Net Sales

	Three Months Ended		Six Mont	hs Ended
	July 1, June 25,		July 1,	June 25,
	<u>2001</u>	<u>2000</u>	<u>2001</u>	<u>2000</u>
Specialty Minerals Segment	\$120,570	\$123,377	\$241,251	\$239,053
Refractories Segment	<u>50,168</u>	<u>48,839</u>	<u>93,462</u>	94,092
Total	\$170,738	\$172,216	\$334,713	\$333,145
	=====	=====	=====	=====

(thousands of dollars)

	Three Months Ended		Six Months Ended	
	July 1,	June 25,	July 1,	June 25,
	<u>2001</u>	<u>2000</u>	<u>2001</u>	<u>2000</u>
Specialty Minerals Segment	\$ 11,836	\$ 18,591	\$ 25,729	\$ 35,375
Refractories Segment	<u>5,348</u>	<u>7,869</u>	<u>10,941</u>	<u>14,620</u>
Total	\$ 17,184	\$ 26,460	\$ 36,670	\$ 49,995
	=====	======	=====	======

Included in income from operations of the Specialty Minerals Segment and the Refractories Segment for the second quarter of 2001 is a restructuring charge of approximately \$3.0 million and \$0.4 million, respectively.

A reconciliation of the totals reported for the operating segments to the applicable line items in the consolidated financial statements is as follows:

(thousands of dollars)	Three Mo	Months Ended		Six Months Ended	
	July 1, <u>2001</u>	June 25, <u>2000</u>	July 1, <u>2001</u>	June 25, <u>2000</u>	
Income before provision for taxes on income and minority interests					
Income from operations for reportable segments	\$ 17,184	\$ 26,460	\$ 36,670	\$ 49,995	
Non-operating deductions, net	<u>2,169</u>	<u>819</u>	<u>4,060</u>	<u>1,772</u>	
Income before provision for taxes on income and minority interests	<u>\$ 15,015</u>	\$ <u>25,641</u>	\$ <u>32,610</u>	\$ <u>48,223</u>	

Note 7 -- Acquisition

On May 1, 2001, the Company acquired the refractories business of Martin Marietta Magnesia Specialties Inc. The transaction was accounted for as a purchase. The purchase price of \$37 million, including acquisition costs and assumed liabilities, was financed through short-term borrowings. The purchase price exceeded the fair value of the net assets acquired by approximately \$27 million, which is being amortized on a straight-line basis over 20 years.

Note 8 -- Restructuring Charge

During the second quarter of 2001, the Company restructured its operations in an effort to reduce operating costs and to improve efficiency. The restructuring, together with workforce reductions made possible by the recent acquisition of the refractory operations of Martin Marietta Magnesia Specialties Inc., resulted in a total workforce reduction of approximately 120 people or five percent of the Company's worldwide workforce. The Company recorded a pre-tax restructuring charge of \$3.4 million during the second quarter of 2001, of which approximately \$1.9 million has been paid as of July 1, 2001.

8

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

The Board of Directors and Shareholders Minerals Technologies Inc.:

We have reviewed the condensed consolidated balance sheet of Minerals Technologies Inc. and subsidiary companies as of July 1, 2001 and the related condensed consolidated statements of income for each of the three-month and six-month periods ended July 1, 2001 and June 25, 2000, and cash flows for the six-month periods then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the company's management.

We conducted our reviews in accordance with standards established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. A review of interim financial information consists principally of applying analytical procedures to financial data and making inquiries of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters. It is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, the objective of which is the expression of an opinion regarding the financial statements taken as a whole. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.

Based on our reviews, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the condensed consolidated financial statements referred to above for them to be in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We have previously audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, the consolidated balance sheet of Minerals Technologies Inc. and subsidiary companies as of December 31, 2000, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders' equity, and cash flows for the year then ended (not presented herein); and in our report dated January 18, 2001, we expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements. In our opinion, the information set forth in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2000 is fairly presented, in all material respects, in relation to the consolidated balance sheet from which it has been derived.

KPMG LLP

New York, New York July 19, 2001

9

ITEM 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Income and Expense Items
As a Percentage of Net Sales

Three Months Ended

Six Months Ended

	July 1, <u>2001</u>	June 25, <u>2000</u>	July 1, <u>2001</u>	June 25, <u>2000</u>
Net sales	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%
Cost of goods sold	73.3	69.4	73.4	70.1
Marketing and administrative expenses	11.0	11.4	11.0	11.1
Restructuring charge	2.0		1.0	
Research and development expenses	<u>3.6</u>	3.8	<u>3.6</u>	<u>3.8</u>
Income from operations	10.1	15.4	11.0	15.0
Net income	6.1%	10.0%	6.6%	9.7%
	===	===	===	===

Results of Operations

Three Months Ended July 1, 2001 as Compared with Three Months Ended June 25, 2000

Net sales in the second quarter of 2001 decreased 0.9% to \$170.7 million from \$172.2 million in the second quarter of 2000. Foreign exchange had an unfavorable impact on sales of approximately \$4.7 million, or approximately 3 percentage points of sales growth.

Net sales in the Specialty Minerals segment, which includes the Precipitated Calcium Carbonate ("PCC") and Processed Minerals product lines, decreased 2.3% in the second quarter of 2001 to \$120.6 million as compared with \$123.4 million in the prior year.

Worldwide net sales of PCC declined 2.3% to \$97.6 million from \$99.9 million in the second quarter of 2000. Foreign exchange had a negative effect on sales of approximately \$2.6 million or approximately 2.5 percentage points of growth for the second quarter. Sales volumes of PCC for paper increased approximately 1%. The Company experienced volume growth from two new satellite PCC plants and several expansions at existing satellite PCC plants. This was partially offset by the shutdown of the International Paper Company mill in Mobile, Alabama, as well as from production slowdowns at several other paper mills. Sales of Specialty PCC, used in non-paper applications, declined approximately 15%. This product line continues to be affected by poor industry conditions and a more competitive environment in the calcium supplement market. The Company's Specialty PCC merchant plant in Brookhaven, Mississippi is still running below capacity and will continue to do so during the second half of 2001 primarily due to longer-than-expected customer qualification programs.

During the second quarter, the Company announced that it will invest approximately \$27 million in a new merchant facility in Walsum, Germany for the production of coating grade PCC. This facility, which is expected to be in operation by the third quarter of 2002, will produce PCC coating products for use in high-quality publication and graphic art papers. Walsum is central to one of the world's largest concentrations of manufacturing for these types of high-quality papers. The initial annual capacity of the plant will be approximately 125,000 tons of PCC.

Net sales of Processed Minerals products decreased 2.1% in the second quarter to \$23.0 million from \$23.5 million in 2000. Reduced demand for the Company's ground calcium carbonate products in the construction-related industries, particularly in California, affected the sales growth.

Net sales in the Refractories segment increased 2.7% to \$50.1 million for the second quarter of 2001, compared with the same period last year. The recent acquisition of the refractories component of Martin Marietta Magnesia Specialties Inc. contributed approximately \$8 million of sales in the second quarter. There continue to be unfavorable economic conditions in the worldwide steel industry, particularly in North America.

Net sales in the United States in the second quarter of 2001 decreased approximately 3.4% from the comparable period in 2000. Foreign sales increased approximately 4.4% in the second quarter of 2001 compared with the prior year.

10

During the second quarter, the Company restructured its operations in an effort to reduce operating costs and to improve efficiency. The restructuring, together with workforce reductions made possible by the recent acquisition of the refractory operations of Martin Marietta Magnesia Specialties Inc., resulted in a total workforce reduction of approximately 120 people or five percent of the Company's worldwide workforce. The Company recorded a pre-tax restructuring charge of \$3.4 million (\$2.0 million after-tax or \$0.10 per share) in the second quarter. The Company estimates the restructuring will reduce operating expenses on an annualized basis by \$6.0 million to \$8.0 million. These expense reductions will phase in during the balance of the year.

Income from operations declined 35.1% to \$17.2 million from \$26.5 million in the second quarter of 2000. Excluding the restructuring charge, operating income of \$20.6 million was 22.3% lower than the \$26.5 million reported for the second quarter of 2000. This decline was due to weaknesses across all of the Company's product lines because of difficult economic conditions in the industries the Company serves - - paper, steel, construction and automotive. In addition, the Company also experienced higher energy costs and the negative effect of foreign exchange. Excluding the restructuring charge, operating income in the Specialty Minerals segment decreased approximately 20% to \$14.8 million and represented 12.3% of its net sales. The Refractories segment's operating income, excluding the restructuring charge, decreased approximately 27% and was 11.5% of its net sales.

Non-operating deductions increased due to higher net interest expense as a result of increased borrowings.

Net income decreased 40.1% to \$10.3 million from \$17.2 million in the prior year. Diluted earnings per share were \$0.52 in the second quarter of 2001 as compared with \$0.81 in the prior year.

Six Months Ended July 1, 2001 as Compared with Six Months Ended June 25, 2000

Net sales in the first half of 2001 increased 0.5% to \$334.7 million from \$333.1 million in 2000. Foreign exchange had an unfavorable impact on sales of approximately \$9 million, or approximately 3 percentage points of growth.

Net sales in the Specialty Minerals segment increased 0.9% in the first half of 2001 to \$241.3 million. Worldwide net sales in the PCC product line grew 1.2% to \$197.3 million for the first six months of 2001. Sales growth was adversely affected by foreign exchange (approximately \$5 million) and a decline in sales of Specialty PCC, which are used in non-paper applications. Net sales in the Processed Minerals product line decreased slightly to \$44.0 million in the first half of 2001 from \$44.1 million in the prior year.

Net sales in the Refractories segment decreased 0.6% to \$93.5 million as compared with \$94.1 million in the prior year. The acquisition of a refractories business in the second quarter contributed approximately \$8 million of incremental sales.

Income from operations declined 26.6% to \$36.7 million from \$50.0 million in the first half of 2000. Excluding the restructuring charge, operating income declined 19.8% in the first six months of 2001. This decline was caused by difficult economic conditions in the industries the Company serves. In addition to these industry trends, the Company also experienced higher energy costs and the negative effect of foreign exchange. Income from operations in the Specialty Minerals segment, excluding the restructuring charge, decreased 18.8% and was 11.9% of its net sales. Income from operations in the Refractories segment, excluding the restructuring charge, decreased 22.4% and was 12.2% of its net sales.

Non-operating deductions increased due to higher net interest expense as a result of increased borrowings.

Net income decreased 31.7% to \$22.0 million from \$32.2 million in 2000. Diluted earnings per common share declined 27.2% to \$1.10 compared with \$1.51 for the first six months of 2000.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Company's financial position remained strong in the first half of 2001. Cash flows were provided from operations and from short-term financing and were applied principally to fund capital expenditures, the acquisition of a refractories business, and to repurchase common shares for treasury. Cash provided from operating activities amounted to \$42.6 million in the first half of 2001 as compared with \$51.6 million in the first half of 2000.

On February 26, 1998, the Company's Board of Directors ("Board") authorized a \$150 million program to repurchase Company stock on the open market from time to time. The Company completed the repurchase program in April 2001 and approximately 3.5 million shares were repurchased under this program.

11

On February 22, 2001, the Board authorized the Company's Management Committee to repurchase, at its discretion, up to \$25 million in additional shares per year over the next three years.

The Company has available approximately \$145 million in uncommitted, short-term bank credit lines, of which \$87.4 million was in use at July 1, 2001. The average interest rate on these borrowings was approximately 5.75% for the first six months of 2001. The Company anticipates that capital expenditures for all of 2001 will range between \$70-\$90 million, principally related to the construction of satellite PCC plants and other opportunities that meet the strategic growth objectives of the Company. In addition, the Company financed the acquisition of the refractories business of Martin Marietta Magnesia Specialties Inc. through short-term borrowings under the bank credit lines. The Company expects to meet its financing requirements from internally generated funds, the uncommitted bank credit lines and, where appropriate, project financing of certain satellite plants.

Prospective Information and Factors That May Affect Future Results

The Securities and Exchange Commission encourages companies to disclose forward-looking information so that investors can better understand the companies' future prospects and make informed investment decisions. This report may contain forward-looking statements that set out anticipated results based on management's plans and assumptions. Words such as "expects," "plans," "anticipates," "will," and words and terms of similar substance used in connection with any discussion of future operating or financial performance identify these forward-looking statements.

The Company cannot guarantee that any forward-looking statement will be realized, although it believes it has been prudent in its plans and assumptions. Achievement of future results is subject to risks, uncertainties and inaccurate assumptions. Should known or unknown risks or uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove inaccurate, actual results could vary materially from those anticipated, estimated or projected. Investors should bear this in mind as they consider forward-looking statements and should refer to the discussion of certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions under the heading "Cautionary Factors That May Affect Future Results" in Exhibit 99 to this Quarterly Report.

Adoption of a Common European Currency

On January 1, 1999, eleven European countries adopted the euro as their common currency. From that date until January 1, 2002, debtors and creditors may choose to pay or be paid in euros or in the former national currencies. On and after January 1, 2002, the former national currencies will cease to be legal tender.

The Company's information technology systems are now able to convert among the former national currencies and the euro and to process transactions and balances in euros. The financial institutions with which the Company does business are capable of receiving deposits and making payments both in euros and in the national currencies. The Company does not expect that adapting its information technology systems to the euro will have a material effect on its financial condition or results of operations. The Company is also reviewing contracts with customers and vendors calling for payments in currencies that are to be replaced by the euro, and intends to complete in a timely way any required changes to those contracts.

Adoption of the euro is likely to have competitive effects in Europe, as prices that had been stated in different national currencies become directly comparable to one another. In addition, the adoption of a common monetary policy by the countries adopting the euro can be expected to have an effect on the economy of the region. These competitive and economic effects had no material effect on the Company's financial condition or results of operation during the second quarter of 2001, and the Company does not expect any such effect to occur. There can be no assurance, however, that the transition to the euro will not have a material effect on the Company's business in Europe in the future.

ITEM 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Market Risk

The Company is exposed to various market risks, including the potential loss arising from adverse changes in foreign currency exchange rates. The Company does not enter into derivatives or other financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes. When appropriate, the Company enters into derivative financial instruments, such as forward exchange contracts, to mitigate the impact of foreign exchange rate movements on the Company's operating results. The counterparties are major financial institutions. Such forward exchange contracts would not subject the Company to additional risk from exchange rate movements because gains and losses on these contracts would offset losses and gains on the assets, liabilities and transactions being hedged. There were no significant open forward exchange contracts outstanding at July 1, 2001.

12

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. Legal Proceedings

On or about October 5, 1999, the Company was notified by the U.S. Department of Justice of an enforcement referral received from the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA") regarding alleged violations by the Company's subsidiary Barretts Minerals Inc. ("BMI") of a state-issued permit regulating pit dewatering and storm water discharge at BMI's talc mine in Barretts, Montana. The threatened federal enforcement action would duplicate in part a state enforcement action that was resolved in May 1999 through settlement and payment of a civil penalty of \$14,000. BMI has entered into prefiling negotiations with

the Department of Justice, and as of August 1, 2001, no complaint had been filed. We anticipate that any settlement of this matter would include a monetary penalty as well as other relief, such as a supplemental environment project at the Barretts site. There can be no assurance that the amount of monetary penalty or the cost of other relief sought by the Department of Justice in any such complaint, if filed, would not be substantially in excess of the amount for which the previous state enforcement action was settled.

On or about July 14, 2000, MTI, Specialty Minerals Inc. and Minteq International Inc. received from the Connecticut Department of Environmental Protection ("DEP") a proposed administrative consent order relating to the Canaan, Connecticut site at which both Minteq and Specialty Minerals have operations. The proposed order would settle claims relating to an accidental discharge of machine oil alleged to have contained polychlorinated biphenyls at or above regulated levels. The Company's employees immediately took steps to contain and clean up the discharge and notified the Connecticut DEP and the U.S. EPA, as required by law. The proposed order also alleges certain violations of other environmental regulations, including violations of the Canaan site's existing permit for discharge of stormwater, and of regulations governing the management of underground storage tanks. The proposed order would require payment of a civil penalty of \$420,605, remediation of certain conditions at the site, and other injunctive relief. MTI and the other respondents dispute many of the factual allegations forming the basis of the proposed order, and plan to contest them vigorously. There can be no assurance, however, that the Company will be successful in doing so, and the amount of any civil penalty to be paid, and the cost of any remediation or other injunctive relief, remains uncertain.

On February 27, 2001, the EPA filed a civil administrative complaint against Minteq International Inc. seeking \$192,000 in monetary sanctions for alleged regulatory violations relating to the use, handling and disposal of PCB's at Minteq's Canaan, Connecticut facility. Minteq has filed a response to the complaint, and plans to contest vigorously many of the factual allegations and legal conclusions asserted by the EPA.

The Company's subsidiary, Minteq International Inc., is the defendant in a lawsuit captioned <u>WEMCO, Inc. and Emil J. Wirth, Jr. v. Minteq International Inc.</u>, which is pending in the U.S. District Court for the Middle District of Pennsylvania. The suit alleges breach of contract and unjust enrichment in connection with a licensing arrangement, and seeks monetary damages as well as a declaratory judgment with respect to the alleged license. While all litigation contains an element of uncertainty, Minteq is continuing to defend this matter vigorously and believes it is not likely to produce an outcome which would have a material adverse effect on the Company's consolidated financial position or results of operations.

The Company and its subsidiaries are not party to any other pending legal proceedings, other than routine litigation incidental to their businesses.

ITEM 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

The Company held its annual meeting on May 24, 2001. At the meeting, (1) John B. Curcio was elected a director of the Company, by a plurality of 18,319,058 votes, with 178,811 votes being withheld; (2) William C. Steere, Jr. was elected a director of the Company, by a plurality of 18,319,141 votes, with 178,728 votes being withheld; (3) the appointment of KPMG LLP as independent auditors of the Company for the year 2001 was approved by a vote of 18,466,949 for and 14,774 against, with 16,146 abstentions; and (4) the adoption of the Company's 2001 Stock Award and Incentive Plan was approved by a vote of 10,557,714 for and 6,766,702 against, with 23,450 abstentions.

ITEM 6. Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K

- a) Exhibits:
 - 10.1 Company Savings and Investment Plan, as amended and restated effective April 26, 2001.
 - 10.2 Company Retirement Annuity Plan, as amended and restated effective April 25, 2001.
 - 10.3 Company 2001 Stock Award and Incentive Plan, as amended and restated effective May 24, 2001.
 - 15 Accountants' Acknowledgment.
 - 99 Statement of Cautionary Factors That May Affect Future Results.
- b) A report on Form 8-K, reporting Item 9 - Regulation FD Disclosures, was filed on May 21, 2001.

13

SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Minerals Technologies Inc.

By: /s/Neil M. Bardach

Vice President-Finance and Chief Financial Officer; Treasurer (principal financial officer)

August 8, 2001

MINERALS TECHNOLOGIES INC.

SAVINGS AND INVESTMENT PLAN

(As amended and restated effective as of April 26, 2001)

MINERALS TECHNOLOGIES INC.

SAVINGS AND INVESTMENT PLAN

(As amended and restated effective as of April 26, 2001)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		<u>Page</u>
I.	PURPOSES	1
II.	DEFINITIONS	1
III.	EFFECTIVE DATE	7
IV.	ELIGIBILITY	7
V.	PARTICIPATION	8
VI.	CONTRIBUTIONS	8
VII.	INVESTMENT OF FUNDS	16
VIII.	CREDITS TO MEMBERS' ACCOUNTS	20
IX.	SUSPENSION OF CONTRIBUTIONS	20
X.	WITHDRAWALS	21
XI.	SETTLEMENT UPON TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT	23

XII.	SAVINGS AND INVESTMENT PLAN COMMITTEE	29
XIII.	TRUST AGREEMENT	32
XIV.	ASSOCIATE COMPANIES	32
XV.	VOTING RIGHTS	33
XVI.	ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS	34
XVII.	NON-ALIENATION OF BENEFITS	34
XVIII.	NOTICE	35
XIX.	INVESTMENTS	35
XX.	TREASURY APPROVAL	35
XXI.	MISCELLANEOUS	35
XXII.	TERMINATION, AMENDMENT OR SUSPENSION OF THE PLAN	37
XXIII.	PLAN MERGERS AND CONSOLIDATIONS	37
XXIV.	CLAIMS PROCEDURE	38
XXV.	TOP-HEAVY RULE	39
XXVI.	LOAN PROVISIONS	40
	SCHEDULE A	43

MINERALS TECHNOLOGIES INC.

SAVINGS AND INVESTMENT PLAN

(As amended and restated effective as of April 26, 2001)

I. PURPOSES

The purposes of this Plan are to foster thrift on the part of the eligible employees by affording them the opportunity to make regular savings and investments through payroll deductions in order to provide the opportunity for additional security at retirement, and also to provide them with a proprietary interest in the continued growth and prosperity of the Company. As an incentive, the Company will match a portion of such savings by regular contributions as provided in the Plan.

II. DEFINITIONS

Wherever used in this Plan:

- A. "Account" means the aggregate interest of a Member in the Plan.
- B. "After-Tax Contributions" means contributions made by a Member pursuant to Section VI.A. hereof.
- C. "Associate Company" means any corporation of which Minerals Technologies Inc. owns directly or indirectly at least 80% of the issued and outstanding shares of stock, which, with the consent of the Company, adopts this Plan pursuant to the provisions of Section XIV. hereof, and when action is required to be taken hereunder by an Associate Company such action shall be authorized by its Executive Committee or its Board of Directors.
- D. "Business Day" means each day of each Plan Year on which the New York Stock Exchange is open for the transaction of business.
- E. "Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as from time to time amended.
- F. "Committee" means the Savings and Investment Plan Committee hereinafter provided for in Section XII. hereof.
- G. "Company" means Minerals Technologies Inc., a Delaware corporation, and any successor corporation, and when action is required to be taken hereunder by the Company, such action shall be authorized by the Executive Committee or the Board of Directors of the Company.
- H. "Disability" means any medically determinable physical or mental impairment that renders a Member unable to engage in any substantial gainful activity and

which can be expected to result in death or to be of long-continued and indefinite duration, within the meaning of section 72(m)(7) of the Code. Generally, a Member who is approved for long-term disability by an Employer's long-term disability insurance carrier will be considered "Disabled".

- "Employee" means a person who is employed in the service of an Employer within the United States of America or any of its territories or possessions, or who is a United States citizen employed in the service of an Employer outside the continental limits of the United States of America, except a person who is included in a unit of employees covered by a collective bargaining agreement that does not provide for coverage of such person under the Plan if there is evidence that retirement benefits were the subject of good faith bargaining. A person who is a United States citizen or a Participating Resident Alien and who is employed outside the continental limits of the United States of America in the service of a foreign subsidiary (including foreign subsidiaries of such foreign subsidiary) of the Company shall be considered, for all purposes of this Plan, as employed in the service of the Company, if (1) the Company has entered into an agreement u nder section 3121(l) of the Code which applies to the foreign subsidiary of which such person is an employee, and (2) contributions under a funded plan of deferred compensation, whether or not a plan described in section 401(a), 403(a), or 405(a) of the Code, are not provided by any other person with respect to the remuneration paid to such individual by the foreign subsidiary. In addition, effective January 1, 1997, any person performing services for the Company as a Leased Employee shall, for purposes of the Plan, continue to be an employee of such leasing organization, and not of the Company, notwithstanding the provisions of the Code requiring that such person may have to be counted as an employee of the Company in order to perform certain plan qualification tests as contained therein. The term "Employee" shall also not include any person who is performing services for the Company pursuant to an agreement, contract, or arrangement under which said individual is designated, characterized, or classified as an independent contractor, consultant, or any category or classification other than an employee without regard to whether any determination by an agency, governmental or otherwise, or court concludes that such classification or characterization was in error.
- J. "Employer" means the Company or any Associate Company. For purposes of sections 410 and 411 of the Code, "Employer" also shall mean any corporation or other trade or business that is treated under the first sentence of section 414(b) or under section 414(c) of the Code as constituting the same "employer" as the Company or an Associate Company, with respect to any period of such affiliated status.
- K "Employer Matching Contributions" means contributions made by an Employer pursuant to Section VI.B. hereof.

2

- L. "Hours of Service" means all hours for which an Employee is directly or indirectly paid, or entitled to payment (including back pay for periods for which such awards pertain), by an Employer (or any company which is a member of the same controlled group of corporations, within the meaning of section 1563(a) of the Code as an Employer or any trade or business whether or not incorporated which is under common control of an Employer as determined under regulations prescribed under section 414 of the Code at the time of such service) for the performance of duties, or for reasons other than the performance of duties, such as vacation, injury, accident, sickness, short-term Disability or authorized leave of absence. In the case of a payment which is made or due on account of a period during which an Employee performs. no duties, Hours of Service will be determined in accordance with the appropriate Department of Labor regulations (section 2530.200b-2(b) and (c)).
- M. "Leased Employee" means, effective as of January 1, 1997, any person other than an Employee, who, pursuant to an agreement between an Employer and any other person ("leasing organization") performs services for the Employer (or the Employer and any related persons or entities under common control determined in accordance with section 414(n)(6) of the Code) on a substantially full time basis for a period of at least one year, and such services are performed under the primary direction or control of the recipient. Any person performing services for an Employer as a Leased Employee shall, for purposes of the Plan, not be an employee of the Employer, notwithstanding amendments to the Code which require that such person may have to be counted as an employee of the Employer in order to perform certain plan qualification tests as contained therein.
- N. "Member" means an Employee who participates in the Plan in accordance with the provisions of Section V. hereof, or a former participant in the Plan who retains an Account therein.
- O. "Member Contributions" means the After-Tax Contributions and Qualified Deferred Earnings Contributions made to the Plan pursuant to Section VI.A hereof.
- P. "Participating Resident Alien" means a person who is not a United States citizen but (1) has previously been employed as a lawful resident alien in the service of an Employer within the United States of America, (2) was a Member of the Plan during such employment, (3) is currently employed at a location outside both the person's country of citizenship and the continental limits of the United States of America, and (4) continues to maintain his eligibility for employment as a lawful resident alien within the United States of America.
- Q. "Plan" means this Minerals Technologies Inc. Savings and Investment Plan, as it may be amended from time to time.

3

- R. "Plan Year" means (1) the period beginning April 1, 1993 and ending December 31, 1993, and (2) each twelve (12) month period thereafter commencing on January I and ending on December 31 while the Plan is in effect.
- S. "Qualified Deferred Earnings Contributions" means the contributions made on behalf of a Member under section 401 (k) of the Code and the applicable Treasury Regulations thereunder pursuant to Section VI.A. hereof.
- T. "Regular Earnings" means for any Plan Year the sum of (1) the regular base pay and bonuses received by a Member, as established by an Employer, plus the Member's overtime pay, premium pay, and call-in/call-back pay, but excluding Christmas gifts, allowances, contest awards, remuneration received in the form of salary continuance or lump sum severance by a Member while no longer providing services to an Employer and other similar payments and (2) any amount which is contributed by a Member's Employer on behalf of the Member pursuant to a salary reduction agreement and which is not includible in gross income under sections 125, 402(e)(3), 402(h) or 403(b) of the Code. With respect to each Plan Year -commencing after December 31, 1988 and prior to January 1, 1994, a Member's Regular Earnings shall not include any amounts in excess of \$200,000 (as adjusted by the Secretary of the Treasury, or his delegate, at the same time and in the same manner a s under section 415(d) of the Code to reflect cost of living increases).

In addition to other applicable limitations set forth in the Plan, and notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan to the contrary, for Plan Years beginning on or after January, 1, 1994, the Regular Earnings of each Employee taken into account under the Plan shall not exceed the OBRA '93 annual compensation limit. The OBRA '93 annual compensation limit is \$150,000, as adjusted by the Commissioner for increases in the cost-of-living in accordance with section 401(a)(17)(B) of the Code. The cost-of-living adjustment in effect for a calendar year applies to any period, not exceeding twelve (12) months, over which Regular Earnings is determined (determination period) beginning in such calendar year. If a determination period consists of fewer than twelve (12) months, the OBRA'93 annual compensation limit will be multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of months in the determination period, and the denominator of which is twelve (12).

For Plan Years beginning on or after January 1, 1994, any reference in this Plan to the limitation under section 401(a)(17) of the Code shall mean the OBRA '93 annual compensation limit set forth in this provision. If Regular Earnings for any prior determination period is taken into account in determining an Employee's contributions in the current Plan Year, the Regular Earnings for that prior Determination period is subject to the OBRA '93 annual compensation limit in effect for the prior determination period. For this purpose, for determination

4

periods beginning before the first day of the first Plan Year beginning on or after January 1, 1994, the OBRA '93 annual compensation limit is \$150,000.

If Regular Earnings for any prior determination period is taken into account in determining an Employee's contributions in the current Plan Year, the Regular Earnings for that prior determination period is subject to the OBRA '93 annual compensation limit in effect for that prior determination period. For this purpose, for determination periods beginning before the first day of the first Plan Year beginning on or after January 1, 1994, the OBRA '93 annual compensation limit is \$150,000.

Furthermore, for Plan Years beginning prior to January 1, 1997, in determining Regular Earnings, the rules of section 414(q)(6) of the Code shall apply, except that in applying such rules, the term "family" shall include only the spouse of the Employee and any lineal descendants of the Employee who have not attained age 19 before the close of the calendar year.

- U. "Rollover Contributions" means the cash rollover contributions made by a Member in respect of distributions from other employee plans pursuant to section 402(c) of the Code.
- V. "Temporary Employee" means any Employee whose employment at time of hire is limited in time to a period of less than six (6) months.
- W. "Trustee" means the Trustee hereinafter provided for in Section XIII. hereof.
- X. "Value Determination Date" means the Business Day as of which the Committee shall determine the value of each Fund established pursuant to Section VII. hereof.
- Y. "Vested" means to have acquired, in accordance with the express provisions of the Plan, a nonforfeitable interest in all or part of an Employer's contributions hereunder, which becomes payable as provided in the Plan.

Wherever used in this Plan, the masculine or neuter pronoun shall include the feminine pronoun, and the singular includes the plural.

III. EFFECTIVE DATE

Subject to the provisions of Section XX. hereof, the effective date of the Plan is April 1, 1993. The Plan as in effect prior to the effective date of any amendment will continue to apply to those who terminated employment prior to such date except as otherwise provided by the Plan or under applicable law.

IV. ELIGIBILITY

5

Effective June, 7, 1999, all Employees are eligible to become Members of this Plan from and after such date or the date of their commencing employment with an Employer referred to in Schedule A (a "Schedule A Employer"), whichever is later. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Temporary Employee who begins employment with a Schedule A Employer on or after June 7, 1999, shall not become eligible to become a Member until the first day of the payroll period following his completion of 1,000 Hours of Service. No Leased Employee will be eligible to be a Member.

V. PARTICIPATION

Participation in the Plan shall be entirely voluntary. An Employee who is eligible to become a Member may become a Member on the first day of any payroll period following or coincident with the date on which he becomes eligible in accordance with Section IV. hereof, by authorizing and directing his Employer in accordance with rules and procedures approved by the Committee to (i) make payroll deductions and (ii) to invest such payroll deductions as hereinafter provided, or with the approval of the Company, as a result of a plan-to-plan transfer to the Plan for the account of said Employee in accordance with Section VI.C. hereof. Such authorizations and directions shall continue in effect unless or until the Member suspends, withdraws, or modifies them, as hereinafter provided, or until termination of employment or of the Plan.

VI. CONTRIBUTIONS

A. Member Contributions

Each employee who is a Member may elect in accordance with rules and procedures approved by the Committee, to contribute in each pay period, by payroll deduction, an amount equal to from 2% to 15%, inclusive, in whole percents of his after-tax Regular Earnings for said period, or a lesser amount in accordance with rules and procedures approved by the Committee (which rules and procedures may be applied uniformly, or solely to any Member who is a "highly compensated employee," as defined below) hereinafter referred to as "After-Tax Contributions." A Member may elect under section 401(k) of the Code and the applicable Treasury regulations thereunder, in accordance with rules and procedures

approved by the Committee, to defer receipt of from 2% to 15%, inclusive, in whole percents of his Regular Earnings, or a lesser amount in accordance with rules and procedures established by the Committee (which rules and procedures may be applied uniformly, or solely to any Member who is a "highly compensated employee," as defined below) and to have such deferred earnings, hereinafter referred to as "Qualified Deferred Earnings Contributions," contributed to the Plan by his Employer on his behalf The total contribution under this Section VI. shall in no event exceed 15% of the Member's Regular Earnings.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, under no circumstances shall an election by a Member be given effect (a) to the extent that the Member's Qualified Deferred Earnings Contributions exceed \$7,000 (or such greater amount as may from time to time be approved for purposes of section 402(g)(1) of the Code) for a Plan Year, or (b) to the

6

extent that an election by a Member who is a "highly compensated employee," as hereinafter defined, might cause the Plan to fail to meet the discrimination standards set forth in section 401(k)(3) of the Code. In this regard, the actual deferral percentage of the Qualified Deferred Earnings Contributions on behalf of Members who are "highly compensated employees" for any Plan Year must either be (a) not more than such percentage for all other Members for such Plan Year multiplied by 1.25, or (b) not more than two (2) percentage points greater than such percentage for all other Members for such Plan Year and not more than such percentage for all other Members for such Plan Year multiplied by two (2).

Effective as of January 1, 1997, "highly compensated employees" shall mean (a) any Employee who is a 5% owner (as defined in section 416(i) (B)(i) of the Code) at any time during the current year or the immediately preceding year, or (b) during the year immediately preceding the current year, had compensation (as defined in section 414(q)(4) of the Code) from an Employer in excess of \$80,000 (as adjusted pursuant to section 415(d) of the Code, except that the base period for determining any such adjustment shall be the calendar quarter ending September 30, 1996; provided, however, that the definition of "highly compensated employee" as contained in section 414(q) of the Code immediately prior to its amendment by the Small Business Job Protection Act of 1996 ("SBJPA") shall be used for purposes of determining the "non-highly compensated employee" group with respect to the actual deferral percentage ("ADP") test (as defined in section 401 (k)(3) of the Code) and the actual cont ribution percentage ("ACP") test (as defined in section 401(m) of the Code), for the Plan Year beginning January 1, 1997. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the determination of "highly compensated employees" pursuant to (b) above, shall be limited to those Employees who are in the "top paid group" (as defined in section 414(q)(3) of the Code) for the preceding year.

Qualified Deferred Earnings Contributions hereunder shall not exceed the limits set forth in section 401(k)(3) of the Code. For Plan Years beginning prior to January 1, 1997, current year ADP testing shall be employed. Effective January 1, 1998, for purposes of applying such limits:

- (i) "prior year ADP testing" (within the meaning of Internal Revenue Service Revenue Notice 98-1) shall be employed; and
- (ii) section 401(k)(3) of the Code, Treasury regulations promulgated thereunder and such other guidance as may be issued by the Internal Revenue Service under such section of the Code are incorporated herein by reference.

Election of the amount of After-Tax Contributions and Qualified Deferred Earnings Contributions by a Member shall be made upon enrollment in the Plan in the manner hereinbefore provided, and a Member may change his election at any time in accordance with rules and procedures approved by the Committee, such election to be effective upon the first day of the next succeeding payroll period. A Member who is a "highly compensated employee" shall be required to revise his election either to defer an amount

7

of his Regular Earnings and/or to contribute a portion of his Regular Earnings, in conformity with rules and procedures approved by the Committee, to enable the Plan to meet the non-discrimination tests set forth in the Code and the applicable Treasury regulations thereunder.

In the event that the limits described in section 401 (k) of the Code and the applicable Treasury regulations thereunder are inadvertently exceeded, the following provisions shall apply:

- (a) The amount of Qualified Deferred Earnings Contributions which may be made on behalf of some or all highly compensated employees shall be reduced by reducing to the extent necessary the highest percentage rates elected by the highly compensated employees.
- (b) Qualified Deferred Earnings Contributions subject to reduction under this paragraph ("excess contributions") (calculated as described in section 401(k)(8)(B) of the Code and Treasury regulations thereunder), plus any income and minus any losses allocable thereto, shall be returned to the applicable Employers and paid by such Employers to the affected Members before the close of the Plan Year following the Plan Year in which the excess contributions were made, and to the extent practicable within 2 1/2 months of the close of the Plan Year in which the excess contributions were made. The Account of any affected Member shall be adjusted accordingly, and the Committee shall take, and instruct the appropriate Employers to take, such other action as shall be necessary or appropriate to effectuate such distribution. If the Committee adopts appropriate rules in accordance with regulations issued by the Secretary of the Treasury, the Member may elect, in lieu of a return of the excess contributions, to contribute the excess contributions to the Plan as After-Tax Contributions for the Plan Year in which the excess contributions were made, subject to the limitations of Section VI.E. hereof. The Member's election shall be made within 2 1/2 months of the close of the Plan Year in which the excess contributions were made, or within such shorter period as the Committee may prescribe. In the absence of a timely election by the Member, the Committee shall return his excess contributions as provided in this paragraph (b).
- (c) The amount of income attributable to the excess contributions shall be determined by multiplying the total income on the Member's Qualified Deferred Earnings Contributions for the Plan Year in which the excess contributions were made by a fraction, the numerator of which is the amount of excess contributions for that Plan Year and the denominator of which is the total value of the Member's Qualified Deferred Earnings Contributions as of the first Business Day of the Plan Year plus the Member's Qualified Deferred Earnings Contributions for the Plan Year. Income for the period between the end of the applicable Plan Year and the date of the corrective distribution shall be disregarded. Member Contributions shall be remitted to the Trustee within thirty (30) days after the end of the calendar

month in which the contributions are deducted, and shall be made in cash; provided, however, that all or any portion of any such contribution to Fund V, as defined in Section VII.A. hereof, in the discretion of the Committee, may be retained and added to the Company's capital funds, and there may be delivered to the Trustee treasury stock or authorized but previously unissued stock of the Company, of a value equal to the amount so retained. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Member Contributions shall be remitted to the Trustee in accordance with the requirements of Department of Labor Regulations section 2510.3-102. The value of any such stock shall be the closing price of the stock on the New York Stock Exchange on the applicable Value Determination Date. After-Tax Contributions and Qualified Deferred Earnings Contributions and the earnings thereon shall be nonforfeitable.

B. Employer Matching Contributions

1. Each Employer shall contribute on a bi-weekly basis and allocate to the Account of each of its Employees who is a Member an amount equal to the percent indicated below of the contributions made by such Employee as After-Tax Contributions, or contributed to the Plan by the Employer on behalf of each such Employee as Qualified Deferred Earnings Contributions, up to 6% of such Employee's Regular Earnings, determined before any reduction for Qualified Deferred Earnings Contributions, hereinafter referred to as "Employer Matching Contributions":

Contributions by or on <u>Behalf of a Member</u>	Employer Matching <u>Contributions</u>		
First 2%	100%		
Next 4%	50%		

Employer Matching Contributions shall be remitted to the Trustee within thirty (30) days after the end of each calendar month, and shall be made in cash; provided, however, that all or any portion of any such contribution to the Company Common Stock Fund (Fund M), as defined in Section VII.B. hereof, may be retained and added to the Company's capital funds, and there may be delivered to the Trustee treasury stock or authorized but previously unissued stock of the Company, of a value equal to the amount so retained. The value of any such stock contributed by an Employer shall be the closing price of the stock on the New York Stock Exchange on the applicable Value Determination Date. Employer Matching Contributions and the earnings thereon shall be nonforfeitable.

2. At the discretion of the Company, Employer Matching Contributions in any Plan Year may be increased to an amount not to exceed 100% in the aggregate of Member Contributions or contributions made on behalf of Members as Qualified

9

Deferred Earnings Contributions. The additional Employer Matching Contributions, if any, provided for in this Section VI.B.2. shall be allocated to the Account of each Member in the same manner as provided in Section VI.B.1. hereof.

3. Notwithstanding anything hereinabove to the contrary, in the case of all Employer Matching Contributions hereunder, the amount of contributions in a Plan Year shall in no event exceed the amount allowable under the Code and applicable Treasury regulations thereunder to the Employer making the contributions as a deduction for contributions paid to this Plan. Notwithstanding any provisions to the contrary, any contribution by the Company is conditioned upon the deductibility of the contribution by the Company under the Code and, to the extent any such deduction is disallowed, the Company shall, within one (1) year following the disallowance of the deduction, demand repayment of such disallowed contribution and the Trustee shall return such contribution within one (1) year following the disallowance. Earnings of the Plan attributable to the excess contribution may not be returned to the Company, but any losses attributable thereto must reduce the amount so returned.

C. Plan-to-Plan Transfers

Assets transferred to the Plan from (i) a pension or profit sharing plan maintained by an Employer as a result of an amendment, termination, merger, or consolidation of said plan or (ii) the Pfizer 401(k) Plan shall constitute a plan-to-plan transfer. For the purpose of this Plan, amounts attributable to a plan-to-plan transfer shall be treated as employee contributions or as employer contributions for all purposes of the Plan, including Sections VI.A. and XXVI. hereof, in accordance with the treatment afforded such assets in the transferor plan, except that such assets may be invested, at the election of the affected Employee in the Funds described in Section VII.A. hereof in accordance with the provisions of Section VII.A. hereof, notwithstanding the fact that they represented employer contributions in the prior plan. An Employee shall be vested in assets in his Account hereunder as a result of a plan-to-plan transfer to at least the same extent as the Employee was vested in such monies under the terms of the transferee plan. Employees affected by this Section VI.C. shall be deemed to be Members of the Plan with respect to such Accounts whether or not they are otherwise eligible to be Members of the Plan pursuant to the other provisions of the Plan.

D. Rollover Contributions

Commencing April 1, 1997, the Committee in its sole discretion, exercised in a uniform and nondiscriminatory manner, may permit an Employee who has satisfied the requirements of Section V. hereof to make a Rollover Contribution to the Plan by delivering, or causing to be delivered, the cash which constitutes such Rollover Contribution to the Trustee in accordance with rules and procedures approved by the Committee. The Employee shall allocate the investment of his Rollover Contribution among the Funds described in Section VII.A. hereof in accordance with rules and procedures

10

approved by the Committee. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary, under no circumstances shall any funds attributable to any Employee's Rollover Contribution be used in any way as the basis for the allocation of any Employer Matching Contributions pursuant to Section VI.B. hereof or forfeitures pursuant to Section VI.E. hereof.

Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, the total annual additions, as hereinafter defined, made to the Account of a Member shall not exceed the lesser of 30,000 (or, if greater, 25% of the defined benefit dollar limitation in effect under section 415(b)(1)(A) of the Code), or 25% of compensation (as defined in section 415(c)(3) of the Code), subject to the following:

- (1) If such annual additions exceed the foregoing limitation, any contributions made by the Member, which cause the excess, shall be returned to the Member. If, after returning such contributions to the Member, an excess still exists, such excess shall be reallocated to eligible Members as a forfeiture and credited to the Accounts of such Members on the basis of their respective Account balances.. If, after reallocating such excess as forfeitures among all eligible Members, the annual addition still exceeds the applicable limitation for each and every Member, such excess as still remains shall be held unallocated in a suspense account for the limitation year and allocated and reallocated in the next limitation year before any employer or employee contributions which would constitute annual additions under section 415 of the Code and the Treasury regulations thereunder may be made to the Plan for that limitation year.
- (2) Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the case of an Employee who participates in this Plan and in the Company's Retirement Annuity Plan or any other defined benefit plan or defined contribution plan maintained by an Employer, the sum of the defined contribution plan fraction and the defined benefit plan fraction for any year shall not exceed one (1). In the event the sum of such fractions exceeds one (1), the Committee responsible for the administration of the defined benefit plan shall reduce the pension provided under the defined benefit plan in order that none of the plans shall be disqualified under the Code. For purposes of applying the limitations of this Section VI.E., the following rules shall apply:
 - (a) The term "defined contribution plan fraction" shall mean the actual aggregate annual additions, as hereinafter defined, to this Plan determined as of the close of the year, over the aggregate of the

11

maximum annual additions which could have been made for each year of the Member's service had such annual additions been limited each such year in accordance with the restrictions imposed by section 415 of the Code (or such greater amount prescribed under regulations issued by the Secretary of the Treasury pursuant to the provisions of section 415(d) of the Code to take into account increases in the cost of living).

- (b) The term "defined benefit plan fraction" shall mean the projected annual pension payable under the defined benefit plan, over the maximum projected annual pension payable under such plan increased pursuant to section 415(e)(2)(B) of the Code.
- (c) The term "limitation year" shall mean the calendar year.
- (3) The term "annual addition" shall mean the sum of Employer Matching Contributions, After-Tax Contributions, Qualified Deferred Earnings Contributions and forfeitures. The term "annual addition" shall not include plan-to-plan transfers or, effective April 1, 1997, Rollover Contributions.
- (4) The limitations of this Section VI.E. with respect to any Member who at any time has participated in any other defined contribution plan, or in more than one (1) defined benefit plan, maintained by a corporation which is a member of the controlled group of corporations (within the meaning of section 1563(a), determined without regard to section 1563(a)(4) and (e)(3)(C), and section 415(h) of the Code) of which his Employer is a member, shall apply as if the total benefits payable under all defined benefit plans in which the Member has been a participant were payable from one (1) plan, and as if the total annual additions, made to all defined contribution plans in which the member has been a participant, were made to one (1) plan.

The foregoing notwithstanding, effective January 1, 2000, except as otherwise required by law, subsections (2) and (5) of this Section IV.E shall no longer apply.

F. Limitations on After-Tax Contributions and Employer Matching Contributions

 $Not with standing \ the \ foregoing, the \ following \ rules \ and \ limitations \ shall \ apply \ to \ After-Tax \ Contributions \ and \ Employer \ Matching \ Contributions:$

With respect to each Plan Year, the spread between the "contribution percentage" (within the meaning of section 401(m)(3) of the Code and the Treasury regulations thereunder) for highly compensated employees (as defined in Section VI.A. hereof) shall not exceed the "contribution percentage" of the remaining Employees required to be considered under section 401(m)(2) of the Code and the

12

Treasury regulations thereunder, by an amount that would cause the Plan to fail to meet the anti-discrimination requirements set forth in section 401 (m) of the Code.

If after the close of any Plan Year, the Committee shall determine that the spread between the "contribution percentage" for (A) "highly compensated employees," and (B) the remaining Employees required to be considered under section 401 (m)(2) of the Code and the Treasury regulations thereunder, for the Plan Year then ended is such that the Plan would fail to meet the anti-discrimination requirements set forth in section 401(m) of the Code, the following provisions shall apply:

- (1) The amount of After-Tax Contributions and Employer Matching Contributions which may be made on behalf of some or all highly compensated employees in the Plan Year shall be reduced by reducing to the extent necessary the highest percentage rates elected by the highly compensated employees.
- (2) Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, any After-Tax Contributions and Employer Matching Contributions subject to reduction under this paragraph ("excess aggregate contributions," calculated as described within the meaning of section 401(m) (6)(B) of the Code and Treasury regulations thereunder), together with income attributable to the excess aggregate contributions, determined in accordance with paragraph (4), shall be reduced in the following order of priority:

- (A) After-Tax Contributions, to the extent of the excess aggregate contributions, together with the income, and excluding any losses, attributable to those contributions, shall be returned to the Member's Employer and paid by such Employer to the affected Members, and then, if necessary,
- (B) Employer Matching Contributions, together with the income attributable to those contributions, shall be forfeited and applied to reduce subsequent Employer Matching Contributions.
- (3) Any repayment or forfeiture of excess aggregate contributions shall be made before the close of the Plan Year following the Plan Year for which those contributions were made, and to the extent practicable within 2 V2months of the close of the Plan Year in which the contributions were made. The After-Tax Contributions and Employer Matching Contributions of any affected Member shall be adjusted accordingly, and the Committee shall take, and instruct the Employer to take, such other action as shall be necessary or appropriate to effectuate such distribution or forfeiture.
- (4) The amount of income attributable to the excess aggregate contributions shall be determined by multiplying the total income on the Member's

13

Account attributable to After-Tax Contributions and Employer Matching Contributions for the Plan Year in which the excess aggregate contributions were made by a fraction, the numerator of which is the amount of excess aggregate contributions for that Plan Year and the denominator of which is, the total value of the Member's Account attributable to After-Tax Contributions and Employer Matching Contributions as of the first Business Day of that Plan Year plus the Member's After-Tax Contributions and Employer Matching Contributions for the Plan Year. Income for the period between the end of the applicable Plan Year and the date of the corrective distribution shall be disregarded.

If any highly compensated employee is a member of another qualified plan of an Employer under which deferred cash contributions or matching contributions are made on behalf of the highly compensated employee or under which the highly compensated employee makes after-tax contributions, the Committee shall implement rules, which shall be uniformly applicable to all employees similarly situated, to take into account all such contributions under all such plans in applying the limitations of this Section VI.F.

Employer Matching Contributions and After-Tax Contributions hereunder shall not exceed the limits set forth in section 401(m)(2) of the Code. For Plan Years beginning prior to January 1, 1997, current year ADP testing shall be employed. Effective January 1, 1997, for purposes of applying such limits:

- (i) "prior year testing" (within the meaning of Internal Revenue Notice 98-1) shall be employed; and
- (ii) section 401(m)(2) of the Code, Treasury regulations promulgated thereunder, and such other guidance as may be issued by the Internal Revenue Service under such section of the Code are incorporated herein by reference.

VII. INVESTMENT OF FUNDS

A. Member Contributions

Each Employee who becomes a Member may elect upon enrollment, and thereafter at intervals of at least three (3) months' duration and, commencing May 12, 1997, at any time, by direction in accordance with rules and procedures approved by the Committee, that his future After-Tax Contributions and Qualified Deferred Earnings Contributions shall be invested in one (1) or more of the following Funds:

Fund I - FIXED INCOME FUND - A fund, valued at book, invested and re-invested directly or through one (1) or more collective investment vehicles

14

primarily in obligations of a short term nature, including but not limited to savings accounts, savings and loan accounts, time deposits, certificates of deposit, savings certificates, short term securities issued or guaranteed by the United States of America or any agency or instrumentality thereof, and corporate obligations or participations therein (but excluding specifically any separately managed account obligations of the Company or an Associate Company), although the same may not be legal investments for trustees under the laws applicable thereto, to be selected and held by the Trustee in its sole discretion; or invested and re-invested in whole or in part in one (1) or more investment contracts with one (1) or more insurance companies or other financial institutions as directed from time to time by the Committee, or in a collective investment vehicle investing in such contracts selected by the Committee.

Fund II - BALANCED GROWTH FUND - A fund invested and reinvested by the fund's investment manager in commingled U.S. and international stock funds and in commingled bond funds. The fund's investment manager actively manages the Balanced Growth Fund and employs a systematic evaluation process to determine asset allocations. Under normal market conditions the Balanced Growth Fund average asset mix would be approximately 50% in U.S. equity funds, 10% in international equity funds and 40% in U.S. bond funds. The investment manager may adjust the total allocation to stock or bond funds by plus/minus 20% based on economic or market conditions and liquidity needs.

Fund III - S&P 500 INDEX FUND - A fund invested and reinvested in corporate common stocks of 500 public companies, seeking to match the risk and return of the Standard & Poor's 500 Index.

Fund IV - GENERAL EQUITY FUND - A fund invested and re-invested by the Trustee or an investment manager directly or through one or more collective investment vehicles in selected common stocks identified based on fundamental valuation measures and anticipated changes in earnings estimates, although the same may not be legal investments for trustees under the laws applicable thereto. The Trustee shall use selected criteria to construct portfolios that have strong value and growth biases.

Fund V - COMPANY STOCK FUND - A fund invested and re-invested in Minerals Technologies Inc. common stock, although such may not be a legal investment for trustees under the laws applicable thereto. The Trustee shall make purchases of such stock in the open market or from the Company if treasury stock or authorized but unissued stock is made available by the Company for such purchase. If such stock is purchased from the Company, its price shall be the closing price of the stock on the New York Stock Exchange on the day of purchase. The Trustee may also purchase such stock from private sources at a cost not in excess of that at which such stock is available on the market.

15

Fund VI - INTERNATIONAL FUND - A fund invested and reinvested by the investment manager in non-U.S. equity investments. The fund is actively managed by use of a systematic approach to analyze the suitability of investments in individual countries, stocks and markets and the degree of currency exposure with respect to investments in the portfolio. The active management of the International Fund includes both the management of the equity investments in the fund and the management of the risk associated with possible fluctuations in the value of currencies.

A Member shall also have the right, at intervals of at least three (3) months' duration and, commencing May 12, 1997, at any time, as the Committee may by uniform rules permit, to direct that any portion of his Account invested in any of the foregoing Funds be transferred to any other of the above Funds. Such direction to transfer shall be effective as of the first Value Determination Date following receipt of the Member's direction by the Committee's appointed agent.

Commencing May 12, 1997, a Member shall also have the right, at any time, as the Committee may by uniform rules permit, to direct that a portion of his Account invested in any of the foregoing Funds be transferred to the following Fund VII:

Fund VII - MUTUAL FUND WINDOW (Effective May 12, 1997) - A fund administered by the Trustee and its agents employed as securities brokers in which a Member can invest in certain self-managed investments. The investments expected to be available under the Mutual Fund Window are certain mutual Rinds as specified by the Committee. The Account of each Member who invests in the Mutual Fund Window shall be reduced by any brokerage fees and commissions payable on their individual transactions in the Mutual Fund Window and by any monthly access fee. The Committee and the Trustee are authorized to sell assets held in the Member's Account for the purpose of paying the commissions and fees described herein. Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) a Member's investment in Fund VII will be limited to 50% of the difference between the Member's total Account value and the value of such Member's Account attributable to Employer Matching Contributions and earnings thereon, (ii) the minimum amount that may be transferred into Fund VII at any time is \$ 1,000 and (iii) no amounts invested in Fund I may be directly transferred to Fund VII and no amounts invested in Fund I may be indirectly transferred to Fund VII by first transferring the amounts in Fund I to some other Fund (or Funds) unless such amounts remain invested in the intervening Fund (or Funds) for at least three (3) months.

Amounts transferred between Fund VII and Funds II through VI and the Pfizer Common Stock Fund, as defined in Section VILE. hereof, or amounts transferred between the mutual funds within Fund VII may not be transferred directly; the Member must first instruct the Committee or its agent, in accordance with rules and procedures approved by the Committee, to sell his interest in the funds which he wishes to transfer. If such an instruction to sell is properly made on or prior to

16

4:00 p.m. Eastern Standard Time, the sale will be completed at the end of the next Business Day; if such an instruction is made after 4:00 p.m. Eastern Standard Time, the sale will be completed at the end of the second Business Day following the date of the instruction. The Trustee will place the proceeds of such sale in a short-term investment fund, designed to produce a money market rate of return, within Fund VIL Such proceeds will remain in such fund until the Member further instructs the Committee or its agent to transfer all or a portion of such proceeds into one or more of the other funds. For purposes of transferring such amounts between Fund VII and Funds II through VI and the Pfizer Common Stock Fund, or between the mutual funds in Fund VII, the Member may not transfer amounts attributable to the sale of his interest in a fund until the settlement date of such sale, which is normally three (3) Business Days following the sale of an interest in Fund VII, and one (1) Business Day following the sale of an interest in Funds II through VI and the Pfizer Common Stock Fund. The crediting of earnings within the short-term investment fund will not begin until after such settlement date.

A charge in an amount to be established by the Committee, but not to exceed 1% of the value of the amount being transferred, to cover all or part of the administrative cost thereof, may be deducted for such transfers.

B. Employer Matching Contributions

Employer Matching Contributions shall be invested in a separate unsegregated fund consisting solely, except as provided in Section VIL.D. hereof, of Minerals Technologies Inc. common stock (hereinafter known as the Company Common Stock Fund (Fund M)). When such contributions are in cash, the Trustee shall make purchases of such stock in the open market or from the Company if treasury stock or authorized but unissued stock is made available by the Company for such purchases. If such stock is purchased from the Company, its price shall be the closing price on the New York Stock Exchange on the day of purchase or, if not so traded, the average of the closing bid and asked price thereof on such Exchange on the day of purchase. The Trustee may also purchase such stock from private sources at a cost not in excess of that at which such stock could be purchased from the Company as provided herein.

C. Investment of Income Received

Subject to Section VIL.D. hereof, interest, cash dividends, stock dividends and capital gains shall be held or invested and reinvested by the Trustee in the same Fund from which they were derived.

D. Cash Balances

Nothing provided herein shall prevent the Trustee or an investment manager appointed by the Committee from maintaining any portion of the above Funds of

17

the Trust Fund in cash or in short-term obligations of the United States Government or agencies thereof or in other types of short-term investments, including commercial paper (other than obligations of the Company or its affiliates), as it may from time to time deem to be in the best interests of the Plan or Trust Fund; provided, however, that cash balances (including any interim investment thereof) shall, not be maintained in Fund V or the Pfizer Common Stock Fund except to the extent that such balances are in anticipation of cash distributions from such Funds or are maintained, with respect to Fund V, not to disrupt the non-discretionary purchasing program of the Trustee required by the Plan.

E. Pfizer Common Stock Fund

Amounts transferred to the Plan from Fund P of the Pfizer 401(k) Plan shall be invested in the Pfizer Common Stock Fund and shall remain in such Fund until such time as they are transferred to one or more of the Funds described in Section VII.A. hereof pursuant to a Member's election in accordance with rules and procedures approved by the Committee or distributed pursuant to Section X., Section XI. or Section XXVI. hereof. The Pfizer Common Stock Fund is an unsegregated fund invested and re-invested solely, except as provided in Section VIL.D. hereof, in Pfizer Inc. common stock, although such may not be a legal investment for trustees under the laws applicable thereto. No amounts contributed under the Plan may be invested in, or transferred from another Fund into, the Pfizer Common Stock Fund.

VIII. CREDITS TO MEMBERS' ACCOUNTS

The Committee shall maintain in an equitable manner, a separate Account for each Member, in which it shall keep a separate record of such Member's balance in each Fund attributable to all contributions made by or for the Member. Each Member shall receive periodically, but at least once each year, a statement setting forth the status of his Account.

IX. SUSPENSION OF CONTRIBUTIONS

A Member may suspend his Member Contributions at any time by direction to his Employer in accordance with rules and procedures approved by the Committee, to be effective as of the next succeeding payroll period. During such suspension, no contributions will be made by his Employer on behalf of such Member. Subject to Section X.B.(e)(III), such Member shall be eligible to recommence contributions at any time, to be effective on the first day of any payroll period designated by him following his notice of his intent to recommence contributions. A Member who is on military leave of absence may elect to continue his contributions under this Plan. A Member who has been laid off or lack of work or who is on other leave of absence will be deemed to have suspended his contributions until such time as he is restored to the regular

18

service of his Employer, at which time he may immediately recommence contributions under the Plan.

X. WITHDRAWALS

Subject to the limitations imposed under Sections VI.C. and X.B. hereof restricting assets transfer-red to the Plan and the withdrawal of Qualified Deferred Earnings Contributions until the earliest of the Member's retirement, death, Disability, separation from service, hardship or attainment of age 59 1/2, respectively, a Member may, in accordance with rules and procedures approved by the Committee, request a withdrawal of all or any part of the value of his Account, as of the Value Determination Date coincident with or next following the date such withdrawal is requested in accordance with rules and procedures approved by the Committee, upon the following conditions, provided that, a Member who has attained age 59 1/2 who withdraws the full value of his Account may, in accordance with rules and procedures approved by the Committee, elect to receive a lump sum distribution (i) in Minerals Technologies Inc. common stock equal in value to all or any part of his share in Fund V and his share, if any, in the Company Common Stock Fund (Fund M), (ii) in Pfizer Inc. common stock equal in value to all or any part of his share in the Pfizer Common Stock Fund, and (iii) in cash equal in amount to his share in Funds I, II, III, IV, VI and VII, as applicable, and his remaining share in Fund V, the Pfizer Common Stock Fund and/or the Company Common Stock Fund (Fund M).

Notwithstanding anything in this Section X. to the contrary, effective January 1, 1997, a Member subject to Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (an "Insider"), may not elect to make a withdrawal from his Account (other than a withdrawal in connection with his termination of service) within six (6) months of the date of an election to increase his interest in (I) Fund V (whether by direction of future After-Tax Contributions or Qualified Deferred Earnings Contributions or by transfer of amounts into Fund V from other Funds pursuant to Section VII.A.) or (II) an investment in Minerals Technologies Inc. common stock under another plan of the Company, to the extent such a withdrawal results in a withdrawal of amounts invested by the Insider in Fund V.

A. Withdrawal - Other Than of Qualified Deferred Earnings Contributions

Except as stated above, a Member shall be entitled to withdraw in cash at any time up to the full value of his Account not attributable to Qualified Deferred Earnings Contributions, plus the cash value, if any, of the balance of his Account invested in the Company Common Stock Fund (Fund M); provided, however, that an Employee shall be entitled to withdraw in cash at any time an amount equal to all or any part of his Account attributable to Employer Matching Contributions only if (i) such contributions have been held under the Plan for at least two (2) years from the date of contribution, or (ii) if the Employee would be entitled to make a hardship withdrawal of such Employer Matching Contributions under the hardship withdrawal standards of Section X.B. hereof, or (iii) at least five (5) years have elapsed since the Employee enrolled in the Plan.

B. Withdrawal - Qualified Deferred Earnings Contributions

Except as stated in the second paragraph of this Section X., a Member shall be entitled to make a hardship withdrawal of his Qualified Deferred Earnings Contributions and the amount, if any, in the Pfizer Common Stock Fund attributable to his elective deferrals under section 402(g) of the Code and of the appreciation thereon earned prior to January 1, 1989, up to the amount needed to satisfy the hardship, provided the Member first makes a full withdrawal under Section X.A. hereof and satisfies the Committee as to the existence of such hardship pursuant to the requirements set forth in Section X.B. hereof. Qualified Deferred Earnings Contributions and the appreciation, if any, thereon may not be withdrawn by or distributed to a Member until the earliest of the Member's retirement, death, Disability, separation from service, hardship or attainment of age 59 1/2. A withdrawal is considered a withdrawal due to hardship (a "hardship withdrawal") if it is on account of. (i) an imm ediate and heavy financial need of the Member, and (ii) the withdrawal is necessary to satisfy such financial need. The Committee may determine that a withdrawal shall be considered a hardship withdrawal if it is requested on account of:

- (a) unreimbursed medical expenses described in section 213(d) of the Code incurred by the Member, his spouse or dependents (as defined in section 152 of the Code) or expenses necessary for such persons to obtain medical care described in section 213(d) of the Code,
- (b) tuition and related educational fees for the next twelve (12) months of post-secondary education for the Member, his spouse, child or dependent,
- (c) the purchase of the Member's principal residence (excluding mortgage payments),
- (d) payments to prevent eviction from, or foreclosure on the mortgage for, the Member's principal residence, or
- (e) such other needs as shall be officially recognized by the Internal Revenue Service as giving rise to an immediate and heavy financial need for purposes of section 401(k) of the Code. A hardship withdrawal shall be deemed to be necessary to satisfy an immediate and heavy financial need for a Member if:
 - (i) the withdrawal does not exceed the amount of the Member's immediate and heavy financial need, including any amounts necessary to pay any federal, state, or local income taxes or penalties reasonably anticipated to result from the withdrawal,
 - (ii) the Member has received all distributions, exclusive of hardship withdrawals, and all non-taxable loans available under each qualified plan maintained by an Employer in which the Member participates,

20

- (iii) the Member's Qualified Deferred Earnings Contributions and After-Tax Contributions under the Plan and any other contributions thereby under any other qualified or non-qualified plan of deferred compensation maintained by an Employer in which the Member participates are suspended for the twelve (12) month period commencing on the date immediately following receipt of the hardship withdrawal, and
- (iv) the Member may not have Qualified Deferred Earnings Contributions made on his behalf under the Plan and any other qualified or non-qualified plan of deferred compensation maintained by an Employer in which the Member participates for the calendar year immediately following the calendar year of the hardship withdrawal in excess of the dollar limitation on Qualified Deferred Earnings Contributions referred to in Section VI.A. hereof for such next following calendar year reduced by the amount of the Member's Qualified Deferred Earnings Contributions for the calendar year in which the hardship withdrawal was made.

In no event may the amount of a hardship withdrawal exceed the amount necessary to satisfy the Member's financial need, taking into account the extent such need may be satisfied through the use of other resources reasonably available to the Member. To demonstrate such necessity, the Member must certify to the Committee that the financial need cannot be satisfied:

- (a) Through reimbursement or compensation by insurance or otherwise,
- (b) By reasonable liquidation of the Member's assets, to the extent such liquidation would not itself cause an immediate and heavy financial need,
- (c) By cessation of Qualified Deferred Earnings Contributions under the Plan, or
- (d) By distributions or nontaxable (at the time of the loan) loans from plans maintained by the Company or any other employer, or by borrowing from commercial sources on reasonable commercial terms.

For purposes of the above, the Member's resources shall be deemed to include the assets of his spouse and minor children that are reasonably available to the Member.

Except as provided in this Section X., a hardship withdrawal to a Member shall not affect such Member's eligibility to continue to participate in the Plan, nor shall it affect the non-withdrawn balance of such Member's Account or his rights and privileges with respect thereto.

XI. SETTLEMENT UPON TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT

Upon termination of employment, a Member, or in case of death, his designated beneficiary, which in the case of a married Member shall be the Member's spouse, unless, with the consent of

the spouse, another beneficiary has been designated, or, if there is no spouse or other designated beneficiary, the Member's legal representative, shall be entitled to the value of his Account, commencing as soon as practicable thereafter, but in no event later than one year following his termination of employment or death, as applicable, upon the following conditions:

A. Termination of Employment

- 1. Forms of Benefit. A Member terminating employment, or in the case of a Disabled Member terminating employment, his legal representative if one has been appointed, shall settle his Account by selecting, in accordance with rules and procedures approved by the Committee, one of the following methods:
 - (a) in a lump sum distribution in cash equal to the full value of his Account invested in the Funds described in Section VII. hereof, as applicable,
 - (b) in a lump sum distribution in (i) Minerals Technologies Inc. common stock equal in value to all or any part of the Member's share in Fund V and the Company Common Stock Fund (Fund M), if any, plus (ii) Pfizer Inc. common stock equal in value to all or any part of the Member's share in the Pfizer Common Stock Fund, if any, plus (iii) cash equal in amount to the Member's share in Funds I, II, III, IV, VI and VII, as applicable, and his remaining share in Fund V, the Company Common Stock Fund (Fund M) and the Pfizer Common Stock Fund, if any,
 - (c) with respect to that portion of the Member's Account, if any, equal to the net value of such Member's Account as of March 31, 1997, in distributions in ten (10) substantially equal annual installments in cash equal to the full value of his Account invested in the Funds described in Section VII. hereof, as applicable, and the remaining portion of the Member's Account payable pursuant to paragraph (a) above, or
 - (d) with respect to that portion of the Member's Account, if any, equal to the net value of such Member's Account as of March 31, 1997, in distributions in ten (10) substantially equal annual installments in (i) Minerals Technologies Inc. common stock equal in value to all or any part of the Member's share in Fund V and the Company Common Stock Fund (Fund M), if any, plus (ii) Pfizer Inc. common stock equal in value to all or any part of the Member's share in the Pfizer Common Stock Fund, if any, plus (iii) cash equal in amount to the Member's share in Funds I, II, III, IV, VI and VII, as applicable, and his remaining share in Fund V, the Company Common Stock Fund (Fund M) and the Pfizer Common Stock Fund, if any, and the remaining portion of the Member's Account payable pursuant to paragraph (b) above.

22

Notwithstanding the above, a Member who terminates employment prior to age 65, other than by Disability, may only elect to settle his Account in accordance with Sections XI.A.1.(a) or (b) hereof. Regardless of the form of payment, all distributions shall comply with section 401 (a)(9) of the Code and the Treasury regulations thereunder, including the minimum distribution incidental death benefit requirement of section 401(a)(9)(G) of the Code and the Treasury regulations thereunder, and such provisions shall override any Plan provisions otherwise inconsistent therewith.

- 2. Accounts Left in the Plan After Termination. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a Member who has a balance of at least \$5,000 in his Account terminates employment without having made a selection of the form of his benefit in accordance with rules and procedures approved by the Committee, his Account will remain in the Plan until he makes a total withdrawal of his Account, reaches age 65, becomes Disabled, or dies, whichever first occurs, at which time settlement will be made in a lump sum distribution in cash or, if so selected, in cash and/or stock, in accordance with Section XI.A.1.(b) hereof, equal to the full value of his Account, determined as of the Value Determination Date immediately following or coincident with the date such distribution is requested in accordance with rules and procedures approved by the Committee or the date of distribution, if earlier, less the applicable withholding tax. Such Account may be totally withdrawn or may be transferred among Funds in accordance with the terms of the Plan, prior to such distribution. Also, only one (1) partial withdrawal will be permitted with respect to such an Account following termination of employment.
- 3. Installment Distributions (Applicable to the Portion of the Member's Account, if any, equal to the March 31, 1997 Account balance). The initial installment distribution of a Member's Account pursuant to Sections XI.A.1(c) and (d) hereof shall be equal to the value of the applicable portion of such Account as of the Value Determination Date immediately following or coincident with the date such distribution is requested in accordance with rules and procedures approved by the Committee, divided by the total number of installment distributions to be made. Subsequent installment distributions shall be equal to the value of such Account as of the Value Determination Date on the date of distribution, divided by the remaining number of installment distributions. For the purpose of determining the value of any Company or Pfizer Inc. common stock distributed hereunder, such value shall be the closing price of the stock on the New York Stock Exchange on such Value Determination Date.
- 4. Delayed Distribution of Account. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Plan, the benefit of each Member will be distributed or commence to be distributed to him in accordance with section 401(a)(9) of the Code, the Treasury regulations thereunder and other official guidance issued thereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any such Member who attains age 70 1/2 before January 1, 2002, and who has not terminated employment with all Employers,

23

shall have the right to have his distribution commence not later than April 1 of the calendar year following the calendar year in which the member attains age 70 1/2. In addition, a terminating Member may, subject to Section XI.C. hereof, have payment of his benefit commence at a date which shall be not more than thirteen (13) months following termination. Notwithstanding Section XI.A.3. hereof, in determining the value of the Account of a Member making such an election, the Value Determination Date immediately following or coincident with the date such withdrawal is requested in accordance with rules and procedures approved by the Committee shall be used.

In the event of a Member's death, his designated beneficiary, which in the case of a married Member shall be the Member's spouse unless with the consent of the spouse another beneficiary has been designated, or, if there is no spouse or other designated beneficiary, his legal representative, shall receive as soon as practicable thereafter, but in no event later than one (1) year following the Member's death, in cash the full value of the Member's Account, based upon both his share in the Funds described in Section VII hereof, as applicable, or, in lieu of such cash payment such beneficiary or representative may select settlement of the Member's Account in accordance with the alternative available under Section XI.A.1.(b) hereof to a Member upon terminating employment, provided that an irrevocable selection in writing of such settlement is received by the Committee not more than six (6) months following such death. Where payment has commenced to a Member prior to his death, p ayment to his spouse or his designated beneficiary shall be over a period that is no longer than the period under which the Member was receiving benefits.

Where distribution has not commenced to the Member at the time of his death, payments to the spouse of a Member shall be made in a lump sum no later than the date on which the Member would have attained age 70 1/2, and distribution to the designated beneficiary of a Member shall be made in a lump sum no later than one (1) year following the date of the Member's death.

In determining the net value of a Member's Account hereunder, the applicable Value Determination Date shall be the date of distribution. For the purpose of determining the value of Company or Pfizer common stock, such value shall be the closing price of the stock on the New York Stock Exchange on the applicable Value Determination Date.

C. Form of Distributions

Notwithstanding anything in this Plan to the contrary, in the event that the value of the Member's Account is less than or equal to \$5,000 at the Value Determination Date immediately following or coincident with termination of

24

employment, such value shall be immediately paid in a lump sum in accordance with Section XI.A.1.(b) hereof. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the value of the Member's Account exceeds (or, for distributions made before March 22, 1999, at the time of any prior distribution exceeded) \$5,000 and becomes distributable to him on an immediate lump sum basis prior to his attaining age 65, no such distribution shall be made to him unless he consents to such distribution, in accordance with rules and procedures approved by the Committee, no more than ninety (90) days and no less than thirty (30) days prior to the anticipated date of the Member's distribution, as required by section 1.411(a)-11(c) of the Treasury regulations. If the value of the Member's Account at the time of any distribution exceeds \$3,500 (after December 31, 1997, \$5,000), the value of the Member's Account at any subsequent time will be deemed to exceed \$3,500 (after December 31, 1997, \$5,000). If a distribution i s one to which sections 401(a)(11) and 417 of the Code do not apply, such distribution may commence less than thirty (30) days after the notice required under section 1.411(a)-11(c) of the Treasury regulations is given, provided that:

- (i) the Committee clearly informs the Member that the Member has a right to a period of at least thirty (30) days after receiving the notice to consider the decision of whether or not to elect a distribution (and, if applicable, a particular distribution option), and
- (ii) the Member, after receiving the notice, affirmatively elects a distribution.

D. Rollover Distributions

Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary that would otherwise limit a distributee's election under this Section XI., effective January 1, 1993, a distributee may elect, at the time and in accordance with rules and procedures approved by the Committee, to have any portion of an eligible rollover distribution paid directly to an eligible retirement plan specified by the distributee in a direct rollover.

An eligible rollover distribution is a distribution of all or any portion of the balance to the credit of the distributee, except that an eligible rollover distribution does not include: any distribution that is one of a series of substantially equal periodic payments (not less frequently than annually) made for the life (or life expectancy) of the distributee or the joint lives (or joint life expectancies) of the distributee and the distributee's designated beneficiary, or for a specified period of ten (10) years or more; any distribution to the extent such distribution is required under section 401 (a)(9) of the Code; and the portion of any distribution that is not includible in gross income (determined without regard to the exclusion for net unrealized appreciation with respect to employer securities).

25

An eligible retirement plan is an individual retirement account described in section 408(a) of the Code, an individual retirement annuity described in section 408(b) of the Code, an annuity plan described in section 403(a) of the Code, or a qualified trust described in section 401 (a) of the Code, that accepts the distributee's eligible rollover distribution. However, in the case of an eligible rollover distribution to the surviving spouse, an eligible retirement plan is an individual retirement account or individual retirement annuity.

A distributee is an Employee or former Employee. In addition, the Employee's or former Employee's surviving spouse and the Employee's or former Employee's spouse or former spouse who is the alternate payee under a qualified domestic relations order, as defined in section 414(p) of the Code, are distributees with regard to the interest of the spouse or former spouse. A direct rollover is a payment by the Plan to the eligible retirement plan specified by the distributee.

In the event that the provisions of this Section XI.D. or any part thereof cease to be required by law as a result of subsequent legislation or otherwise, this Section XI.D. or applicable part thereof shall be ineffective without necessity of further amendment of the Plan.

E. Qualified Domestic Relations Order

Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to the contrary, the payment of any benefit to which a Member may be entitled under this Section XI. shall be subject to a qualified domestic relations order determined by the Committee to be within the meaning of section 414(p) of the Code.

F. Limitation on Distribution of Qualified Deferred Earnings Contributions

Qualified Deferred Earnings Contributions and any income allocable to such amounts, shall not be distributable earlier than the Member's termination of employment, death or hardship distribution. Such amounts may also be distributed, pursuant to section 401(k)(10) of the Code and solely in the form of a "lump sum distribution," as defined in section 401(k)(10)(B)(ii) of the Code, upon:

- (a) termination of the Plan without the establishment or maintenance of another defined contribution plan (other than an "employee stock ownership plan," as defined in section 4975(e)(7) of the Code) by the Company,
- (b) the disposition by the Company of at least 85% of the assets used by the Company in a trade or business thereof, to a corporation not required after such disposition to be aggregated with the Company pursuant to section 414(b), (c), (m) or (o) of the Code, where the Company continues to

26

maintain the Plan after such disposition, and solely with respect to Employees who, subsequent to such disposition, continue employment with the corporation acquiring such assets, or

(c) the disposition by the Company of the Company's interest in a subsidiary, to an entity not required after such disposition to be aggregated with the Company pursuant to section 414(b), (c), (m) or (o) of the Code, where the Company continues to maintain the Plan after such disposition, and solely with respect to Employees who, subsequent to such disposition, continue employment with such subsidiary.

XII. SAVINGS AND INVESTMENT PLAN COMMITTEE

A. This Plan shall be administered by a Savings and Investment Plan Committee consisting of at least three (3) persons, who may be Members of the Plan, appointed by the Board of Directors of the Company. Members of the Committee shall serve at the pleasure of the Board of Directors of the Company, and may resign at any time upon due notice in writing. The Committee shall act, by a majority of its members, and the Secretary thereof shall certify its actions to the Trustee.

B.

(1) The Committee shall be the Plan Administrator and shall have fiduciary responsibility under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, for the general operation of the Plan, and the exclusive authority and responsibility (i) to appoint and remove or select investment managers, if any, the Trustee or any successor Trustee under the Plan and the Trust Agreement and pooled investment vehicles and investment advisers thereof, (ii) to direct the segregation of all or a portion of the assets of the Plan Trust into an investment manager account or accounts at any time and from time to time and to add or to withdraw assets from such investment manager account or accounts as it deems desirable or appropriate, (iii) to direct the Trustee to enter into a group annuity contract or contracts, in such form and on such terms as may be approved by the Committee to provide for annuity settlements under the Plan, and (iv) to direct the Trustee to enter into one (1) or more investment contracts with one or more insurance companies or financial institutions as provided in Section VII.A. hereof and in the Trust Agreement; provided, however, that, except as expressly set forth above, the Committee shall have no responsibility for or control over the investment of the Plan assets held in the Funds established hereunder. The Committee may appoint or employ, and compensate such persons as it deems necessary to render advice with respect to any responsibility of the Committee under the Plan. The Committee may allocate to any one (1) or more of its members any responsibility that it may have under the Plan and may designate any other

27

person or persons to carry out any responsibility of the Committee under the Plan. Any person may serve in more than one fiduciary capacity with respect to the Plan.

- The Committee shall administer the Plan in accordance with its terms and shall have all powers necessary to carry out the provisions of the Plan not otherwise reserved to the Company, the Board of Directors or the Trustee. The Committee shall have all powers to administer the Plan, within its discretion, other than the power to invest or reinvest the assets of the Plan to the extent such powers have been delegated to the Trustee, an insurance company and/or an asset manager. The Committee shall have total and complete discretion to interpret the Plan and to determine all questions arising in the administration, interpretation and application of the Plan, including the power to construe and interpret the Plan; to decide questions relating to an individual's eligibility to participate in the Plan and/or eligibility for benefits and the amounts thereof; to have fact finder discretionary authority to decide all facts relevant to the determination of eligibility for benefits or participation; to make such adjustments as it deems necessary or desirable to correct any arithmetical or accounting errors; to determine the amount, form, and timing of any distribution to be made hereunder; to approve and enforce any loan hereunder including the repayment thereof, as well as to resolve any conflict. The Committee shall have the discretion to make factual determinations relating to the amount and manner of any allocations and distributions of benefits. In making its decisions, the Committee shall be entitled to, but need not rely upon, information supplied by a Member, beneficiary or representative thereof The Committee shall have full and complete discretion to determine whether a domestic relations order constitutes a "qualified domestic relations order" under applicable law and whether the putative alternative payee under such an order otherwise qualifies for benefits hereunder. The Committee may correct any defect, supply any omission or reconcile any in consistency in such manner and to such extent as it shall deem necessary to carry out the purposes of the Plan. The Committee's decision in such matters shall be binding and conclusive as to all parties.
- (3) The Committee shall determine whether a judgment, decree, or order, including approval of a property settlement agreement, made pursuant to a state domestic relations law, including a community property law, that relates to the provision of child support, alimony payments, or marital property rights of a spouse, former spouse, child, or other dependent of the Member is a qualified domestic relations order within the meaning of section 414(p) of the Code, and shall give the required notices and segregate any amounts that may be subject to such order if it is a qualified domestic relations order, and shall administer the distributions required by any such qualified domestic relations order.

- (4) The Committee is authorized to make such uniform rules as may be necessary to carry out the provisions of the Plan and shall determine, in its sole discretion, any questions arising in the administration, interpretation and application of the Plan, which determination shall be conclusive and binding on all parties. In exercising such powers and authorities, the Committee shall at all times exercise good faith, apply standards of uniform application, and refrain from arbitrary action. The Committee is also authorized to adopt such uniform rules as it may consider necessary or desirable for the conduct of its affairs and the transaction of its business, including, but not limited to, the power on the part of the Committee to act without formally convening and to provide that action of the Committee may be expressed by written instruments signed by a majority of its members. It shall elect a Secretary, who need not be a member of the Committee, who shall record the minutes of its proceedings and shall perform such other duties as may from time to time be assigned to him. The Committee may retain legal counsel (who may be the General Counsel of the Company) when and if it be found necessary or convenient to do so, and may also employ such other assistants, clerical or otherwise, as may be needed, and expend such monies as may be required for the proper performance of its work. Such costs and expenses shall be borne by the Company in accordance with the provisions of this Section XII.
- (5) To the extent permitted by law, the Committee, the Boards of Directors of the Employers, and the Employers and their respective officers shall not be liable for the directions, actions or omissions of any agent, legal or other counsel, accountant or any other expert who has agreed to the performance of administrative duties in connection with the Plan or Trust. The Committee, the Boards of Directors of the Employers, and the Employers and their respective officers shall be entitled to rely upon all certificates, reports, data, statistics, analyses and opinions which may be made by such experts and shall be fully protected in respect to any action taken or suffered by them in good faith reliance upon any such certificates, reports, data, statistics, analyses or opinions; all actions so taken or suffered shall be conclusive upon each of them and upon all persons having or claiming to have any interest in or under the Plan.
- C. Each member of the Committee shall be indemnified by the Company against all costs and expenses (including counsel fees but excluding any amount representing a settlement unless such settlement be approved by the Company) reasonably incurred by or imposed upon him in connection with or resulting from any action, suit or proceeding to which he may be made a party by reason of his being or having been a member of the Committee (whether or not he continues to be a member of the Committee at the time when such cost or expense is incurred or imposed), to the full extent of the law. The foregoing rights of indemnification

20

shall not be exclusive of other rights to which any member of the Committee may be entitled as a matter of law, contract or otherwise.

XIII. TRUST AGREEMENT

The Company shall enter into a written Trust Agreement with a trustee of its choice, to become effective upon the date this Plan becomes effective, providing for the administration of the Funds established hereunder. The Trust Agreement shall provide that all of the Funds will be held, managed, invested and re-invested and distributed thereunder in accordance with its provisions and the provisions of the Plan. The Trust Agreement shall provide that it may be amended in whole or in part by the Company at any time or from time to time and in any manner, except that no part of the Trust Fund, either by reason of any amendment, or otherwise, shall ever be used for or diverted to purposes other than for the exclusive benefit of Members and their beneficiaries and the payment of administrative expenses. The Trust Agreement shall be deemed to form a part of the Plan, and any and all rights or benefits which may accrue to any person under this Plan shall be subject to all the terms and provisions of the Trust Agreement.

XIV. ASSOCIATE COMPANIES

- 1. Any corporation of which the Company owns directly or indirectly 80% of the issued and outstanding shares of stock, with the consent of the Company, by taking appropriate corporate action may become an Associate Company and secure the benefits of this Plan for its employees by adopting this Plan as its Plan, by becoming party to the Trust Agreement, and by taking such other actions as the Company shall consider necessary or desirable to accomplish that purpose. The Company may, upon thirty (30) days' written notice, request an Associate Company to withdraw from the Plan, and upon the expiration of such thirty (30) day period, unless such Associate Company has taken appropriate corporate action to accomplish such withdrawal, such Associate Company shall be deemed to have withdrawn from the Plan. Accounts of the Members of such Associate Company shall be vested and settled in the manner provided in Section XXII.C. hereof.
- 2. Any Associate Company may at any time segregate from further participation in the Trust under the Trust Agreement. Such Associate Company shall file with the Trustee a document evidencing its segregation from the Trust Fund and its continuance of a Trust in accordance with the provisions of the Trust Agreement as though such Associate Company were the sole creator thereof. In such event, the Trustee shall deliver to itself as Trustee of such trust such part of the Trust Fund as may be determined by the Committee to constitute the appropriate share of the Trust Fund then held in respect of the Members of such Associate Company. Such former Associate Company may thereafter exercise in respect of such Trust Agreement all the rights and powers reserved to the Company and to the Committee under the provisions of the Trust Agreement.

30

In a similar manner, the appropriate share of the Trust Fund determined by the Committee to be then held in respect of Members in any division, plant, location or other identifiable group or unit of the Company or an Associate Company may be segregated, and the Trustee shall hold such segregated assets in the same manner and for the same purpose as provided above in the event of segregation of an Associate Company, and the Company or any successor owner of the segregated unit shall have the rights and powers hereinabove provided for a segregated Associate Company.

XV. VOTING RIGHTS

A. The Trustee shall have the sole and exclusive right to vote any securities held in Funds I, II, III, IV, VI and VII, in its discretion. With respect to Minerals Technologies Inc. common stock held in Fund V and the Company Common Stock Fund (Fund M), each Member shall be

entitled to give voting instructions to the Trustee with respect to his interest, if any, in such stock. Each Member's interest in Minerals Technologies Inc. common stock shall be computed by multiplying the total number of shares held by the Trustee on the applicable shareholder record date by the ratio of the value of Fund V and the Company Common Stock Fund (Fund M), if any, credited to such Member (as of the most recent Value Determination Date prior to the shareholder record date for which the Committee has completed its determination of the value of such Funds and delivered the results of such determination to the Trustee, but in no event shall such Value Dete rmination Date be more than sixty (60) days prior to the shareholder record date) to the total value of all Minerals Technologies Inc. common stock credited to all Members as of such Value Determination Date, excluding the value of such stock allocated to Members whose accounts have been distributed prior to the shareholder record date. Written notice of any meeting of the Company, the proxy statement and a request for voting instructions will be mailed by the Company to each Member having an interest in Fund V and/or the Company Common Stock Fund (Fund M), except those Members having only a fractional interest in a common share of the Company. The Trustee shall vote shares and fractional shares of such Company common stock in accordance with the written direction of each Member with respect to his interest, if any, provided such direction is received by the Trustee at least three (3) days before the date set for the meeting at which such Company common stock is to be voted. Shares and fractional shares of C ompany common stock with respect to which no such direction shall be timely given, shall be voted in the same ratio, to the nearest whole vote, as the shares with respect to which instructions were received from Members. In the event of a tender or exchange offer for Company common stock, each Member shall determine whether his shares shall be tendered or exchanged by notifying the Trustee in writing on a form to be supplied by the Company. In connection with any such tender or exchange offer, the Company shall notify each affected Member of such tender or exchange offer and distribute such information as is distributed to shareholders in connection therewith.

31

Such determination shall be held in confidence by the Trustee. Shares and fractional shares of Company common' stock with respect to which no direction shall be timely given shall not be tendered or exchanged by the Trustee on the assumption that the Member does not wish to have his shares tendered or exchanged.

B. With respect to Pfizer Inc. common stock held in Pfizer Inc. Common Stock Fund, each Member shall be entitled to give voting instructions to the Trustee with respect to his interest, if any, in such stock. Each Member's interest in Pfizer Inc. common stock shall be computed by multiplying the total number of shares held by the Trustee on the applicable shareholder record date by the ratio of the value of the Pfizer Inc. Common Stock Fund, if any, credited to such Member (as of the most recent Value Determination Date prior to the shareholder record date for which the Committee has completed its determination of the value of such Fund and delivered the results of such determination to the Trustee, but in no event shall such Value Determination Date be more than sixty (60) days prior to the shareholder record date) to the tow value of all Pfizer Inc. common, stock credited to all Members as of such Value Determination Date, excluding the value of such stock allocated to Members whose accounts have been distributed prior to the shareholder record date. Written notice of any meeting of Pfizer Inc., the proxy statement and a request for voting instructions will be mailed by the Trustee to each Member having an interest the Pfizer Inc. Common Stock Fund, except those Members having only a fractional interest in a common share of Pfizer Inc. The Trustee shall vote shares and fractional shares of such Pfizer Inc. common stock in accordance with the written direction of each Member with respect to his interest, if any, provided such direction is received by the Trustee at least three days before the date set for the meeting at which such Pfizer Inc. common stock is to be voted. Shares and fractional shares of Pfizer Inc. common stock with respect to which no such direction shall be timely given, shall be voted in the same ratio, to the nearest whole vote, as the shares with respect to which instructions were received from Members.

XVI. ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS

Subject to the provisions of Section VII.A. hereof pertaining to charges to Member Accounts for certain investment transactions, all costs and expenses of administering the Plan (except certain expenses with respect to the processing of loan applications and with respect to the Mutual Fund Window which shall be borne by such Member and except for the fees and charges of the investment managers which shall be charged against the applicable investment fund) shall be borne by the Company, and until so paid shall represent a lien in favor of the Trustee, or investment manager, as applicable, against each respective Fund.

XVII. NON-ALIENATION OF BENEFITS

No benefit payable under the provisions of the Plan shall be subject in any manner to anticipation, alienation, sale, transfer, assignment, pledge, encumbrance, or charge, and any

32

attempt so to anticipate, alienate, sell, transfer, assign, pledge, encumber or charge the same shall be void; nor shall benefits be in any manner liable for or subject to the debts, contracts, liabilities, engagements or torts of any Member or beneficiary except as specifically provided (i) by a qualified domestic relations order within the meaning of section 414(p) of the Code, or (ii) in connection with a judgment or settlement entered into on or after August 5, 1997, involving the Plan pursuant to the requirements of section 401 (a)(1 3)(C) of the Code.

XVIII. NOTICE

Whenever an Employer, the Committee or the Trustee is required to take action pursuant to a request or direction from an eligible Employee or a Member participating in the Plan, such request or direction must be given at such time and in the form prescribed by the Employer, the Committee or the Trustee, as applicable.

XIX. INVESTMENTS

Each Member shall assume all risk in connection with any decrease in the market value of any investment in the respective Funds in which he participates, including Fund V, the Company Common Stock fund (Fund M) and the Pfizer Common Stock Fund, if any, and such Funds shall be the sole source of all payments to be made under the Plan.

Neither the Company, any Associate Company, the Committee or the Trustee, nor any officer or employee of any of them, is authorized to advise a Member as to the manner in which his contributions to the Plan should be invested. The election of the Fund or Funds in which a Member participates is his sole responsibility, and the fact that designated Funds are available to Members for investment or that limitations may be established with respect to maximum investments in one or more Funds shall not be construed as a recommendation for or against the investment of a Member's contributions hereunder in any of such Funds.

XX. TREASURY APPROVAL

This Plan and the contributions thereto shall be conditional upon a determination by the Internal Revenue Service that the Plan meets the applicable requirements of section 401 (a) of the Code and that the Trust is exempt under section 501(a) of the Code. Contributions made to the Plan are conditioned upon their deductibility under the Code.

XXI. MISCELLANEOUS

- A. The provisions of the Plan shall be construed, regulated and administered according to the laws of the State of New York, except to the extent superseded by any controlling Federal statute.
- B. If any Member, former Member, or beneficiary, in the judgment of the Committee, is legally, physically or mentally incapable of personally receiving and receipting for any payment due hereunder payment may be made

33

to the guardian or other legal representative of such Member, former Member or beneficiary or to such other person or institution who, in the opinion of the Committee, is then maintaining or has custody of such Member, former Member or beneficiary. Such payments shall constitute a full discharge with respect to such payments.

- C. Nothing contained herein or in the Trust Agreement shall entitle any Member, former Member, beneficiary or any other person to the right or privilege of examining or having access to the books or records of the Company, any Associate Company, the Committee or the Trustee; nor shall any such person have any right, legal or equitable, against the Company or an Associate Company, or any director, officer, employee, agent or representative thereof, or against the Committee or the Trustee, except as expressly provided herein.
- D. The Committee shall be fully protected in respect to any action taken or suffered by them in good faith in reliance upon the advice or opinion of any actuary, accountant, legal counsel, appraiser, or physician, and all action so taken or suffered shall be conclusive upon all Members, former Members, beneficiaries, heirs, distributees, personal representatives and any other person claiming under the Plan.
- E. Participation in the Plan shall not be construed as conferring any legal rights upon any Member for a continuation of employment nor shall it interfere with the rights of the Company or any Associate Company to terminate any Member and to treat him without regard to the effect which such treatment might have upon him as a Member.
- F. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan to the contrary, an Insider (as defined in Section X. hereof) may not elect to (i) increase his interest in Fund V (whether by direction of future After-Tax or Qualified Deferred Earnings Contributions or by transfer of amounts into Fund V from other Funds pursuant to Section VII.A. hereof) within six (6) months of an election to decrease his interest in Fund V (or in an investment in Minerals Technologies Inc. common stock under another plan of the Company), or (ii) decrease his interest, if any, in Fund V (whether by direction of future After-Tax Contributions or Qualified Deferred Earnings Contributions or by transfer of amounts out of Fund V to other Funds pursuant to Section VII.A. hereof) within six (6) months of an election to increase his interest in Fund V (whether by direction of future After-Tax Contributions or Qualified Deferred Earnings Contributions or by transfer of amounts into Fund V (whether by direction of future After-Tax Contributions or Qualified Deferred Earnings Contributions or by transfer of amounts into Fund V from other Funds pursuant to Section VII.A. hereof) within six (6) months of (I) a cash withdrawal from his Account (other than a cash withdrawal in connection with such Insider's termination of employment to the extent that such withdrawal results in a withdrawal of an amount invested in Fund V, or (II) a withdrawal from any other

34

plan maintained by the Company (other than a cash withdrawal in connection with such Insider's termination of employment) to the extent that such withdrawal constitutes a withdrawal of Mineral Technologies Inc. common stock. To the extent any provision of the Plan or action of the Plan administrators involving an Insider is deemed not to comply with an applicable condition of Rule 16b-3, it shall be deemed null and void as to such Insider, to the extent permitted by law and deemed advisable by the Plan administrators.

XXII. TERMINATION, AMENDMENT OR SUSPENSION OF THE PLAN

- A. The Company expects to continue the Plan indefinitely but reserves the right to amend, suspend or discontinue it in whole or in part at any time and in its sole and absolute discretion of its Board of Directors in accordance with its established rules of procedure. Such amendments or modifications may be retroactive if necessary or appropriate to qualify or maintain the Plan or Trust as a Plan or Trust meeting the requirements of section 401 of the Code, to secure and maintain the tax exemption of the Trust under section 501 of the Code, and in order that the contributions to the Plan be deductible under section 404(a) of the Code or any other applicable provisions of the Code and Treasury regulations issued thereunder.
- B In the event of suspension of the Plan, all provisions of the Plan shall continue in effect during such period of suspension, except Sections V., VI., and those provisions of Section X. hereof which permit resumption of contributions. Upon continuous suspension of the Plan for a period of three (3) years, the Plan shall terminate.
- C. In the event of termination of the Plan in whole or in part or upon the complete discontinuance of contributions, Accounts of affected Members shall be settled and distributed under the provisions of Section XI.A. hereof as though the termination of employment had occurred on the date of such termination or discontinuance; provided, however, that the amount distributed to affected Member's and beneficiaries shall be the net value of the Member's Account determined as of the Value Determination Date on the date of distribution.
- D. The Committee may make administrative changes to the Plan so as to conform with or take advantage of governmental requirements, statutes or regulations.

- In the event of any merger or consolidation of the Plan with, or transfer in whole or in part of the assets and liabilities of the Trust Fund to another trust fund held under any other plan of deferred compensation maintained or to be established for the benefit of all or some of the Members of this Plan, the assets of the Trust Fund applicable to such Members shall be transferred to the other trust fund only if:
 - (1) each Member would, if either this Plan or the other plan then terminated, receive a benefit immediately after the merger, consolidation or transfer which is equal to or greater than the benefit he would have been entitled to receive immediately before the merger, consolidation or transfer if this Plan had then terminated; and
 - (2) the Employer and any new or successor employer of the affected Members shall authorize such transfer of assets.

XXIV. CLAIMS PROCEDURE

Any request by a Member or any other person for any benefit alleged to be due under the Plan shall be known as a "Claim" and the Member or other person making a Claim shall be known as a "Claimant."

A Claim shall be filed when a written statement has been made by the Claimant or the Claimant's authorized representative and delivered to the Vice President - Organization and Human Resources, Minerals Technologies Inc., 405 Lexington Avenue, New York, New York 10174-1901. This statement shall include a general description of the benefit which the Claimant believes is due and the reasons the Claimant believes such benefit is due, to the extent this is within the knowledge of the Claimant. It shall not be necessary for the Claimant to cite any particular Section or Sections of the Plan, but only to set out the facts known to him which he believes constitute a-basis for a Claim.

Within ninety (90) days of the receipt of the Claim by the Plan, the Vice President -Organization and Human Resources shall (i) notify the Claimant that the Claim has been approved, (ii) notify the Claimant that the Claim has been denied. Notice of the decision shall be in writing and shall be delivered to the Claimant either personally or by first-class mail. Special circumstances may require an extension of time for processing the Claim. In no event shall such extension exceed a period of ninety (90) days from the end of the initial ninety (90) day period.

In the event a Claim is denied in whole or in part, the notice of denial shall set forth (i) the specific reason or reasons for the denial, (ii) specific reference to the pertinent Plan provisions on which the denial is based, (iii) a description of any additional material or information necessary for the Claim and an explanation of why such material or information is necessary, and (iv) an explanation of the Plan's claim review procedure.

Within sixty (60) days of the receipt of a notice of denial of a Claim in whole or in part, a Claimant or his duly authorized representative (i) may request a review upon written application to the Committee, (ii) may review documents pertinent to the Claim, and (iii) may submit issues and comments in writing to the Committee. Notice shall be deemed to be received when delivered if delivered personally pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this Section XXIV. or three (3) days after it has been deposited post-paid in a depository maintained by the U.S. Post

36

Office addressed to Claimant at the address designated by him in the Claim or if Claimant has moved at the last address shown for Claimant on Employer's records.

It shall be the duty of the Committee to review a Claim for which a request for review has been made and to render a decision not later than one hundred twenty (120) days after receipt of a request for review. The decision shall be in writing and shall include the specific reasons for the decision and specific references to the pertinent Plan provisions on which the decision is based. The decision shall be delivered to the Claimant either personally or by first-class mail.

XXV. TOP-HEAVY RULE

- A. Notwithstanding any provision in the Plan to the contrary, if the Plan is determined by the Committee to be top-heavy, as that term is defined in section 416 of the Code, in any calendar year, then for that calendar year the minimum benefit rule, as set forth below, shall be applicable. Determination of whether the Plan is top-heavy shall be made in accordance with the definition of "top heavy group" as set forth in Section XXV.B.7. hereof.
- B Definitions solely applicable to this Section XXV.
 - 1. "Compensation" shall mean the amount reportable by the Employer for federal income tax purposes as wages paid to the Member for such period.
 - 2. "Determination Date" the date for determining whether the Plan is top-heavy, shall be the December 31 of the preceding year.
 - 3. "Key Employee" shall have the same meaning as in section 416(i)(1) of the Code.
 - 4. "Non-Key Employee" shall mean an employee other than a Key Employee as defined in Section XXV.B.3. hereof.
 - 5. "Valuation Date," for minimum funding purposes, shall be a date within the twelve (12) month period ending on the Determination Date, regardless of whether a valuation for minimum funding purposes is performed in that year.
 - 6. "Aggregation group" shall mean (I) each plan of the Employer in which a Key Employee is a participant and (II) each other plan of the Employer which enables any plan described in (I) above to meet the nondiscrimination tests and minimum participation rules of sections 401(a)(4) and 410 of the Code.
 - 7. "Top heavy group" shall mean any aggregation group for which the sum (as of the determination date) of (I) the present value of the cumulative

accrued benefits for key employees under all defined benefit plans included in such group, and (II) the aggregate of the accounts of key employees under all defined contribution plans included in such group, exceeds 60% of a similar sum determined for all employees.

- C. For the purpose of determining whether this Plan is top-heavy, this Plan and the Company's Retirement Annuity Plan shall be considered an aggregation group, as defined in Section XXV.B.6. hereof.
- D. Minimum Benefit solely applicable to this Section XXV. No Employer Contributions in addition to those made under Section VI. hereof shall be credited the Account of a Non-Key Employee who is a Member of the Plan, if this Plan becomes top-heavy. However, in such event, the actuarial equivalent of the value of all Employer Matching Contributions under this Plan whether or not attributable to years in which the Plan is top-heavy, shall be applied as an offset against the minimum annual benefit provided under Section 16 of the Company's Retirement Annuity Plan.
- E. If the Plan becomes subject to the adjustments pursuant to section 416(h) of the Code, the defined benefit plan fraction described in section 415(e)(2)(B) of the Code and the defined contribution fraction described in section 415(e)(3)(B) of the Code shall be applied by substituting 1.0 for 1.25 in the denominator of each fraction.

XXVI. LOAN PROVISIONS

Upon the request of a Member in active service and in accordance with rules and procedures approved by the Committee, the Committee shall direct the Trustee to lend to the Member an amount not in excess of the lesser of (i) \$50,000, reduced by the excess, if any, of the highest outstanding balance of any other such loans to such Member during the previous twelve (12) months, over the outstanding balance of loans from the Plan on the date on which such loan is made, or (ii) one-half (1/2) of the balance of such Member's Account, determined as of the most recent Value Determination Date. In no event shall any loan be made pursuant to this Section XXVI. in an amount less than \$1,000. The terms of any loan granted under this Section XXVI. shall be evidenced by a promissory note signed by the Member. Each loan made hereunder shall be an investment of the Member's Account over which such Member has exercised investment control and any such loan shall be made first from the Member's Qualified Deferred Earnings Contributions and the earnings thereon until they are exhausted, then from his Employer Matching Contributions and the earnings thereon until they are exhausted and finally from his After-Tax Contributions and the earnings thereon.

Except as otherwise provided in this Section XXVI., the terms of any loan granted by the Committee shall be arrived at by mutual agreement between the Member and the Committee; provided, however, that the term of any loan in no event shall exceed five (5) years from the day

38

on which the loan is granted. Notwithstanding the foregoing, loans used to acquire any dwelling unit which is to be used (determined at the time the loan is made) as the principal residence of the Member may be for a term in excess of five (5) years. Repayment of loans shall be made in accordance with a definite repayment schedule as selected by the Member in accordance with the foregoing provisions of this Section XXVI., provided that repayment is made in substantially level amounts, no less frequently than quarterly. Repayments, together with the attendant interest payments, will be credited to the Member's Account and shall be invested in the Funds, in accordance with the Member's then effective investment election, except to the extent that the source of the loan was Employer Matching Contributions (Fund M (the Company Common Stock Fund), or the Pfizer Common Stock Fund as an employer matching contribution), in which case repayments shall be credited to Fund M, to the extent the source of the loan was Employer Matching Contributions. If a Member fails to pay an installment of his loan such loan will be in default as of the date which is ninety (90) days after the date such installment was first due in accordance with the repayment schedule as originally selected by the Member. Upon default, the outstanding loan will be deemed a distribution from the Plan. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Section XXVI. to the contrary, any Member who defaults on a loan from the Plan shall not again be eligible for a loan hereunder.

Any loan granted by the Committee shall be adequately secured by collateral of sufficient value to secure repayment of the principal balance of the loan, plus interest. The collateral may consist of a portion of the Member's interest in his Account, but in no event may more than one-half (1/2) of the Member's interest in his Account be used as collateral for a loan. As additional security for the loan repayment, the Committee shall require the Member to authorize, in writing, the Company to withhold from payments of his salary the amount necessary to discharge the loan. In such case, the Company shall then remit the withheld amounts to the Trustee, and the Trustee shall apply the remittances in reduction of the outstanding obligation of the Member under the loan. If any amount remains outstanding as an obligation of the Member under the loan when a distribution is to be made from his Account under the Plan, including a distribution on account of termination of employment, then, notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, the balance of his Account shall be reduced to the extent necessary to discharge the obligation and such action shall be considered a distribution from the Plan.

All loans shall bear a rate of interest commensurate with the interest rates charged by persons in the business of lending money for loans which would be made under similar circumstances, as determined by the Committee, which rate will remain in effect for the term of the loan. Each loan applicant shall receive a statement clearly setting forth the charges involved in the loan transaction, including the dollar amount and effective annual interest rate.

Notwithstanding anything in this Section XXVI. to the contrary, a Member may, at any time and in his sole discretion, repay in full the outstanding amount of any loan previously granted under this Section XXVI. Only one (1) loan may be outstanding at any time.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Member who has an outstanding loan and is absent from employment as a result of a qualified leave of absence may elect, in accordance with rules and procedures approved by the Committee, to suspend payments of principal and interest on his loan

39

for a period not to exceed one (1) year. Any such suspension will neither change the total amount of principal and interest due under the original term of the loan nor change the term of the loan as originally selected by the Member. Upon the expiration of the approved period of suspension of payments, installment payments will resume under a revised repayment schedule based on the outstanding principal and interest and the remaining term of the loan.

To the extent required by law and in accordance with rules and procedures approved by the Committee, loans shall be made on a reasonable equivalent basis to any beneficiary or former Member (i) who maintains an Account balance under the Plan and (ii) who is still a party-in-interest (within the meaning of section 3(14) of ERISA) with respect to the Plan.

40

SCHEDULE A

Groups or Classes eligible for participation in the Savings and Investment Plan (except in each case employees covered by a collective bargaining agreement that does not provide for coverage of such employees under the Plan if there is evidence that retirement benefits were the subject of good faith bargaining):

- 1. All employees in the service of Minerals Technologies Inc.
- 2. All employees in the service of the following Associate Companies:

Barretts Minerals Inc.

Specialty Minerals Inc.

MINTEQ International Inc.

Specialty Minerals (Michigan) Inc.

Specialty Minerals Mississippi Inc.

Synsil Products Inc.

MINERALS TECHNOLOGIES INC.

RETIREMENT

ANNUITY

PLAN

(As amended and restated effective April 25, 2001

with certain earlier effective dates)

Minerals Technologies Inc.

Retirement Annuity Plan

(As amended and restated effective April 25, 2001 with certain earlier effective dates)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
SECTION 1	Definitions	1
SECTION 2	Eligibility for Membership	5
SECTION 3	Service Credited Under Plan	5
SECTION 4	Benefits to Employees	7
SECTION 5	Contributions	19
SECTION 6	Funding the Plan	19
SECTION 7	Administration of the Trust Fund - The Trust Agreement	20
SECTION 8	Committees	20
SECTION 9	Amendments and Changes in Plan and Coverage	24
SECTION 10	Non-Alienation of Benefits	24
SECTION 11	Associate Companies	24
SECTION 12	Withdrawal from Plan	25
SECTION 13	Termination of Plan	25
SECTION 14	Plan Mergers and Consolidations	27
SECTION 15	Claims Procedure	27
SECTION 16	Top-Heavy Rule	29
SCHEDULE A		
SCHEDULE B		
SCHEDULE C		
SCHEDULE D		

MINERALS TECHNOLOGIES INC. RETIREMENT ANNUITY PLAN

SECTION 1

Definitions

Wherever used in this Plan:

- a. "Anniversary Year" means 1) the twelve-month period following the date on which an Employee first begins his employment with an Employer, as well as successive twelve-month periods thereafter, and 2) the twelve-month period following the date on which an Employee returns to the employ of the Company or an Associate Company after incurring a One-Year Break in Service, as well as successive twelve-month periods thereafter. No Anniversary Year shall be credited for purposes of vesting unless in such anniversary year the Employee has completed 1,000 or more Hours of Service for an Employer.
 - b. "Annuitant" means a person receiving annuity payments under this Plan.
 - c. "Annuity Trust Fund" means the trust fund created by the Company to finance annuities under this Plan.
- d. "Associate Company" means any corporation of which the Company owns directly or indirectly at least 80% of the issued and outstanding shares of stock, which, with the consent of the Company adopts this Plan and executes the Trust Agreement pursuant to the provisions of Section 11 hereof, and when action is required to be taken hereunder by an Associate Company such action shall be authorized by its Executive Committee or its Board of Directors.
 - e. "Career Earnings" means the Member's aggregate Earnings during his period of Creditable Service, except that
- (1) his Earnings for each calendar year prior to 1998 shall be the average of the Member's Earnings during the five consecutive calendar years prior to 1998 during which he rendered Creditable Service which yield the highest average, provided his Earnings [for any year] are not reduced thereby; and
- (2) only his Earnings during his last 35 years of Creditable Service shall be counted; provided that, such a calculation shall not lessen said Member's Career Earnings below the result of a prior calculation.
 - f. "Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as from time to time amended.
- g. "Company" means Minerals Technologies Inc., a Delaware corporation, and any successor corporation and when action is required to be taken hereunder by the Company, such

action shall be authorized by the Executive Committee or the Board of Directors of the Company.

- h. "Disability Leave Status" means the status of a Member who has been determined, pursuant to Section 4e. hereof, to be totally and permanently disabled and who has fully utilized his benefits under the Employer's short-term disability program.
- i. "Earnings" means the actual salary, wages, bonus, or other remuneration earned by an Employee from an Employer for his service with the Employer, as determined by such Employer, provided that no part of the cost of any employee benefit, including without limitation stock options, perquisites and group insurance, or of any expense reimbursement, including without limitation, relocation costs, or of any remuneration received in the form of salary continuance or lump sum severance by an Employee while no longer providing services to the Company shall constitute earnings hereunder. No part of any bonus or other remuneration forming part of the compensation of any Employee shall be used as a basis for a Retirement Annuity under this Plan, if such bonus should cause such annuity to become discriminatory under the applicable provisions of the Code. In the case of a Member formerly employed by Pfizer Inc. or any of its subsidiaries, ("Pfiz er'), "Earnings" shall include any such earnings from Pfizer to the extent that Pfizer has transferred the accumulated benefit obligation of such person under the Pfizer Inc. Retirement Annuity Plan (the "Pfizer Plan") to the Company under the terms and conditions of the Reorganization Agreement between Pfizer Inc. and Minerals Technologies Inc. dated as of September 28, 1992.

With respect to Plan Years ending on or before December 31, 1993, a Member's Earnings shall not include any amounts in excess of \$200,000 (as adjusted by the Secretary of the Treasury, or his delegate, at the same time and in the same manner as under section 415(d) of the Code to reflect cost of living increases).

In addition to other applicable limitations set forth in the Plan, and notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan to the contrary, for Plan Years beginning on or after January 1, 1994, the annual Earnings of each Employee taken into account under the Plan shall not exceed the OBRA '93 annual compensation limit. The OBRA'93 annual compensation limit is \$150,000, as adjusted by the Commissioner for increases in the cost-of-living in accordance with section 401(a)(17) (B) of the Code. The cost-of-living adjustment in effect for a calendar year applies to any period, not exceeding 12 months, over which Earnings is determined (determination period) beginning in such calendar year. If a determination period consists of fewer than 12 months, the OBRA'93 annual compensation limit will be multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of months in the determination period, and the denominator of which is 12. For Plan Years beginning on or after January 1, 1994, any reference in this Plan to the limitation under section 401(a)(17) of the Code shall mean the OBRA'93 annual compensation limit set forth in this provision. For this purpose, for determination periods beginning before the first day of the first Plan Year beginning on or after January 1, 1994, the OBRA'93 annual compensation limit is \$150,000.

j. "Employee" means a person who is (1) included in a group or class designated by the Company as eligible for membership in the Plan and (2) is in the service of an Employer within the United States of America or is a United States citizen in the service of an Employer

service of a foreign subsidiary (including foreign subsidiaries of such foreign subsidiary) of the Company shall be considered, for all purposes of this Plan, as employed in the service of the Company if (x) the Company has entered into an agreement under section 3121(1) of the Code which applies to the foreign subsidiary of which such person is an employee and (y) contributions under a funded plan of deferred compensation, whether or not a plan described in section 401(a), 403(a), or 405(a), of said Code, are not prov ided by any other person with respect to the remuneration paid to such individual by the foreign subsidiary. The groups and classes designated by the Company are set forth in Schedule A.

- k. "Employer" means the Company or any Associate Company. For purposes of sections 410 and 411 of the Code, "Employer" also shall mean any corporation or other trade or business that is treated under the first sentence of section 414(b) or under section 414(c) of the Code as constituting the same "employer" as the Company or an Associate Company, with respect to any period of such affiliated status.
- l. "Hours of Service" means all hours for which an Employee is directly or indirectly paid, or entitled to payment (including back pay for periods for which such awards pertain), by an Employer (or any company which is a member of the same controlled group of corporations, within the meaning of section 1563(a) of the Code as the Employer or any trade or business whether or not incorporated which is under common control of an Employer as determined under regulations prescribed under section 414 of the Code at the time of such service) for the performance of duties, or for reasons other than the performance of duties, such as vacation, accident, injury, sickness, short-term disability or authorized leave of absence. The Plan shall use the equivalency method for determining Hours of Service credited to an Employee based on months of employment determined in accordance with Department of Labor Regulations Section 2530.200b-3(e)(1) (iv). An Employee shall be credited with 190 Hours of Service if under this Section 1. such Employee would be credited with at least one Hour of Service during a month. In the case of a payment which is made or due on account of a period during which an Employee performs no duties, Hours of Service will be determined in accordance with Department of Labor Regulations Section 2530.200b-2(b) and (c).
- m. "Leased Employee" means any person performing services for an Employer as a leased employee pursuant to an agreement with a leasing organization who shall for purposes of the Plan continue to be an employee of such leasing organization, and not of an Employer, notwithstanding amendments to the Code which require that such person may have to be counted as an employee of an Employer in order to perform certain plan qualification tests as contained therein.
 - n. "Member" means an Employee or former Employee to whom an annuity is credited under the Plan.

3

- o. "One-Year Break in Service" shall be an Anniversary Year in which the Member does not perform more than five hundred Hours of Service.
- p. "Plan" means this Minerals Technologies Inc. Retirement Annuity Plan.
- q. "Plan Year" means (i) the period beginning October 22, 1992, the effective date of the Plan, and ending December 31, 1992, and (ii) each 12 month period thereafter commencing on January 1 and ending on December 31 while the Plan is in effect.
- r. "Primary Social Security Benefit" means the annual amount available to the Member at age 65, or later if the Employee shall retire after age 65, under the Old Age Insurance provisions of Title II of the Social Security Act in effect at the time of his termination of employment, without regard to any increases in the wage base or benefit levels that take effect after the date of termination of employment, subject to the following: if any Employee terminates service prior to age 65, his Primary Social Security Benefit shall be estimated by assuming continuation of his Earnings until age 65 at the same rate in effect at termination of employment; provided however, that, if the Employee Retires pursuant to Section 4d.(ii), his Primary Social Security Benefit shall be estimated by assuming that he will not receive any income after retirement which would be treated as wages for purposes of the Social Security Act. The Retirement Committee may adopt rules g overning the computation of such amounts, and the fact that an Employee does not actually receive such amount because of failure to apply or continuance of work, or for any other reason, shall be disregarded. Notwithstanding the foregoing, actual salary history will be used to calculate the Primary Social Security Benefit if this will result in a larger benefit under the Plan for the Employee, but only if documentation of such history is provided by the Employee within two years after the later of his termination of employment or the date the Employee receives notice of his benefits under the Plan.
- s. "Retire" means to terminate service by a Member who is an Employee in the service of an Employer after meeting the requirements of Sections 4a., b. or d., respectively, for normal retirement, late retirement or early retirement hereunder.
 - t. "Retirement Annuity" means the payments made pursuant to Section 4a., b. or d. of the Plan to retired Members or their beneficiaries.
 - u. "Trustee" means the trustee appointed by the Company pursuant to Section 7.
 - v. "Vest" means to acquire, in accordance with the express provisions of the Plan, a nonforfeitable interest in an annuity under the Plan.
 - w. "Vested Annuity" means the payments made pursuant to Section 4c. of the Plan.

Wherever used in this Plan, the masculine pronoun shall include the feminine pronoun and the feminine pronoun shall include the masculine and the singular includes the plural and the plural includes the singular.

4

SECTION 2

Eligibility for Membership

- a. Employees of the Company: All persons who were Employees of the Company on October 22, 1992, shall be included in the membership of the Plan as of October 22, 1992. All persons who become Employees of the Company on or after October 22, 1992 shall become Members of the Plan as of the date of their employment, subject to Section lj. hereof.
- b. Employees of Associate Companies: Subject to Section lj. hereof, whenever a corporation becomes an Associate Company, all Employees who are in the service of such corporation on the date it becomes an Associate Company become Members of the Plan as of such date and all Employees who enter the service of a corporation after it has become an Associate Company become Members of the Plan as of the date of employment.

c. Leased Employees: No Leased Employee shall be eligible to become a Member of the Plan. However, if a leased employee becomes an Employee of the Company, all years of service completed while a Leased Employee shall be credited solely for purposes of vesting pursuant to Section 4c. of the Plan but shall not be deemed to be Prior Service within the meaning of Section 3a.

SECTION 3

Service Credited Under Plan

- a. Prior Service: Service rendered by a person who is in the service of an Employer, before the date on which he becomes a Member, who continues in service on and after the date he becomes a Member, shall be known as "Prior Service" except as provided in Section 4a. and Section 11.
 - b. Membership Service: Service rendered by an Employee for an Employer after the date he becomes a Member shall be known as "Membership Service."
- c. Special Service: Service rendered outside the United States by a person employed by a corporation which is a subsidiary or affiliate of the Company, but not an Associate Company, at the time of such service (1) before the date on which he becomes a Member, who continues in service on and after the date he becomes a Member, or (2) during a period of interrupted Membership Service followed by a return to such service, shall be known as "Special Service."
- d. Creditable Service: Membership Service plus Prior Service and Special Service, if any, shall be known as "Creditable Service" under the Plan. A Member shall be credited with a full year of Creditable Service under the Plan only if he completes at least 1,000 Hours of Service within an Anniversary Year and no fractional years will be credited under the Plan; provided, however, that for purposes only of 1) determining the Social Security calculation used in Section 4a.2 and 2) determining a Member's Career Earnings, and his eligibility for early retirement under clauses (i) and (ii) of Section 4d. below, the Member's Creditable Service shall be determined on the basis of his number of months of Membership Service plus

5

Prior Service and Special Service without regard to whether he completes at least 1,000 Hours of Service within an Anniversary Year. "Creditable Service" shall include any service credited to a Member under the Pfizer Plan for a Member who is employed by the Company or any of its subsidiaries on October 22, 1992 and who was an active participant in the Pfizer Plan immediately prior to such date. Creditable Service for purposes of benefit accrual shall not be granted under the prior sentence until there is a transfer of assets from the Pfizer Plan to the Plan attributable to benefits accrued by Members under the Pfizer Plan. "Creditable Service," for purposes of Section 4c., shall include each full year of service for the period during which a Member was employed by Zedmark Refractories Corporation and/or Zedmark, Inc. prior to October 3, 1989, except if such Member was covered at such time by a collective bargaining agreement that did not provide for coverage of such Member under the P fizer Plan. "Creditable Service" for purposes of benefit accrual under the Plan shall include each full year of service for the period during which a Member was employed by Zedmark Refractories Corporation and/or Zedmark, Inc. prior to October 3, 1989, provided such number of full years of service may not exceed the number of full years of service the Member is employed by the Company after October 3, 1989; and provided, further, such Member was not covered, on October 3, 1989, by a collective bargaining agreement that did not provide for coverage of such Member under the Pfizer Plan. "Creditable Service", for purposes of Sections 4c. and 4d., shall include each full year of service for the period during which a Member was employed by Nalco Chemical Company prior to June 1, 1988, if such Member was a Transferred Employee, as defined in the Purchase Agreement dated June 1, 1988, between Quigley Company, Inc. and Pfizer Inc. as purchasers and Nalco Chemical Company as seller.

- e. Military Service: For the purpose of this Plan, those Employees who were in the service of the Armed Forces of the United States, at the time they would have become eligible for membership under the Plan except for such service, or who subsequently enlisted in the Armed Forces or were inducted into said Armed Forces, shall be credited with all the benefits under this Plan for service actually rendered to an Employer prior to their entrance into said Armed Forces, and shall be credited with time spent on active duty in said Armed Forces for the purposes of computing length of service and benefits payable under the Plan; provided that such Employees return to active service with an Employer within the time limits provided by law after their separation or discharge from active duty from said Armed Forces, having satisfactorily completed their period of training and service. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the case of any such military service up to 50 1 Hours of Service shall be credited under Section 11. for any single continuous period of such service. [What about earnings during period of military service?]
- f. Leave of Absence: Interruption of active service on account of leave of absence authorized by an Employer or transfer on Special Service shall not be considered termination of service. Time spent on authorized leave of absence shall be credited for the purpose of computing length of service and benefits payable under the Plan on the following basis: Members shall receive credit for each full year spent on authorized leave of absence for each full year of Creditable Service that they render to an Employer following return to active service, except that time spent on authorized leave of absence for medical reasons shall be credited without requirement of subsequent Creditable Service and time spent on civic leave shall be credited upon return to active service. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the case of Maternity/Paternity Leave, as defined below, up to 501 Hours of Service shall be credited in the Anniversary Year in which the Maternity/Paternity Leave begins, if the Employee would otherwise have incurred a One-Year Break in Service in that Anniversary Year, otherwise up to 501 Hours of Service shall be credited in the

6

following Anniversary Year to prevent a One-Year Break in Service. Maternity/ Paternity Leave means an absence from work (1) by reason of the pregnancy of an Employee, (2) by reason of the birth of a child of an Employee, (3) by reason of the placement of a child with the Employee in connection with the adoption of the child, or (4) for the purposes of caring for the child during the period immediately following the birth or placement for adoption.

- g. Termination of Service: On termination of service, and after he has subsequently incurred a One-Year Break in Service, a person shall forfeit all credit for service previously credited under the Plan unless
 - (1) He is reemployed within five years after his termination of service; or
 - (2) He is reemployed after his termination of service and thereafter completes at least 24 consecutive months of Creditable Service; or
 - (3) He is eligible to receive a Retirement Annuity or a Vested Annuity under Section 4c.; or
- (4) He is reemployed before the number of consecutive One-Year Breaks in Service equals or exceeds the greater of (a) five consecutive One-Year Breaks in Service or (b) the aggregate number of Anniversary Years credited for vesting under the Plan prior to such termination and thereafter completes at least one such

Anniversary Year.

If a reemployed Employee does not forfeit his service credit as provided above, for purposes only of determining his "Career Earnings," the last calendar year in which he rendered Creditable Service shall be treated as being consecutive with the first calendar year in which he renders Creditable Service after his reemployment.

h. General: For the purpose of this Plan, length of service shall be computed in accordance with the employment records of the Company or Associate Company, or of a subsidiary or affiliated corporation of either, as the case may be. No Employee may voluntarily terminate his status as an active Member in the Plan during his period of employment.

SECTION 4

Benefits to Employees

a. Normal Retirement: Each Member who attains his normal retirement date, i.e., age 65, shall be eligible for normal retirement as of the first day of the month following, and if permitted under the provisions of the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, as amended, and other applicable law, shall be retired as of the first day of the month following.

7

Upon normal retirement, a Member shall receive a Retirement Annuity, subject to the provisions of and payable in the form described in Section 4f. hereof, which shall accrue and be equal to the greater of:

- (1) 1.4 per cent of his Career Earnings; or
- (2) 1.75 per cent of his Career Earnings, less 1.50 per cent of his Primary Social Security Benefit multiplied by his years of Creditable Service, but in no event more than 35 years.

Unless otherwise provided under the Plan, each section 401(a)(17) Employee's accrued benefit under this Plan will be the greater of the accrued benefit determined for such Employee under (a) or (b) below:

- (a) the section 401(a)(17) Employee's accrued benefit determined with respect to the benefit formula applicable for the Plan Year beginning on or after January 1, 1994, as applied to such Employee's total years of Creditable Service taken into account under the Plan for the purposes of benefit accruals, or
 - (b) the sum of:
 - (i) the section 401(a)(17) Employee's accrued benefit as of the last day of the last Plan Year beginning before January 1, 1994, frozen in accordance with Section 1.401(a)(4)-13 of the Treasury Regulations, and
 - (ii) the section 401(a)(17) Employee's accrued benefit determined under the benefit formula applicable for the Plan Year beginning on or after January 1, 1994, as applied to such Employee's years of Creditable Service for Plan Years beginning on or after January 1, 1994, for purposes of benefit accruals.

A section 401(a)(17) Employee means an Employee whose current accrued benefit as of a date on or after the first day of the first Plan Year beginning on or after January 1, 1994, is based on Career Earnings for a year beginning prior to the first day of the first Plan Year beginning on or after January 1, 1994, that exceeded \$150,000.

- (1) In the case of any group or class which is designated as eligible for membership in the Plan, an Employer may limit the Prior Service of persons included in such group or class to service rendered on and after a date to be determined by the Employer.
- (2) Except in the case of a person in the service of a corporation which becomes an Associate Company, the Prior Service benefits of any Employee who is a Member of the Plan, but who was absent from his Employer during all or part of the calendar year next preceding the date he becomes a Member, because of sickness, disability, service in the Armed Forces of the United States, or like reasons beyond his control, and who entered the service of his Employer prior to such calendar year, shall be computed by crediting to him as Earnings for such calendar year -

8

- (i) All Earnings actually received by such Employee in such calendar year before or after the period of absence from his Employer, and
- (ii) The Earnings he would have received in such calendar year during the period of absence based on a forty-hour week at his straight-time rate of pay at the time of leaving his Employer and any increased rate to which he would have been entitled as a result of automatic length-of-service increases or a general increase, and any bonuses or other payments made in such calendar year during such period of absence to which he would normally have been entitled.
- b. Late Retirement: In the event that a Member remains in service after attainment of his normal retirement date, he may retire on his own application setting forth a date for retirement which shall be the first of the month not less than 30 days following the filing of the application.
- c. Vesting: Upon the completion of five Anniversary Years of Creditable Service, a Member shall acquire a nonforfeitable right to receive, after his termination and at his election, a Vested Annuity in an amount computed as follows: either (i) at age 65, a Retirement Annuity computed as provided in Section 4a. hereof, or (ii) prior to age 65 but after age 55 (or age 50 if such annuity payments commence prior to January 1, 1994), an annuity which shall be computed by multiplying the Member's Retirement Annuity computed as provided in Section 4a. hereof by the applicable percentage set forth in Schedule B1 (or Schedule B2 if such annuity payments commence prior to January 1, 1994). The foregoing notwithstanding, the Vested Annuity payable to a Member who terminates employment on or after January 1, 1994, shall in no event be less than the annuity to which he would have been entitled had he terminated employment as of December 31, 1993, under the terms and conditions of the Plan as then in effect (the "1993 Annuity").

A Member who terminates employment on or after January 1, 1994, may elect to receive his 1993 Annuity, if any, prior to attaining age 55. If a Member makes such an election, the remaining portion of his Vested Annuity, if any, determined as of the date he elects to receive the 1993 Annuity and expressed as a benefit payable at age 65, shall be the amount obtained by subtracting the Member's 1993 Annuity from the product of his Retirement Annuity multiplied by the Actuarial Factor, and dividing the result thereof by the Actuarial Factor. For purposes of this computation, the "Actuarial Factor" shall mean the product of 40% multiplied by the actuarial equivalent value of an annual benefit of \$1 commencing at age 55, determined as of the date the Member begins to receive his 1993 Annuity. The remaining portion of the Vested Annuity so determined shall be payable under the terms and conditions of this Plan in effect at the Member's termination of employment.

A Member who terminates employment with a Vested Annuity accrued as of December 31, 1993 may elect to receive such amount accrued as of such date in any of the optional forms of benefit available to such Member as of December 31, 1993. If the amount of the vested portion of a Member's benefit at the time of the Member's termination of service is zero, the Member shall be deemed to have received a distribution of such zero vested interest in such benefit. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, a Member who is not otherwise vested, shall become vested upon attaining his normal retirement date, i.e., age 65.

9

- d. Early Retirement: Any Member may retire before the attainment of age 65 provided he has reached age 55 and (i) has 1 0 years or more of Creditable Service; or (ii) his attained age when added to his years of Creditable Service equals or exceeds 90. On early retirement, a Member shall receive a Retirement Annuity commencing at age 65, equal to the annuity to which his Creditable Service up to the date of his retirement would then produce, or, at his election made at any time prior to age 65, a Retirement Annuity commencing on the first day of any month following his earlier retirement and prior to age 65, which shall be computed by applying the percentages set forth in Schedule C hereof to the amount of the annuity computed in accordance with Section 4a.; provided that, if a Member's attained age when added to his years of Creditable Service equals or exceeds 90, his Retirement Annuity shall be computed by so applying the percentage set forth in Schedule D hereof.
- e. Disability Leave Status: Upon total and permanent disability as determined by a physician appointed by the Member's Employer or as determined under the Company's Long Term Disability Plan, a Member who has completed at least five years of Creditable Service will be eligible for Disability Leave Status. Such status may be terminated or suspended by the Retirement Committee if at any time before age 65 the Member again engages in regular full-time employment, fails or refuses to undergo any medical examination ordered by the Retirement Committee, or the Retirement Committee determines on the basis of medical examination that the Member has sufficiently recovered to engage in regular full-time employment. While on Disability Leave Status, a Member will be credited with Membership Service, and with Earnings at the same rate as he had earned in the calendar year prior to the calendar year in which he became totally and permanently disabled, until the Mem ber Retires, dies, reaches age 65, or his Disability Leave Status is sooner terminated or suspended.

f. Form of Benefit Payments:

(1) Normal Form: If a Member is married on the date his benefits commence, such Member shall receive a benefit payable in the form of a joint and survivor annuity which shall provide for an amount actuarially reduced from the amount computed under Section 4a. to be paid to the Member for his lifetime; and for an annuity in an amount equal to one-half of such reduced amount to be paid to the Member's spouse to whom he was married on the date his benefits commence, for her lifetime, if surviving at the time of the Member's death. The form of benefit shall also provide that if the Member dies after retirement but prior to the date on which his benefit becomes payable, his surviving spouse will nevertheless be entitled to receive the lifetime annuity to which she would otherwise be entitled beginning at the date that the Member's annuity would have become payable and under such circumstances, at her option, the surviving spouse may elect to have benefits commence prior to the date on which the Member's annuity would have become payable on an appropriately reduced actuarial basis. The benefit payable to the Member and his spouse shall have the equivalent actuarial value of the benefits determined under Section 4a. above. In lieu of said joint and survivor annuity, the Member may, in accordance with section 417 of the Code, elect in writing, with the written consent of his spouse, acknowledging the effect of such election and witnessed by a Plan representative or a notary public, at any time within 90 days prior to the commencement of his benefits, to receive his benefits in the form of a single annuity payable for his lifetime as computed under Section 4a. above, or may revoke any such election previously made by him.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a Member becomes divorced from his spouse after his benefits commence, such

10

Member may elect in writing to cancel such joint and survivor annuity and to receive his benefits thereafter in any form permitted under the Plan; provided that, (a) the Member obtains a valid written release, as determined by the Retirement Committee, from his former spouse releasing the Plan from any claim the former spouse may have against the Plan and (b) the Member's benefit is adjusted actuarially, including, but not limited to, adjustments for the value of benefits previously paid and for the value of the protection provided by the cancelled joint and survivor annuity while it was in effect.

Each vested Member upon his termination of service and each married Member within a reasonable period of time prior to his benefit commencement date shall receive a written explanation of the joint and survivor annuity form of benefit, the right to elect to waive such benefit and the consequences thereof, the right of the Member's spouse with respect thereto and the right to revoke such waiver and the consequences thereof, together with an explanation of the optional forms of retirement benefit available to the Member and a general explanation of the financial effect of the various optional forms of retirement benefit, including the joint and survivor retirement benefit and the straight life annuity. Such married Member may request additional information within 60 days thereafter, in which case the Retirement Committee shall within 30 days of such request furnish him with a written explanation of the additional information requested, in which case his dea dline for making such election and his benefit commencement date, if applicable, shall be postponed if necessary so that there is at least 60 days between the furnishing of such additional information and the expiration of the period during which he has the right to elect an optional form of benefit other than the joint and survivor annuity.

A Member who is not married at the time that his benefits commence will receive his benefits in the form of a single annuity payable for his lifetime as computed under Section 4a. above.

(1) Optional Forms: At any time at least 30 days and not more than 90 days prior to the commencement of his retirement benefits, a Member who is eligible for a Retirement Annuity under Section 4a., b., or d. of the Plan may, in accordance with section 417 of the Code, elect, with the written and witnessed consent of his spouse in the case of a married Member, to convert the benefits otherwise payable after retirement into a retirement benefit of equivalent actuarial value in accordance with one of the options named below, or may revoke any such election previously made by him; provided, however, that if one of the options named below shall be so elected and the other named person or persons shall die before the payment of any part of such benefit, then and in that event the benefit shall be restored to the amount of the Retirement Annuity as provided in Section 4a., b., or d. hereof, as if no such election had been made; and provided further, that if one of the options named below shall be so elected and the Member shall die before the date of his retirement then the election shall be of no effect and no payments shall be due under the option; and further provided that the Member may (with applicable spousal consent) waive the 30-day period described above

provided that payment of benefits commences at least 7 days after the notification of the optional benefits is provided to Member. Regardless of the form of payment, all distributions shall comply with section 401(a)(9) of the Code and the Treasury Regulations thereunder, including the minimum distribution incidental death benefit requirement of section 401(a)(9)(G) of the Code and the

11

Treasury Regulations thereunder, and such provisions shall override any Plan provisions otherwise inconsistent therewith.

Option 1: A reduced Retirement Annuity commencing at or after the Member's retirement payable during his life, with the provision that after his death it shall continue during the life of and shall be paid to the person (including his spouse) nominated by him by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Retirement Committee at the time such election is made, provided that if the Member dies after retirement but prior to the date on which his benefit becomes payable, his surviving beneficiary will nevertheless be entitled to receive such a lifetime annuity beginning at the date that the Member's annuity would have become payable and also provided that under such circumstances at his option, the surviving beneficiary may elect to have benefits commence prior to the date on which the Member's annuity would have become payable on an appropriately reduced actuarial basis.

Option 2: A reduced Retirement Annuity commencing at or after the Member's retirement payable during his life, with the provision that after his death an allowance of one-half the rate of his reduced allowance shall be continued during the life of, and it shall be paid to, the person, other than his spouse for whom this is the normal form of benefit provided in Section 4f.(1) above, nominated by him by written designation duly acknowledged and filed with the Retirement Committee at the time such election is made, provided that if the Member dies after retirement but prior to the date his benefit becomes payable, his surviving beneficiary will nevertheless be entitled to receive such a lifetime annuity beginning at the date that the Member's annuity would have become payable and also provided that under such circumstances, at his option, the surviving beneficiary may elect to have benefits commence prior to the date on which the Member's annuity would have become payable on an appropriately reduced actuarial basis.

Option 3: A retirement benefit in a single lump sum that shall be the actuarial equivalent of the benefit which would otherwise be payable to him, provided that such benefit must be elected by the Member prior to the date of his retirement.

- (1) A Member may, at the time he elects one of the options described above, name a second person, who, in the event the first named person shall die before the commencement of the annuity to the Member, shall acquire all the rights which the first named person would otherwise have had.
 - (2) Optional benefit payments shall commence at the end of the month following the month in which the last payment to the deceased annuitant was made.
- (3) Where a Member is entitled to or elects to receive a reduced retirement annuity commencing after the Member's retirement under which an allowance would have been paid to such Member's spouse or other beneficiary after the Member's death, and, prior to the date his benefit becomes payable, the Member elects any other form of benefit, then and in that event the benefit so payable on his account shall be reduced actuarially to reflect any cost attributable to the benefit earlier so provided to his spouse or other beneficiary as the case may be.

12

- (4) (a) Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to the contrary, the distribution of a Member's benefit who is not a 5-percent owner shall be made or must commence by the later of the April 1 next following the calendar year in which he reaches age 70-1/2 or retires. If a Member is a 5-percent owner, distribution of the Member's benefits under the Plan must commence no later than April 1 next following the calendar year in which he reaches age 70-1/2. A Member who is a 5-percent owner will be subject to the above distribution rights if he is a 5-percent owner at any time during the Plan Year ending with or within the calendar year in which he attains age 66-1/2 or any later Plan Year.
- (b) The amount of the minimum distributions required under this Section 4f.(6) shall be no less than the minimum amounts required under section 401(a)(9) of the Code and the Treasury Regulations issued thereunder based upon the annually adjusted life expectancy of an unmarried Member or the annually adjusted joint life expectancy of a married Member and his spouse, and shall be payable no less frequently than annually. After the initial benefit payment has been made, the amount of the succeeding benefit payments must be made by the end of each of the next following calendar years. As of each following January 1 the Member's benefit shall be adjusted to reflect any additional benefits accrued as of the immediately preceding December 31 and any additional accruals for any twelve consecutive month period shall be offset (but not below zero) by the actuarial value (determined in accordance with applicable law) of benefits received by the Member for such per iod.
 - (c) The minimum distribution payable to a Member will be distributed to him, at his election, either:
 - (I) as a single payment, or
- (II) over a period of time extending over the life of the Member or over the lives of the Member and his spouse (or designated beneficiary) or over a period not extending beyond the life expectancy of the Member or the life expectancy of the Member and his spouse (or designated beneficiary).
 - (d) With respect to minimum distributions payable to a spouse of a Member, the following distribution limitations shall apply:
- (I) Where distribution has commenced to the Member prior to his death, distribution to the surviving spouse shall be over a period that is no longer than the period under which the Member was receiving benefits;
- (II) Where distribution has not commenced to the Member at the time of his death, distribution to the surviving spouse shall begin no later than the date upon which the Member would have attained age 70 1/2, and shall be payable over the life of the surviving spouse or over a period not extending beyond the life expectancy of the surviving spouse. (If the surviving spouse dies before distribution of her benefit commences, the limitations applicable to the distribution of any benefit remaining payable under the Plan shall be determined hereunder as if the surviving spouse were the Member.)
- (e) With respect to minimum distributions payable to a designated beneficiary of a Member (other than the spouse), the following distribution limitations shall apply:

- (I) Where distribution has commenced to the Member prior to his death, distribution to the designated beneficiary shall be over a period that is no longer than the period under which the Member was receiving benefits;
- (II) Where distribution has not commenced to the Member at the time of his death, distribution to the designated beneficiary shall begin no later than one year after the date of the Member's death, or such later date as may be permitted by Treasury Regulations, and shall be payable over the life of the designated beneficiary or over a period not extending beyond the life expectancy of the designated beneficiary.
- (f) In all other cases where minimum distributions have not commenced to the Member at the time of his death, no benefit remaining payable under the Plan shall be distributed over a period that exceeds five years after the Member's death.
- g. Adjustment For Federal Old Age Benefits: If a Member who is eligible for a Retirement Annuity under Section 4a., b., or d. of the Plan retires before his Federal Old Age Benefit is payable, he may, at any time or from time to time, elect to have the retirement benefit otherwise payable after retirement to him for his lifetime under the normal form of benefit, or under an optional benefit payment, whichever is applicable, actuarially adjusted to provide, so far as practicable, a constant total retirement income inclusive of the estimated Federal Old Age Benefit, both before and after the Federal benefit is scheduled to begin.
- h. Benefits To Surviving Spouse: In the event a Member dies, after having become vested under the Plan, leaving a surviving spouse to whom the Member was legally married for one year or more prior to his death, an annuity at one-half the rate of the annuity which the Member would have been entitled to receive under Section 4f.(l) had he retired and commenced receipt of benefits as of the first of the month following the date of his death, if the Member was eligible for retirement at the time of his death, or an annuity at one-half the rate of the annuity which the Member would have been entitled to receive under Section 4f.(l) had he retired and commenced receipt of benefits on the date he first would have been eligible to do so, if the Member was not eligible for retirement at the time of his death, shall be paid to such spouse, commencing at the end of the month following the month in which the Member would have attained his normal retirement date or e arlier if the spouse so elects, but not earlier than the date the Member first would have reached age 55, as the case may be, for the life of such spouse.
- i. (1) All annuities shall be payable in monthly installments; provided that any annuity which has an actuarially computed present value at the time of termination of service which is less than \$3,500 [(\$5,000, effective as of January 1, 1997)] shall be paid in a lump sum of equivalent actuarial value. If the present value of the Member's benefit at the time of any distribution exceeds \$3,500 [\$5,000, effective as of January 1, 1997)], the present value of the Member's benefit at any subsequent time will be deemed to exceed \$3,500 [\$5,000, effective as of January 1, 1997)]. Monthly installment payments shall commence at the end of the month in which retirement occurs and continue until death. Full payment will be made for the month in which death occurs.
- (2) Each Member, or any person to whom a Retirement Annuity, Vested Annuity or other benefit under this Plan is payable, shall be responsible for providing the Retirement

Committee with any changes in his current address. If any person to whom a Retirement Annuity, Vested Annuity or other benefit under this Plan is payable shall not have provided evidence satisfactory to the Retirement Committee of his continued life and address for a period of two years after or during which such annuity or other benefit is payable, the Retirement Committee shall send by registered mail a notice addressed to such person at his last address known to the Committee describing the annuity or other benefit payable to him and stating that unless he communicates with the Committee within 30 days from the date of such notice, the Retirement Committee may suspend payments of the annuity or other benefit to such person while it causes an investigation to be made as to the continued life and address of such person.

- (3) If any person to whom a benefit is payable hereunder is an infant, or if the Retirement Committee determines that any person to whom a Retirement Annuity or other benefit is payable is incompetent by reason of physical or mental disability, the Committee shall have power to cause the payments becoming due to such person to be made to another for his benefit without responsibility of the Committee or the Trustee to see to the application of such payments. Payments made pursuant to such power shall operate as a complete discharge of the Annuity Trust Fund, the Trustee and the Retirement Committee.
- (4) Notwithstanding the other provisions of this Section, a Member who retires or becomes entitled to a Vested Annuity shall receive an annuity computed as provided for under the provisions of the Plan in effect on the date of his termination of service or retirement, except that: (a) effective for payments made under Section 4a., b., or d. of the Plan, the Retirement Annuity of a Member who was eligible for normal or late retirement under the Pfizer Plan prior to January 1, 1990, shall be increased by the greater of the increase attributable to (b) below or 10%, provided that any increase attributable to this Section (a) shall be a minimum of \$35 per month for any eligible Member who at retirement had either (i) completed at least 25 years of Creditable Service, or (ii) attained his normal retirement date and completed at least 10 years of Creditable Service; and (b) except for those Members who on and after January 1, 1994 el ect a retirement benefit in a single lump sum as described in Option 3 under Section 4f.(2) hereof, any change in the years used in calculating Career Earnings under Section le.(l) of the Plan that would improve the benefits payable to a Member who had retired prior to the effective date of such change or changes, shall be applied to calculate the Career Earnings of such Member.
- j. Limitation on Benefits: The annual benefit shall be defined and adjusted as provided in section 415(b)(2) of the Code and no annual annuity shall be payable in excess of (A) the lesser of the maximum dollar amount permitted by section 415(b)(1)(A) of the Code, or (B) 100% of the average earnings of the Member for the three consecutive calendar years which yield the highest average during which the Member was an active participant in the Plan, subject to the following conditions:
- (1) An annual benefit which is provided in a form other than a straight life annuity or a joint and survivor annuity described in section 417(b) of the Code shall be adjusted to an equivalent benefit in the form of a straight life annuity on the basis of reasonable actuarial assumptions permitted under the Code and an interest rate assumption equal to the greater of 5% or the interest rate used by the Plan to convert such straight life annuity into such other form of benefit;

15

(2) If an annual benefit begins before a Member's Social Security Retirement Age, but on or after age 62, the otherwise applicable dollar limitation shall be adjusted as follows: (a) if a Member's Social Security Retirement Age is 65, and benefits commence on or after age 62, the dollar limitation is reduced by 5/9 of one percent for each month by which the Member's annual retirement benefit begins before the month in which the Member attains age 65, and (b) if a Member's Social Security Retirement Age is greater than age 65, and benefits begin on or after age 62, the dollar limitation is reduced by 5/9 of one percent for each of the first 36 months and 5/12 of one percent for each additional month (up to 24 months) by which the Member's annual retirement benefit begins before the month in which the Member attains his Social Security Retirement Age.

- (3) If an annual retirement benefit begins before a Member attains age 62, the otherwise applicable dollar limitation shall be adjusted to the actuarial equivalent of a benefit commencing at age 62 using an interest rate assumption equal to the greater of 5% or the interest rate used by the Plan.
- (4) If an annual benefit begins after a Member's Social Security Retirement Age, the otherwise applicable dollar limitation shall be adjusted so that it is the actuarial equivalent of an annual benefit commencing at his Social Security Retirement Age using an interest rate assumption equal to the lesser of 5% or the interest rate used by the Plan;
- (5) An annual benefit which is attributable all or in part to employee contributions or rollover contributions (as defined in section 402(c), 403(a)(4) or 408(d) (3) of the Code) shall be reduced so that it will be the equivalent of an annual benefit derived solely from employer contributions; and
- (6) If any Member has completed (1) fewer than 10 years of participation in a defined benefit plan, the dollar limitation under Section 4j.(A) otherwise applicable to him shall be reduced by multiplying it by a fraction, the numerator of which is his years of participation in the Plan as of the close of the limitation year and the denominator of which is 10, and/or (2) fewer than 10 years of Creditable Service with the Employer, the limitations under Sections 4j.(A), 4j.(B) and 4j.(7) otherwise applicable to him shall be reduced by multiplying it by a fraction, the numerator of which is his years of Creditable Service as of the close of the limitation year and the denominator of which is 10.
- (7) Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Participant has never participated in any defined contribution plans, the adjustments set forth in this Section 4j shall not cause his annual benefit to be reduced below, if applicable, \$10,000 or such proportional amount thereof as shall be applicable because fewer than 10 years of Creditable Service have been completed.
- (8) Effective as of January 1 of each calendar year, the maximum annual dollar amount referred to in Section 4j.(A) shall increase to the maximum annual dollar amount as determined by the Secretary of the Treasury for such calendar year pursuant to section 415(d)(1)(A) of the Code. Notwithstanding Section 4i.(4), such increased maximum dollar amount shall also be applicable to Members who have retired under Section 4a., b., or d. of the Plan regardless of whether they have actually begun to receive such benefits.

- (9) With respect to a Member who was a participant in the Pfizer Plan before October 3, 1973, in lieu of the foregoing the maximum computed under this subsection shall be the annuity payable under the Pfizer Plan provision in effect as of October 2, 1973 based upon (a) his aggregate creditable earnings on such date plus (b) his rate of earnings under the Pfizer Plan in effect as of such date times his years of creditable service after such date.
- (I) The term "Social Security Retirement Age" means the social security retirement age as defined under section 415(b)(8) of the Code which shall mean age 65 in the case of a Member attaining age 62 before January 1, 2000 (i.e., born before January 1, 1938), age 66 for a Member attaining age 62 after December 31, 1999, and before January 1, 2017 (i.e., born after December 31, 1937, but before January 1, 1955), and age 67 for a Member attaining age 62 after December 31, 2016 (i.e., born after December 31, 1954).
 - (II) The term "limitation year' shall mean the calendar year.
- (10) The limitation of this Section with respect to any Member who at any time has participated in any other defined benefit plan maintained by an employer or by a corporation which is a member of a controlled group of corporations, within the meaning of section 1563(a), determined without regard to section 1563(a) (4) and (e)(3)(C), and section 415(h) of the Code, of which an Employer is a member, shall apply as if the total benefits payable under all defined benefit plans in which the Member has been a participant were payable from one plan.
- k. (1) The benefits provided under this Plan shall be reduced in the case of any Member or beneficiary under uniform rules adopted by the Committee, by the amount of any benefits payable to such Member or beneficiary under any other qualified non-government pension plan or program or any retirement or pension benefits payable to him under the laws of any foreign government, to the extent that the benefits payable under such other plan or program are based on service which is included in Prior Service, Membership Service or Special Service, hereunder, and are not attributable to contributions made to such other plan or program by the Member.
- (2) The benefits provided under this Plan shall be reduced, under uniform rules adopted by the Retirement Committee, in the case of any Member reemployed by an Employer to avoid duplication of any benefits previously paid by this Plan to such Member after a prior termination of service, provided that in no event shall any benefits provided under this Plan be payable during any period of reemployment. Such reduction shall not apply to the extent that the Member shall, upon reemployment, repay to the Trustee any amount received from the Trust with interest thereon compounded annually, at the rate to be determined by the Retirement Committee from the date or dates of receipt of such benefits to the date of repayment to the Trust.
- (3) Whenever the amount of a benefit under this Plan is to be determined by an actuarial procedure, the following interest rate and mortality assumptions will be used. In the case of annuity forms of benefit payments, the interest rate assumption shall be 7 1/2% per annum and the mortality assumption shall be based upon the latest Unisex Mortality Table prepared by the Plan's actuary and adopted by the Retirement Committee. In the case of the lump sum form of payment, (i) for Members who Retire prior to July 1, 1995, the interest rate

17

assumption shall be the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation discount rate for immediate annuities for the month three months prior to the month in which the Member Retires, and the mortality assumption shall be based upon the Mortality Tables specified by the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation with a unisex blend of 85% male and 15% female; and (ii) for Members who Retire on or after July 1, 1995, the interest rate assumption shall be the annual rate of interest on 30-year Treasury securities as specified by the Commissioner of the Internal Revenue Service for the full calendar month four months prior to the month in which the Member Retires, and the mortality assumption shall be based upon the mortality table prescribed under Section 417(e)(3)(A)(ii)(1) of the Code as in effect on the date on which the Member Retires.

l. Qualified Domestic Relations Order: Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to the contrary, the payment of any benefit to which a Member may be entitled under this Section 4 shall be subject to a qualified domestic relations order within the meaning of section 414(p) of the Code, the validity of which shall be determined pursuant to Section 8a.(3)(d).

- m. Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary that would otherwise limit a distributee's election under this Section, a distributee may elect, at the time and in the manner prescribed by the Retirement Committee, to have any portion of an eligible rollover distribution paid directly to an eligible retirement plan specified by the distributee in a direct rollover. In the event that the provisions of this Section 4m. or any part thereof cease to be required by law as a result of subsequent legislation or otherwise, this Section 4m. or applicable part thereof shall be ineffective without necessity of further amendment of the Plan.
- (1) The term "eligible rollover distribution" shall mean any distribution of all or any portion of the balance to the credit of the distributee, except that an eligible rollover distribution does not include: any distribution that is one of a series of substantially equal periodic payments (not less frequently than annually) made for the life (or life expectancy) of the distributee or the joint lives (or joint life expectancies) of the distributee and the distributee's designated beneficiary, or for a specified period of ten years or more; any distribution to the extent such distribution is required under section 401(a)(9) of the Code; and the portion of any distribution that is not includible in gross income (determined without regard to exclusion for net unrealized appreciation with respect to employer securities).
- (2) The term "eligible retirement plan" shall mean an individual retirement account described in section 408(a) of the Code, an individual retirement annuity described in section 408(b) of the Code, an annuity plan described in section 403(a) of the Code, or a qualified trust described in section 401(a) of the Code, that accepts the distributee's eligible rollover distribution. However, in the case of an eligible rollover distribution to the surviving spouse, an eligible retirement plan is an individual retirement account or individual retirement annuity.
- (3) The term "distributee" shall mean an Employee or former Employee. In addition, the Employee's or former Employee's surviving spouse and the Employee's or former Employee's spouse or former spouse who is the alternate payee under a qualified domestic relations order, as defined in section 414(p) of the Code, are distributees with regard to the interest of the spouse or former spouse.

(4) The term "direct rollover" shall mean a payment by the Plan to the eligible retirement plan specified by the distributee.

SECTION 5

Contributions

All of the Retirement Annuity payments provided under this Plan shall be financed entirely by means of contributions made by the Company and Associate Companies, subject to conditions set forth under Sections 9 and 12.

- a. Service Contributions: Subject to the future financial needs and condition of the business as determined by its Board of Directors and Section 6a, (i) it is the intention of the Company to continue the Plan and, within the time allowed by law for filing of its Federal income tax return for each fiscal year, to make regular contributions each year in such amounts as are necessary to maintain the Plan on a sound actuarial basis, and to meet minimum funding standards prescribed by any applicable law and (ii) upon transfer from Special Service to service with an Employer, appropriate contributions shall be made with respect to each Employee so transferred to provide the benefits for such Special Service.
- b. Actuarial Calculations: The Company shall adopt from time to time, service and mortality tables and the rates of interest to be used in actuarial calculations required in connection with the Plan. As an aid to the Company in adopting such tables the actuary designated by the Company shall from time to time submit recommendations to the Company as to possible changes affecting such tables. The actuary shall, in addition, make annual valuations of the contingent assets and liabilities of the Plan and establish the rate of Company contributions payable to the Plan.
- c. Continuation of Plan: Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, the continuation of this Plan and the payment of contributions are not assumed as contractual obligations of the Company or any other Employer.

SECTION 6

Funding the Plan

a. Trust Fund: All contributions made by an Employer to provide the benefits under this Plan shall be paid into the Annuity Trust Fund. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, any contribution by the Company to the Annuity Trust Fund is conditioned upon the deductibility of the contribution by the Company under the Code and, to the extent any such deduction is disallowed, the Company shall, within one year following the disallowance of the deduction, demand repayment of such disallowed contribution and the Trustee shall return such contribution within one year following the disallowance. Earnings of the Plan attributable to the excess contribution may not be returned to the Company, but any losses attributable thereto must reduce the amount so returned. The Annuity Trust Fund will be held and invested as described in the Trust Agreement, a brief description of the provisions of which is given in Section 7 hereof. No part of the Annuity Trust Fund may be used for, or diverted to, purposes other than for

19

the exclusive benefit of Employees or their beneficiaries, nor may any part of the Annuity Trust Fund be remitted to the Company, except as otherwise permitted under ERISA, provided, however, that the reasonable expenses of the Trustee in the administration of this trust as well as fees and other charges incurred for investment counseling and for actuarial services and expenses of the Retirement Committee and the Plan Assets Committee will be paid out of the Annuity Trust Fund.

b. Annuities: Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Retirement Committee or the Plan Assets Committee may provide for the funding of the payment of any benefits prescribed by the Plan through the purchase of immediate or deferred annuities, as the case may be, from any governmental agency or insurance company or companies, approved by the Company.

SECTION 7

Administration of the Trust Fund - The Trust Agreement

The Company has entered into a trust agreement with State Street Bank and Trust Company (the "Trust Agreement"), providing for the administration of the Annuity Trust Fund by that bank as Trustee thereof, which includes provisions with respect to the powers and authority of the Trustee (in its discretion and/or as

directed by an investment adviser appointed by the Plan Assets Committee) as to the investment and reinvestment of the Annuity Trust Fund and the income therefrom and provisions with respect to the administration of the Annuity Trust Fund, the limitations on the liability of the Trustee, authority of the Company to settle the accounts of the Trustee and of the Retirement Committee on behalf of all persons having any interest in the Annuity Trust Fund, and from time to time, to appoint a substitute, successor or additional Trustees, and that, with respect to any payments to or for the benefit of any employee or beneficiary under this Plan, the Tru stee shall follow the directions of the Retirement Committee. The Trust Agreement further provides that the Company shall have the right, from time to time, to modify or amend the Trust Agreement in whole or in part, provided that no such amendment shall divert any part of the Annuity Trust Fund to purposes other than the exclusive benefit of Employees or their beneficiaries; provided, however, that the reasonable expenses of the Trustee in the administration of this trust as well as fees and other charges incurred for investment counseling (including any investment adviser) and for actuarial services and expenses of the Retirement Committee and of the Plan Assets Committee will be paid out of the Annuity Trust Fund. The Trust Agreement shall be deemed to form a part of this Plan, and any and all rights or benefits which may accrue to any person under this Plan shall be subject to all the terms and provisions of said Trust Agreement.

SECTION 8

Committees

a. (1) Retirement Committee: This Plan is administered by a Retirement Committee consisting of at least three persons appointed by the Board of Directors of the Company. Members of the Retirement Committee may resign at any time upon due notice in writing. The

20

Board of Directors of the Company may remove any Retirement Committee Members and appoint others in their places. The Retirement Committee may act by a majority of its members.

(2) The Retirement Committee shall be the Plan Administrator and shall have fiduciary responsibility under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, for the general operation of the Plan, except that the Retirement Committee shall have no responsibility for or control over the investment of the Plan assets, other than the authority to provide for the purchase of annuities pursuant to Section 6b. of the Plan and to give written directions to the Trustee or Investment Advisor with respect to the liquidity requirements of the Plan. The Retirement Committee may appoint or employ, and compensate such persons as it deems necessary to render advice with respect to any responsibility of the Retirement Committee under the Plan. The Retirement Committee may allocate to any one or more of its members any responsibility it may have under the Plan and may designate any other person or persons to carry out any responsibility of the Retirement Committee under the Plan, other than its authority described above with respect to the retention of cash and the purchase of annuities. Any person may serve in more than one fiduciary capacity with respect to the Plan.

(3) Duties:

- (a) The Retirement Committee will determine the names of Annuitants and joint Annuitants and the amounts that are payable to them from the Annuity Trust Fund in accordance with the provisions of this Plan.
- (b) The Retirement Committee shall keep in convenient form such data as shall be necessary for actuarial valuations of the contingent assets and liabilities of the Plan and for checking the experience thereof.
- (c) The Retirement Committee shall determine the manner in which the funds of the Plan shall be dispensed including the form of voucher or waiver to be used in making disbursements and the due notification of persons authorized to approve and sign the same.
- (d) The Retirement Committee shall determine whether a judgment, decree or order, including approval of a property settlement agreement, made pursuant to a state domestic relations law, including a community property law, that relates to the provision of child support, alimony payments, or marital property rights of a spouse, former spouse, child, or other dependent of the Member is a qualified domestic relations order within the meaning of section 414(p) of the Code, and shall give the required notices and segregate any amounts that may be subject to such order if it is a qualified domestic relations order, and shall administer the distributions required by any such qualified domestic relations order.
- (4) Administration of Plan: The Retirement Committee is authorized to make such rules and regulations as may be necessary to carry out the provisions of the Plan and will determine any questions arising in the administration, interpretation and application of the Plan, which determination shall be conclusive and binding on all parties. The Retirement Committee is also authorized to provide for accelerated vesting and to purchase or arrange for payment of an appropriate annuity or any other form of payment or to permit the immediate distribution of Plan benefits in those cases involving groups of Employees involuntarily terminated, including, but

21

not limited to, cases involving groups of Employees who involuntarily cease to render Creditable Service due to a liquidation, sale, or other means of terminating the parent-subsidiary or controlled group relationship with an Employer or the sale or other transfer to a third party of all or substantially all of the assets used by the Employer in a trade or business conducted by the Employer, when the Retirement Committee determines that such action is appropriate to prevent inequities with respect to such Employees, and the determination of the Committee in such matters shall be conclusive and binding on all parties. Further, the Retirement Committee, upon the written request of the Company's Vice President-Organization and Human Resources, is authorized, with respect to a Member of the Plan who has five or more years of Creditable Service and who is transferred to the purchaser of a portion of the Company's operations, effective the day after the closing date of the sale, to grant additional Creditable Service and additional credit for age under the Plan, in each case up to one percent for each year of Creditable Service, and to advance the date through which a Member's Earnings are calculated pursuant to Section 1i. hereof, so as to prevent hardship with respect to his participation in said purchaser's pension plan. The Retirement Committee is also authorized to waive, either in whole or in part, the percentage reductions for early commencement of retirement benefits set forth in Section 4d. in those cases where groups of Employees have terminated employment either as a result of a reduction in the work force or for similar economic reasons, and, the determination of the Retirement Committee shall be conclusive and binding on all parties. The Retirement Committee is also authorized to adopt such rules and regulations as it may consider necessary or desirable for the conduct of its affairs and the transaction of its business, including, but not limited to, the power on the part of the Retirement Committee to act without formally convening and to provide that action of the Retirement Committee may be expressed by written instrument signed by a majority of its members. It shall elect a Secretary, who need not of necessity be a member of the Retirement Committee, who shall record the minutes of its proceedings and shall perform such other duties as may from time to time be assigned to him. The Retirement Committee may retain legal counsel (who may be counsel for the Company) when and if it be found necessary to do so and may also employ such other assistants, clerical or otherwise, as may be requisite, and expend such monies as may be requisite in their work. All of these expenses of the Retirement Committee and the reasonable expenses of the Trustee in the administration of the trust as well as for actuarial services will be paid out of the Annuity Trust Fund. In exercising such powers and authorities, the Retirement Committee shall at all times exercise good faith, apply standards of uniform application and refrain from arbitrary action.

b. (1) Plan Assets Committee: A Plan Assets Committee consisting of at least three persons appointed by the Board of Directors of the Company shall have exclusive authority and fiduciary responsibility under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, (i) to appoint and remove investment advisers, if any, under the Plan and the Trust Agreement, (ii) to direct the segregation of assets of the Annuity Trust Fund into an investment adviser account or accounts at any time, and from time to time to add to or withdraw assets from such investment adviser account or accounts as it deems desirable or appropriate and also to direct the Company's contribution or any portion thereof into any of the accounts maintained under the trust, (iii) to direct the Trustee to enter into an agreement or agreements with an insurance company or companies designated by the Plan Assets Committee as provided in the Trust Agreement, (iv) to establish investment g uidelines for areas other than those set forth above and, within such guidelines, to direct the Trustee to purchase and sell securities or to enter into one or more agreements with one or more companies, partnerships or joint ventures and to

22

transfer assets of the Annuity Trust Fund to such entities for purposes of investment therein; provided however, that, except as expressly set forth above, the Plan Assets Committee shall have no responsibility for or control over the investment of the Plan assets held in the Annuity Trust Fund established hereunder. In addition, the Plan Assets Committee shall receive the reports and recommendations of the actuary designated by the Company under Section 5b. hereof concerning actuarial assumptions to be adopted on subjects including, but not limited to, Employee turnover, rate of mortality, disability rate, ages at actual retirement, rate of pay increases, investment income and size of participant group, and make such recommendations and determinations based upon such reports and recommendations as it may deem necessary or appropriate. The Plan Assets Committee may appoint or employ such persons as it deems necessary to render advice with respect to any responsibility of the Plan Assets Committee under the Plan. The Plan Assets Committee may allocate to any one or more of its members any responsibility that it may have under the Plan and may designate any other person or persons to carry out any responsibility of the Plan Assets Committee under the Plan. Any person may serve in more than one fiduciary capacity with respect to the Plan. Members of the Plan Assets Committee may resign at any time upon due notice in writing. The Board of Directors of the Company may remove any Plan Assets Committee members and appoint others in their places. The Plan Assets Committee may act by a majority of its members.

- (2) The Plan Assets Committee is authorized to make such rules and regulations as may be necessary to carry out its duties under the Plan. The Plan Assets Committee is also authorized to adopt such rules and regulations as it may consider necessary or desirable for the conduct of its affairs and the transaction of its business, including, but not limited to, the power on the part of the Plan Assets Committee to act without formally convening and to provide that action of the Plan Assets Committee may be expressed by written instrument signed by a majority of its members. It shall elect a Secretary, who need not of necessity be a member of the Plan Assets Committee, who shall record the minutes of its proceedings and shall perform such other duties as may from time to time be assigned to him. The Plan Assets Committee may retain legal counsel (who may be counsel for the Company) when and if it be found necessary to do so and may also employ such other assistants, clerical or otherwise, as may be requisite, and expend such monies as may be requisite in their work. All of these expenses of the Plan Assets Committee as well as expenses for investment counseling will be paid out of the Annuity Trust Fund.
- c. To the extent permitted by law, the Retirement Committee, the Plan Assets Committee, the Boards of Directors of the Employers, and the Employers and their respective officers shall not be liable for the directions, actions or omissions of any agent, legal or other counsel, accountant or any other expert who has agreed to the performance of administrative duties in connection with the Plan or Trust. The Committees, the Boards of Directors of the Employers, and the Employers and their respective officers shall be entitled to rely upon all certificates, reports, data, statistics, analyses and opinions which may be made by such experts and shall be fully protected in respect to any action taken or suffered by them in good faith reliance upon any such certificates, reports, data, statistics, analyses or opinions; all action so taken or suffered shall be conclusive upon each of them and upon all persons having or claiming to have any interest in or under t he Plan.

23

d. Indemnification: Each member of the Retirement Committee and each member of the Plan Assets Committee shall be indemnified by the Company against all costs and expenses (including counsel fees but excluding any amount representing a settlement unless such settlement be approved by the Board of Directors of the Company) reasonably incurred by or imposed upon him, in connection with or resulting from any action, suit or proceeding, to which he may be made a party by reason of his being or having been a member of the Retirement Committee or the Plan Assets Committee, as applicable (whether or not he continues to be a member of such Committee at the time when such cost or expense is incurred or imposed), to the full extent permitted by law. The foregoing rights of indemnification shall not be exclusive of other rights to which any member of the Retirement Committee or the Plan Assets Committee may be entitled as a matter of law.

SECTION 9

Amendments and Changes in Plan and Coverage

The Company reserves the right in its sole and absolute discretion, through its Board of Directors in accordance with its established rules of procedure, at any time to modify, suspend or discontinue this Plan or the Annuity Trust Fund in whole or in part and to change the Trustee or the funding method.

The Retirement Committee may make administrative changes to the Plan so as to conform with or take advantage of governmental requirements, statutes or regulations.

SECTION 10

Non-Alienation of Benefits

No benefit payable under the provisions of the Plan shall be subject in any manner to anticipation, alienation, sale, transfer, assignment, pledge, encumbrance or charge, and any attempt so to anticipate, alienate, sell, transfer, assign, pledge, encumber or charge the same shall be void; nor shall any such benefits be in any manner liable for or subject to the debts, contracts, liabilities, engagements or torts of any Member or beneficiary except as specifically provided in the Plan, or by a qualified domestic relations order within the meaning of section 414(p) of the Code, or by any other applicable law.

SECTION 11

Associate Companies

a. Adoption of Plan: Any corporation or affiliate, with the consent of the Company, by taking appropriate corporate action may become an Associate Company and secure the benefits of this Plan for its employees by adopting this Plan as its Retirement Annuity Plan and by executing the Trust Agreement. As a condition to such corporation or affiliate becoming an Associate Company, the Company may require such corporation to modify or amend any pension plan which such corporation or affiliate may then have so as to conform to the provisions of this Plan, or to limit Prior Service, as defined in Section 3, to service rendered for

24

such corporation on and after a date to be determined by the Company. The Associate Company shall thereafter promptly deliver to the Trustee a certified copy of the resolutions or other documents evidencing its adoption of this Plan and also a written instrument showing the consent by the Company to such adoption.

- b. Employee Transfers: Any Employee who is transferred from one Employer under this Plan to another Employer under this Plan shall receive upon retirement a Retirement Annuity based on his Creditable Service with all such Employers.
- c. Withdrawal: The Company may upon thirty (30) days written notice request an Associate Company to withdraw from the Plan and upon the expiration of such thirty (30) day period, unless such Associate Company has taken the appropriate corporate action to accomplish such withdrawal, such Associate Company shall be deemed to have withdrawn from the Plan and the provisions of Section 12 shall apply. The Retirement Committee shall give written notice to the Trustee of any such withdrawal.

SECTION 12

Withdrawal from Plan

Any Employer may withdraw from the Plan by giving the Retirement Committee thirty (30) days written notice of its intention to withdraw. In the event any Employer withdraws from the Plan, the Retirement Committee shall thereupon determine, on the basis of actuarial valuation, that portion of the Annuity Trust Fund held on account of the Employees of such Employer not yet retired. The Retirement Committee in its discretion shall direct the Trustee either (1) to continue to hold such assets under this Plan on the date of such withdrawals; or (2) to deliver such assets to such trustee or trustees as shall be selected by such withdrawing Employer; or (3) to use such assets to purchase an appropriate retirement annuity for each Employee of such withdrawing Employer who was a Member on the date of such withdrawal.

SECTION 13

Termination of Plan

- a. Application of Funds: Upon complete or partial termination of the Plan, in accordance with the established rules of procedure of the Employer, the rights of all affected Members to affected benefits accrued to the date of such termination, to the extent then funded, shall be non-forfeitable. If the Plan is terminated by an Employer for any reason, the funds in the trust shall be used and applied by the Retirement Committee, after expenses, exclusively for the benefit of Members and Annuitants at the time of termination in accordance with the formula set forth below by either purchasing or arranging for payment of an appropriate annuity or any other form of payment approved by the Retirement Committee, and for no other purpose, and when so used and applied the trust shall finally cease and be at an end. The funds shall be allocated for distribution in the following order:
- (1) In the case of a benefit, payable as an annuity to a Member or beneficiary, which was in pay status as of the beginning of the three-year period ending on the termination date of

25

the Plan, to each such benefit, based on the provisions of the Plan (as in effect under the five-year period ending on such date) under which such benefit would be the least.

- (2) In the case of a benefit, payable as an annuity to a Member or beneficiary, which would have been in pay status as of the beginning of such three-year period if the Member had retired prior to the beginning of the three-year period and if his benefits had commenced (in the normal form of annuity under the Plan) as of the beginning of such period, to each such benefit based on the provisions of the Plan (as in effect during the five-year period ending on such date) under which such benefit would be the least.
- (3) To all other benefits, if any, of individuals under the Plan subject to the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation insurance guarantee and to any additional benefits to a substantial owner, as that term is defined in Section 4022(b)(5)(A) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, which would be subject to the guarantee but for their "substantial owner" status.
- (4) To all other non-forfeitable benefits under the Plan and, if the assets are not sufficient to cover all such remaining non-forfeitable benefits, then to the benefits resulting from the Plan as in effect five years prior to the date of termination, and if assets remain after satisfaction of such benefits, then to each increase in benefits resulting from amendments during the last five years in the order in which those amendments occurred.
 - (5) To all other benefits under the Plan.
- (6) In the event that there remain additional funds available for distribution after the funds have been distributed as provided in said paragraphs (1), (2), (3), (4) and (5) above, any other provisions of this Plan notwithstanding, any funds, remaining may be reclaimed by the Employer. Any of such funds remaining, but not reclaimed by the Employer, shall be distributed in such a manner that all the Annuitants and Members included in paragraphs (1), (2), (3), (4) and (5) above shall receive an additional amount determined by multiplying the total value of these remaining assets in the Annuity Trust Fund by a percentage computed by dividing the value as of the date of termination of such Annuitant's remaining benefits or such Member's benefits, as the case may be, by the total value as of the date of termination of the remaining benefits of all such Annuitants or Members under the Plan, as the case may be.

b. The provisions of this Section 13b. shall apply (a) in the event the Plan is terminated, to any Member who is a highly compensated employee or highly compensated former employee (as defined in section 414(q) of the Code) of an Employer and (b) in any other event, to any Member who is one of the twenty-five highest compensated Employees or former Employees of an Employer for a Plan Year. Notwithstanding the foregoing, for each Plan Year the Employer may elect to determine the status of highly compensated employees under the simplified snapshot method described in Internal Revenue Service Revenue Procedure 93-42 or, to the extent permitted by Treasury Regulations, on a calendar year basis. The amount of the annual payments under the Plan to any Member to whom this Section 13b. applies shall not exceed an amount equal to the payments that would be made under the Plan during the Plan Year on behalf of the Member under a single life annuity which is the actuarial equivalent to the sum of all of the Members accrued benefits under the Plan.

26

- c. The provisions of Subsection b. of Section 13 shall not apply if (a) the value of the benefits which would be payable under the Plan to a Member described in Subsection b. of Section 13 is less than one percent of the value of the current liabilities (as defined in section 412(l)(7) of the Code) under the Plan or (b) the value of the Plan's assets equals or exceeds, immediately after payment of a benefit under the Plan to such a Member, one hundred ten percent of the value of the current liabilities under the Plan.
- d. Notwithstanding the preceding provisions of Subsection b. of Section 13, in the event the Plan is terminated, the restrictions contained in such Subsection shall not be applicable if the benefits payable under the Plan to any Member who is a highly compensated employee or a highly compensated former Employee are limited to benefits which are nondiscriminatory under section 401(a)(4) of the Code.
- e. Change in Law: In the event that it should subsequently be determined by statute, court decision, administrative ruling or otherwise, that the provisions of Subsection b. of Section 13 are no longer necessary to qualify the Plan under the Code, such provisions shall be ineffective without the necessity of further amendment of the Plan.

SECTION 14

Plan Mergers and Consolidations

In the event of any merger or consolidation of the Plan with, or transfer in whole or in part of the assets and liabilities of the Annuity Trust Fund to another trust fund held under any other plan of deferred compensation maintained or to be established for the benefit of all or some of the Members of this Plan, the assets of the Annuity Trust Fund applicable to such Members shall be transferred to the other trust fund only if:

- a. Each Member would, if either this Plan or the other plan were to terminate at such time, receive a benefit immediately after the merger, consolidation or transfer which is equal to or greater than the benefit he would have been entitled to receive immediately before the merger, consolidation or transfer if this Plan had then terminated;
 - b. The Employer and any new or successor employer of the affected Members shall authorize such transfer of assets; and
 - c. Such new or successor employer shall assume all liabilities with respect to such Members' inclusion in the new employees plan.

SECTION 15

Claims Procedure

Any request by a Member or any other person for any benefit alleged to be due under the Plan shall be known as a "Claim" and the Member or such other person making a Claim shall be known as a "Claimant."

27

A Claim shall be filed when a written statement has been made by the Claimant or his authorized representative and delivered to the Vice President-Human Resources, Minerals Technologies Inc., 405 Lexington Avenue, New York, New York 10174-1901. This statement shall include a general description of the benefit which the Claimant believes is due and the reasons that the Claimant believes such benefit to be due, to the extent this is within the knowledge of the Claimant. It shall not be necessary for the Claimant to cite any particular Section or Sections of the Plan, but only to set out the facts known to him which he believes constitute a basis for a Claim.

Within 90 days of the receipt of the Claim by the Plan, the Vice President-Human Resources shall (i) notify the Claimant that the Claim has been approved, (ii) notify the Claimant that the Claim has been partially approved and partially denied, or (iii) notify the Claimant that the Claim has been denied. Notice of the decision shall be in writing and shall be delivered to the Claimant either personally or by first-class mail. Special circumstances may require an extension of time for processing the claim. In such event, written notice of the extension shall be furnished to the Claimant prior to the termination of the initial 90 day period but in no event shall the extension exceed a period of 90 days from the end of such initial period. The notice shall indicate the special circumstances requiring an extension of time and the date by which the Plan expects to render the final decision.

In the event a Claim is denied in whole or in part, the notice of denial shall set forth (i) the specific reason or reasons for the denial, (ii) specific reference to the pertinent Plan provisions on which the denial is based, (iii) a description of any additional material or information necessary for the Claimant to perfect the Claim and an explanation of why such material or information is necessary, and (iv) an explanation of the Plan's claims review procedure.

Within 60 days of the receipt of a notice of denial of a Claim in whole or in part, a Claimant or his duly authorized representative (i) may request a review upon written application to the Retirement Committee, (ii) may review documents pertinent to the Claim, and (iii) may submit issues and comments in writing to the Retirement Committee. Notice shall be deemed to be received when delivered if delivered personally pursuant to the foregoing provisions of this Section or three days after it has been deposited post-paid in a depository maintained by the U.S. Post Office addressed to Claimant at the address designated by him or her in the Claim or if Claimant has moved at the last known address shown for Claimant on the Employer's records.

It shall be the duty of the Retirement Committee to review a Claim for which a request for review has been made and to render a decision not later than 60 days after receipt of a request for review; provided, however, that if special circumstances require an extension of time for processing, a decision shall be rendered no later than 120 days after receipt of a request for review. Written notice of any such extension shall be furnished to the Claimant within 60 days after receipt of

request for review. The decision shall be in writing and shall include the specific reasons for the decision and specific references to the pertinent Plan provisions on which the decision is based. The decision shall be delivered to the Claimant either personally or by first-class mail. If the decision on review is not furnished within such time, the Claim shall be deemed denied on review.

SECTION 16

Top-Heavy Rule

- a. Notwithstanding any provision in the Plan to the contrary, if the Plan is determined by the Retirement Committee to be top-heavy, as that term is defined in section 416 of the Code, in any calendar year, then for that calendar year the vesting schedule and minimum benefit rules, as set forth below, shall be applicable. Determination of whether the Plan is top-heavy shall be made in accordance with section 416(g) of the Code.
 - b. Definitions solely applicable to this Section 16.
 - (1) "Compensation" shall mean the amount reportable by an Employer for Federal income tax purposes as wages paid to the Member for such period.
 - (2) "Determination Date," the date for determining whether the Plan is top-heavy, shall be the December 31 of the preceding year.
 - (3) "Key Employee" shall have the same meaning as in section 416(i)(1) of the Code.
 - (4) "Non-Key Employee" shall mean an employee other than a Key Employee as defined in subsection b.(3) above.
- (5) "Testing Period" shall mean the period of consecutive years, not exceeding five (5), during which a Member had the greatest aggregate compensation from his Employer, but not including years in which this Plan was determined not to be top-heavy.
- (6) "Valuation Date," for minimum funding purposes, shall be a date within the twelve-month period ending on the Determination Date, regardless of whether a valuation for minimum funding purposes is performed in that year.
- c. For the purpose of determining whether this Plan is top-heavy, this Plan and the Company's Savings and Investment Plan shall be aggregated, as provided in section 416(g)(2)(A) of the Code.
 - d. Vesting Schedule: Employees shall acquire a vested interest in an annuity under the Plan in accordance with the following schedule:

20% of the accrued benefit under Section 4a. after two (2) Anniversary Years of Creditable Service; 40% of the accrued benefit under Section 4a. after three (3) Anniversary Years of Creditable Service; 60% of the accrued benefit under Section 4a. after four (4) Anniversary Years of Creditable Service; 80% of the accrued benefit under Section 4a. after five (5) Anniversary Years of Creditable Service; and 100% of the accrued benefit under Section 4a. after six (6) Anniversary Years of Creditable Service.

29

- e. Minimum Benefit Rule: A Non-Key Employee's benefit shall not be less than the lesser of: 2% of his average compensation during the testing period, not exceeding the compensation limitation under section 401(a)(17) of the Code and applicable regulations, multiplied by those years of service with his Employer in which this Plan is determined to be top-heavy or 20% of his average compensation during the Testing Period; provided, however, that any minimum benefit provided under this Section 16 shall be offset by the actuarial equivalent of the value of the Employer's contributions to the Company's Savings and Investment Plan on the Non-Key Employee's behalf. Such actuarial equivalent shall be calculated using the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation immediate annuity lump sum factor, with male and female factors equally weighted, in effect three (3) months prior to termination of employment. All accruals derived from Employer contributions, whether or n ot attributable to years in which the Plan is top-heavy, may be used in determining whether the minimum accrued benefit requirements for a Non-Key Employee has been satisfied.
- f. If the Plan becomes top-heavy and in a subsequent year ceases to be top-heavy, the vesting schedule under Section 16d. shall revert to the vesting schedule under Section 4c. of the Plan provided, however, that any Employee who has completed at least three (3) or more years of Creditable Service at the time the Plan ceases to be top-heavy and who had at least one (1) Hour of Service while the Plan was a top-heavy plan, shall be entitled to elect, within a reasonable period (such period to be determined by the Retirement Committee when relevant but in no event no earlier than 60 days following the latest of (i) the date upon which the reversion to the prior vesting schedule became effective, or (ii) the day the Employee is issued written notice by the Retirement Committee that the prior schedule is applicable), whether the vesting schedule in Section 16d. or in Section 4c. is applicable to his benefit.

30

SCHEDULE A

Groups or classes eligible for participation in the Retirement Annuity Plan (except in each case employees covered by a collective bargaining agreement that does not provide for coverage of such employees under the Plan if there is evidence that retirement benefits were the subject of good faith bargaining):

- 1. All employees in the service of Minerals Technologies Inc.
- 2. All employees in the service of the following Associate Companies:

Barretts Minerals Inc. Specialty Minerals Inc. MINTEQ International Inc. Specialty Minerals (Michigan) Inc.

SCHEDULE B - Vested Benefit Table

The following table sets forth the percentages which will apply at the ages indicated in the computation of vested benefits:

1. Effective on or after January 1, 1994 -

Age That Annuity Payments Commence	Percentage of <u>Vested Annuity</u>
65+	100%
64	94
63	88
62	82
61	76
60	70
59	64
58	58
57	52
56	46
55	40

2. Effective prior to January 1, 1994 -

Age That Annuity <u>Payments Commence</u>	Percentage of <u>Vested Annuity</u>
65+	100%
64	96
63	92
62	88
61	84
60	80
59	76
58	72
57	68
56	64
55	60
54	56
53	52
52	48
51	44

SCHEDULE C

Early Retirement Table

The following table sets forth the percentages which will apply at the ages indicated in the computation of early retirement benefits:

65	
	100
64	96
63	92
62	88
61	84
60	80
59	76
58	72
57	68
56	64
55	60

SCHEDULE D

Alternate Early Retirement Table

The following table sets forth the percentages which will apply at the ages indicated in the computation of early retirement benefits:

<u>Age</u>	<u>Service</u>	<u>Percentage</u>
64	26	100
63	27	100
62	28	100
61	29	100
60	30	100
59	31	96
58	32	92
57	33	88
56	34	84
55	35	80

2001 STOCK AWARD AND INCENTIVE PLAN

OF

MINERALS TECHNOLOGIES INC.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PAGE

1

Purpose 1

Definitions

Administration	3
Stock Subject to Plan	5
Eligibility; Per-Person Award Limitations	5
Specific Terms of Awards	6
Performance Awards, Including Annual Incentive Awards	10
Certain Provisions Applicable to Awards	13
Change in Control	15
Additional Award Forfeiture Provisions	17
General Provisions	20

2001 STOCK AWARD AND INCENTIVE PLAN

OF MINERALS TECHNOLOGIES INC.

- 1. **Purpose.** The purpose of this 2001 Stock Award and Incentive Plan (the "Plan") is to aid_Minerals Technologies Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), in attracting, retaining, motivating and rewarding employees, non-employee directors, and other persons who provide substantial services to the Company or its subsidiaries or affiliates, to provide for equitable and competitive compensation opportunities, to recognize individual contributions and reward achievement of Company goals, and promote the creation of long-term value for stockholders by closely aligning the interests of Participants with those of stockholders. The Plan authorizes stock-based and cash-based incentives for Participants.
- 2. **Definitions.**. In addition to the terms defined in Section 1 above and elsewhere in the Plan, the following capitalized terms used in the Plan have the respective meanings set forth in this Section:
 - (a) "Annual Incentive Award" means a type of Performance Award granted to a Participant under Section 7(c) representing a conditional right to receive cash, Stock or other Awards or payments, as determined by the Committee, based on performance in a performance period of one fiscal year or a portion thereof.
 - (b) "Award" means any Option, Restricted Stock, Deferred Stock, Stock granted as a bonus or in lieu of another award, Dividend Equivalent, Other Stock-Based Award, Performance Award or Annual Incentive Award, together with any related right or interest, granted to a Participant under the Plan.
 - (c) "Beneficiary" means the legal representatives of the Participant's estate entitled by will or the laws of descent and distribution to receive the benefits under a Participant's Award upon a Participant's death, provided that, if and to the extent authorized by the Committee, a Participant may be permitted to designate a Beneficiary, in which case the "Beneficiary" instead will be the person, persons, trust or trusts (if any are then surviving) which have been designated by the Participant in his or her most recent written beneficiary designation filed with the Committee to receive the benefits specified under the Participant's Award upon such Participant's death. Unless otherwise determined by the Committee, any designation of a Beneficiary other than a Participant's spouse shall be subject to the written consent of such spouse.
 - (d) "Board" means the Company's Board of Directors.
 - (e) "Change in Control" and related terms have the meanings specified in Section 9.
 - (f) "Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. References to any provision of the Code or regulation (including a proposed regulation) thereunder shall include any successor provisions and regulations.

1

- (g) "Committee" means the Compensation and Nominating Committee of the Board; provided, however, that, directors appointed or serving as members of the Committee shall not be employees of the Company or any subsidiary or affiliate. In appointing members of the Committee, the Board will consider whether a member is or will be a Qualified Member, but such members are not required to be Qualified Members at the time of appointment or during their term of service on the Committee. The full Board may perform any function of the Committee hereunder, in which case the term "Committee" shall refer to the Board.
 - (h) "Covered Employee" means an Eligible Person who is a Covered Employee as specified in Section 11(j).
- (i) "Deferred Stock" means a right, granted to a Participant under Section 6(d), to receive Stock or Other Stock-Based Awards or a combination thereof at the end of a specified deferral period.
- (j) "Dividend Equivalent" means a right, granted to a Participant under Section 6(f), to receive cash, Stock, other Awards or other property equal in value to all or a specified portion of the dividends paid with respect to a specified number of shares of Stock.

- (k) "Effective Date" means the effective date specified in Section 11(p).
- (l) "Eligible Person" has the meaning specified in Section 5.
- (m) "Exchange Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. References to any provision of the Exchange Act or rule (including a proposed rule) thereunder shall include any successor provisions and rules.
- (n) "Fair Market Value" means the fair market value of Stock, Awards or other property as determined by the Committee or under procedures established by the Committee. Unless otherwise determined by the Committee, the Fair Market Value of Stock shall be the average of the high and low sales prices per share of Stock reported on a consolidated basis for securities listed on the principal stock exchange or market on which Stock is traded on the day on which the Award of such Stock is made or, if there is no sale on that day, then on the next day on which a sale is reported.
- (o) "Incentive Stock Option" or "ISO" means any Option designated as an incentive stock option within the meaning of Code Section 422 or any successor provision thereto and qualifying thereunder.
- (p) "Option" means a right, granted to a Participant under Section 6(b), to purchase Stock or Other Stock-Based Awards at a specified price during specified time periods.

- (q) "Other Stock-Based Awards" means Awards granted to a Participant under Section 6(g).
- (r) "Participant" means a person who has been granted an Award under the Plan which remains outstanding, including a person who is no longer an Eligible Person.
- (s) "Performance Award" means a conditional right, granted to a Participant under Sections 6(h) and 7, to receive cash, Stock or other Awards or payments, as determined by the Committee, based upon performance criteria specified by the Committee.
 - (t) "Preexisting Plan" means the Stock and Incentive Plan of Minerals Technologies Inc. (as amended and restated as of February 22,2001).
- (u) "Qualified Member" means a member of the Committee who is a "Non-Employee Director" within the meaning of Rule 16b-3(b)(3) and an "outside director" within the meaning of Regulation 1.162-27 under Code Section 162(m).
 - (v) "Restricted Stock" means Stock granted to a Participant under Section 6(c) which is subject to certain restrictions and to a risk of forfeiture.
- (w) "Rule 16b-3" means Rule 16b-3, as from time to time in effect and applicable to Participants, promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission under Section 16 of the Exchange Act.
- (x) "Stock" means the Company's Common Stock, par value \$0.10 per share, and any other equity securities of the Company that may be substituted or resubstituted for Stock pursuant to Section 11(c).

3. Administration.

(a) Authority of the Committee. The Plan shall be administered by the Committee, which shall have full and final authority, in each case subject to and consistent with the provisions of the Plan, to select Eligible Persons to become Participants; to grant Awards; to determine the type and number of Awards, the dates on which Awards may be exercised and on which the risk of forfeiture or the deferral period relating to Awards shall lapse or terminate; the acceleration of any such dates, the expiration date of any Award; whether, to what extent, and under what circumstances an Award may be settled, or the exercise price of an Award may be paid, in cash, Stock, other Awards, or other property; and other terms and conditions of, and all other matters relating to, Awards; to prescribe documents evidencing or setting terms of Awards (such Award documents need not be identical for each Participant), amendments thereto, and rul es and regulations for the administration of the Plan and amendments thereto; to construe and interpret the Plan and Award documents and correct defects, supply omissions or reconcile inconsistencies therein; and to make all other decisions and determinations as the Committee may deem necessary or advisable for the administration of the Plan. Decisions of the Committee with respect to the

3

administration and interpretation of the Plan shall be final, conclusive, and binding upon all persons interested in the Plan, including Participants, Beneficiaries, transferees under Section 11(b), and other persons claiming rights from or through a Participant, and stockholders. The foregoing notwithstanding, the Board shall perform the functions of the Committee for purposes of granting Awards under the Plan to non-employee directors (authority with respect to other aspects of non-employee director awards is not exclusive to the Board, however).

(b) Manner of Exercise of Committee Authority. At any time that a member of the Committee is not a Qualified Member, (i) any action of the Committee relating to an Award intended by the Committee to qualify as "performance-based compensation" within the meaning of Code Section 162(m) and regulations thereunder may be taken by a subcommittee, designated by the Committee or the Board, composed solely of two or more Qualified Members, and (ii) any action relating to an Award granted or to be granted to a Participant who is then subject to Section 16 of the Exchange Act in respect of the Company may be taken either by such a subcommittee or by the Committee but with each such member who is not a Qualified Member abstaining or recusing himself or herself from such action, provided that, upon such abstention or recusal, the Committee remains composed of two or more Qualified Members. Such action, authorized by such a subcomm ittee or by the Committee upon the abstention or recusal of such non-Qualified Member(s), shall be the action of the Committee for purposes of the Plan. The express grant of any specific power to the Committee, and the taking of any action by the Committee, shall not be construed as limiting any power or authority of the Committee. The Committee may delegate to officers or managers of the Company or any subsidiary or affiliate, or committees thereof, the authority, subject to such terms as the Committee shall determine, to perform such functions, including administrative functions, as the Committee may determine, to the extent that such delegation will not result in the loss of an exemption under Rule 16b-3(d) for Awards granted to

Participants subject to Section 16 of the Exchange Act in respect of the Company and will not cause Awards intended to qualify as "performance-based compensation" under Code Section 162(m) to fail to so qualify.

(c) Limitation of Liability. The Committee and each member thereof, and any person acting pursuant to authority delegated by the Committee, shall be entitled, in good faith, to rely or act upon any report or other information furnished by any executive officer, other officer or employee of the Company or a subsidiary or affiliate, the Company's independent auditors, consultants or any other agents assisting in the administration of the Plan. Members of the Committee, any person acting pursuant to authority delegated by the Committee, and any officer or employee of the Company or a subsidiary or affiliate acting at the direction or on behalf of the Committee or a delegee shall not be personally liable for any action or determination taken or made in good faith with respect to the Plan, and shall, to the extent permitted by law, be fully indemnified and protected by the Company with respect to any such action or determination.

4

4. Stock Subject to Plan.

- (a) Overall Number of Shares Available for Delivery. Subject to adjustment as provided in Section 11(c), the total number of shares of Stock reserved and available for delivery in connection with Awards under the Plan shall be (i) 500,000 shares, plus (ii) the number of shares that, immediately prior to the Effective Date, remain available for issuance under the Preexisting Plan (1,017,268 shares) plus (iii) the number of shares subject to awards under the Preexisting Plan which become available in accordance with Section 4(b) after the Effective Date plus (iv) 15% of the number of shares issued or delivered by the Company during the term of the Plan other than issuances or deliveries under the Plan or other incentive compensation plans of the Company; provided, however, that the total number of shares with respect to which ISOs may be granted shall not exceed the number specified under clause (i) plus the number s pecified under clause (ii) above; and provided further, that the total number of shares which may be issued and delivered in connection with Awards other than Options shall not exceed 10% of the total number of shares reserved under the Plan. Any shares of Stock delivered under the Plan shall consist of authorized and unissued shares or treasury shares.
- (b) Share Counting Rules. The Committee may adopt reasonable counting procedures to ensure appropriate counting, avoid double counting (as, for example, in the case of tandem or substitute awards) and make adjustments if the number of shares of Stock actually delivered differs from the number of shares previously counted in connection with an Award. Shares subject to an Award or an award under the Preexisting Plan that is canceled, expired, forfeited, settled in cash or otherwise terminated without a delivery of shares to the Participant will again be available for Awards, and shares withheld in payment of the exercise price or taxes relating to an Award or Preexisting Plan award and shares equal to the number surrendered in payment of any exercise price or taxes relating to an Award or Preexisting Plan award shall be deemed to constitute shares not delivered to the Participant and shall be deemed to again be available for Awards under the Plan. In addition, in the case of any Award granted in substitution for an award of a company or business acquired by the Company or a subsidiary or affiliate, shares issued or issuable in connection with such substitute Award shall not be counted against the number of shares reserved under the Plan, but shall be available under the Plan by virtue of the Company's assumption of the plan or arrangement of the acquired company or business. This Section 4(b) shall apply to the number of shares reserved and available for ISOs only to the extent consistent with applicable regulations relating to ISOs under the Code.
- 5. *Eligibility; Per-Person Award Limitations*.. Awards may be granted under the Plan only to Eligible Persons. For purposes of the Plan, an "Eligible Person" means an employee of the Company or any subsidiary or affiliate, including any executive officer, a non-employee director of the Company, a consultant or other person who provides substantial services to the Company or a subsidiary or affiliate, and any person who has been offered employment by the Company or a subsidiary or affiliate, provided that such prospective employee may not receive any payment or exercise any right relating to an Award until such person has commenced employment with the Company or a subsidiary or affiliate. An employee on leave of absence may be considered as still in the employ of the

5

Company or a subsidiary or affiliate for purposes of eligibility for participation in the Plan. For purposes of the Plan, a joint venture in which the Company or a subsidiary has a substantial direct or indirect equity investment shall be deemed an affiliate, if so determined by the Committee. In each calendar year during any part of which the Plan is in effect, an Eligible Person may be granted Awards intended to qualify as "performance-based compensation" under Code Section 162(m) under each of Section 6(b), 6(c), 6(d), 6(e), 6(f), or 6(g) relating to up to his or her Annual Limit (such Annual Limit to apply separately to the type of Award authorized under each specified subsection, except that the limitation applies to Dividend Equivalents under Section 6(f) only if such Dividend Equivalents are granted separately from and not as a feature of another Award). A Participant's Annual Limit, in any year during any part of which the Participant is then eligible under the Plan, shall equal 500,000 shares plus the amount of the Participant's unused Annual Limit relating to the same type of Award as of the close of the previous year, subject to adjustment as provided in Section 11(c). In the case of an Award which is not valued in a way in which the limitation set forth in the preceding sentence would operate as an effective limitation satisfying Treasury Regulation 1.162-27(e)(4) (including a Performance Award under Section 7 not related to an Award specified in Section 6), an Eligible Person may not be granted Awards authorizing the earning during any calendar year of an amount that exceeds the Participant's Annual Limit, which for this purpose shall equal \$3 million plus the amount of the Participant's unused cash Annual Limit as of the close of the previous year (this limitation is separate and not affected by the number of Awards granted during such calendar year subject to the limitation in the preceding sentence). For this purpose, (i) "earning" means satisfying perform ance conditions so that an amount becomes payable, without regard to whether it is to be paid currently or on a deferred basis or continues to be subject to any service requirement or other non-performance condition, and (ii) a Participant's Annual Limit is used to the extent an amount or number of shares may be potentially earned or paid under an Award, regardless of whether such amount or shares are in fact earned or paid.

6. Specific Terms of Awards.

- (a) General. Awards may be granted on the terms and conditions set forth in this Section 6. In addition, the Committee may impose on any Award or the exercise thereof, at the date of grant or thereafter (subject to Section 11(e)), such additional terms and conditions, not inconsistent with the provisions of the Plan, as the Committee shall determine, including terms requiring forfeiture of Awards in the event of termination of employment or service by the Participant and terms permitting a Participant to make elections relating to his or her Award. The Committee shall retain full power and discretion with respect to any term or condition of an Award that is not mandatory under the Plan. The Committee shall require the payment of lawful consideration for an Award to the extent necessary to satisfy the requirements of the Delaware General Corporation Law, and may otherwise require payment of conside ration for an Award except as limited by the Plan.
 - (b) Options. The Committee is authorized to grant Options to Participants on the following terms and conditions:

- (i) *Exercise Price*. The exercise price per share of Stock purchasable under an Option (including both ISOs and non-qualified Options) shall be determined by the Committee, provided that such exercise price shall be not less than the Fair Market Value of a share of Stock on the date of grant of such Option, subject to Sections 6(e) and 8(a).
- (ii) Option Term; Time and Method of Exercise. The Committee shall determine the term of each Option, provided that in no event shall the term of any ISO exceed a period of ten years from the date of grant. The Committee shall determine the time or times at which or the circumstances under which an Option may be exercised in whole or in part (including based on achievement of performance goals and/or future service requirements), the methods by which such exercise price may be paid or deemed to be paid and the form of such payment (subject to Section 11(k)), including, without limitation, cash, Stock, other Awards or awards granted under other plans of the Company or any subsidiary or affiliate, or other property (including notes and other contractual obligations of Participants to make payment on a deferred basis, such as through "cashless exercise" arrangements, to the extent permitted by applicable law), and the met hods by or forms in which Stock will be delivered or deemed to be delivered in satisfaction of Options to Participants (including deferred delivery of shares representing the Option "profit," at the election of the Participant or as mandated by the Committee, with such deferred shares subject to any vesting, forfeiture or other terms as the Committee may specify).
- (iii) *ISO*s. The terms of any ISO granted under the Plan shall comply in all respects with the provisions of Code Section 422, including but not limited to the requirement that no ISO shall be granted more than ten years after the Effective Date.
- (iv) *Non-Employee Director Option Grants*. At any time that the Compensation and Nominating Committee grants across-the-board options to employees, Non-Employee Directors shall also be granted options, using the same ratio of number of options granted to amount of compensation as is used in determining options granted to employees in the across-the-board option grant. For this purpose, the Non-Employee Director's compensation in the prior year shall be used, with any units included in such compensation valued as of the date of their award.
- (c) Restricted Stock. The Committee is authorized to grant Restricted Stock to Participants on the following terms and conditions:
 - (i) *Grant and Restrictions*. In addition to any restrictions imposed by law, Restricted Stock shall be subject to such restrictions on transferability, risk of forfeiture and other restrictions, if any, as the Committee may impose, which restrictions may lapse separately or in combination at such times, under such circumstances (including based on achievement of performance goals and/or future service requirements), in such installments or otherwise and under such

other circumstances as the Committee may determine at the date of grant or thereafter. Except to the extent restricted under the terms of the Plan and any Award document relating to the Restricted Stock, a Participant granted Restricted Stock shall have all of the rights of a stockholder, including the right to vote the Restricted Stock and the right to receive dividends thereon (subject to any mandatory reinvestment or other requirement imposed by the Committee).

- (ii) Forfeiture. Except as otherwise determined by the Committee, upon termination of employment or service during the applicable restriction period, Restricted Stock that is at that time subject to restrictions shall be forfeited and reacquired by the Company; provided that the Committee may provide, by rule or regulation or in any Award document, or may determine in any individual case, that restrictions or forfeiture conditions relating to Restricted Stock will lapse in whole or in part, including in the event of terminations resulting from specified causes.
- (iii) *Certificates for Stock.* Restricted Stock granted under the Plan may be evidenced in such manner as the Committee shall determine. If certificates representing Restricted Stock are registered in the name of the Participant, the Committee may require that such certificates bear an appropriate legend referring to the terms, conditions and restrictions applicable to such Restricted Stock, that the Company retain physical possession of the certificates, and that the Participant deliver a stock power to the Company, endorsed in blank, relating to the Restricted Stock.
- (iv) Dividends and Splits. As a condition to the grant of an Award of Restricted Stock, the Committee may require that any dividends paid on a share of Restricted Stock shall be either (A) paid with respect to such Restricted Stock at the dividend payment date in cash, in kind, or in a number of shares of unrestricted Stock having a Fair Market Value equal to the amount of such dividends, or (B) automatically reinvested in additional Restricted Stock or held in kind, which shall be subject to the same terms as applied to the original Restricted Stock to which it relates, or (C) deferred as to payment, either as a cash deferral or with the amount or value thereof automatically deemed reinvested in shares of Deferred Stock, other Awards or other investment vehicles, subject to such terms as the Committee shall determine or permit a Participant to elect. Unless otherwise determined by the Committee, Stock distributed in connection with a Stock split or Stock dividend, and other property distributed as a dividend, shall be subject to restrictions and a risk of forfeiture to the same extent as the Restricted Stock with respect to which such Stock or other property has been distributed.
- (d) *Deferred Stock*. The Committee is authorized to grant Deferred Stock to Participants, which are rights to receive Stock, other Awards, or a combination thereof at the end of a specified deferral period, subject to the following terms and conditions:
 - (i) Award and Restrictions. Issuance of Stock will occur upon expiration of the deferral period specified for an Award of Deferred Stock by the Committee (or, if permitted by the Committee, as elected by the Participant). In addition, Deferred

performance goals and/or future service requirements), separately or in combination, in installments or otherwise, and under such other circumstances as the Committee may determine at the date of grant or thereafter. Deferred Stock rights may be satisfied by delivery of Stock, other Awards, or a combination thereof (subject to Section 11(k)), as determined by the Committee at the date of grant or thereafter.

- (ii) Forfeiture. Except as otherwise determined by the Committee, upon termination of employment or service during the applicable deferral period or portion thereof to which forfeiture conditions apply (as provided in the Award document evidencing the Deferred Stock), all Deferred Stock that is at that time subject to such forfeiture conditions shall be forfeited; provided that the Committee may provide, by rule or regulation or in any Award document, or may determine in any individual case, that restrictions or forfeiture conditions relating to Deferred Stock will lapse in whole or in part, including in the event of terminations resulting from specified causes.
- (iii) Dividend Equivalents. Unless otherwise determined by the Committee, Dividend Equivalents on the specified number of shares of Stock covered by an Award of Deferred Stock shall be either (A) paid with respect to such Deferred Stock at the dividend payment date in cash or in shares of unrestricted Stock having a Fair Market Value equal to the amount of such dividends, or (B) deferred with respect to such Deferred Stock, either as a cash deferral or with the amount or value thereof automatically deemed reinvested in additional Deferred Stock, other Awards or other investment vehicles having a Fair Market Value equal to the amount of such dividends, as the Committee shall determine or permit a Participant to elect.
- (e) Bonus Stock and Awards in Lieu of Obligations. The Committee is authorized to grant Stock as a bonus, or to grant Stock or other Awards in lieu of obligations of the Company or a subsidiary or affiliate to pay cash or deliver other property under the Plan or under other plans or compensatory arrangements, subject to such terms as shall be determined by the Committee.
- (f) *Dividend Equivalents*. The Committee is authorized to grant Dividend Equivalents to a Participant, entitling the Participant to receive cash, Stock, other Awards, or other property equivalent to all or a portion of the dividends paid with respect to a specified number of shares of Stock. Dividend Equivalents may be awarded on a free-standing basis or in connection with another Award. The Committee may provide that Dividend Equivalents shall be paid or distributed when accrued or shall be deemed to have been reinvested in additional Stock, Awards, or other investment vehicles, and subject to restrictions on transferability, risks of forfeiture and such other terms as the Committee may specify.

9

- (g) Other Stock-Based Awards. The Committee is authorized, subject to limitations under applicable law, to grant to Participants such other Awards that may be denominated or payable in, valued in whole or in part by reference to, or otherwise based on, or related to, Stock or factors that may influence the value of Stock, including, without limitation, convertible or exchangeable debt securities, other rights convertible or exchangeable into Stock, purchase rights for Stock, Awards with value and payment contingent upon performance of the Company or business units thereof or any other factors designated by the Committee, and Awards valued by reference to the book value of Stock or the value of securities of or the performance of specified subsidiaries or affiliates or other business units. The Committee shall determine the terms and conditions of such Awards. Stock delivered pursuant to an Award in the nature of a pur chase right granted under this Section 6(g) shall be purchased for such consideration, paid for at such times, by such methods, and in such forms, including, without limitation, cash, Stock, other Awards, notes, or other property, as the Committee shall determine. Cash awards, as an element of or supplement to any other Award under the Plan, may also be granted pursuant to this Section 6(g).
- (h) *Performance Awards*. Performance Awards, denominated in cash or in Stock or other Awards, may be granted by the Committee in accordance with Section 7.

7. Performance Awards, Including Annual Incentive Awards.

- (a) Performance Awards Generally. The Committee is authorized to grant Performance Awards on the terms and conditions specified in this Section 7. Performance Awards may be denominated as a cash amount, a number of shares of Stock, or a specified number of other Awards (or a combination of the foregoing) which may be earned upon achievement or satisfaction of performance conditions specified by the Committee. In addition, the Committee may specify that any other Award shall constitute a Performance Award by conditioning the right of a Participant to exercise the Award or have it settled, and the timing thereof, upon achievement or satisfaction of such performance conditions as may be specified by the Committee. The Committee may use such business criteria and other measures of performance as it may deem appropriate in establishing any performance conditions, and may exercise its discretion to reduce or incre ase the amounts payable under any Award subject to performance conditions, except as limited under Sections 7(b) and 7(c) in the case of a Performance Award intended to qualify as "performance-based compensation" under Code Section 162(m).
- (b) *Performance Awards Granted to Covered Employees.* If the Committee determines that a Performance Award to be granted to an Eligible Person who is designated by the Committee as likely to be a Covered Employee should qualify as "performance-based compensation" for purposes of Code Section 162(m), the grant, exercise and/or settlement of such Performance Award shall be contingent upon achievement of a preestablished performance goal and other terms set forth in this Section 7(b). Such Performance Awards shall be subject to the per-person maximum limitation set forth in Section 5.

10

(i) Performance Goal Generally. The performance goal for such Performance Awards shall consist of one or more business criteria and a targeted level or levels of performance with respect to each of such criteria, as specified by the Committee consistent with this Section 7(b). The performance goal shall be objective and shall otherwise meet the requirements of Code Section 162(m) and regulations thereunder (including Regulation 1.162-27 and successor regulations thereto), including the requirement that the level or levels of performance targeted by the Committee result in the achievement of performance goals being "substantially uncertain." The Committee may determine that such Performance Awards shall be granted, exercised and/or settled upon achievement of any one performance goal or that two or more of the performance goals must be achieved as a condition to grant, exercise and/or settlement of such Performance Awards. Performance goals may differ for Performance Awards granted to any one Participant or to different Participants.

- (ii) Business Criteria. One or more of the following business criteria for the Company, on a consolidated basis, and/or for specified subsidiaries or affiliates or other business units of the Company shall be used by the Committee in establishing performance goals for such Performance Awards: (1) net sales; (2) earnings from operations, earnings before or after taxes, earnings before or after interest, depreciation, amortization, or extraordinary or special items, (3) net income or net income per common share (basic or diluted); (4) return on assets, return on invested capital, return on total capital, or return on equity; (5) cash flow, free cash flow, cash flow return on investment, or net cash provided by operations; (6) interest expense after taxes; (7) economic value created; (8) operating margin, or profit margin; (9) stock price or total stockholder return; and (10) strategic business criteria, consisting of one or more objectives based on meeting specified market penetration, geographic business expansion goals, cost targets, customer satisfaction, employee satisfaction, management of employment practices and employee benefits, supervision of litigation and information technology, and goals relating to acquisitions or divestitures of subsidiaries, affiliates or joint ventures. The targeted level or levels of performance with respect to such business criteria may be established at such levels and in such terms as the Committee may determine, in its discretion, including in absolute terms, as a goal relative to performance in prior periods, or as a goal compared to the performance of one or more comparable companies or an index covering multiple companies.
- (iii) *Performance Period; Timing for Establishing Performance Goals.* Achievement of performance goals in respect of such Performance Awards shall be measured over a performance period of up to one year or more than one year, as specified by the Committee. A performance goal shall be established not later than the earlier of (A) 90 days after the beginning of any performance period applicable to such Performance Award or (B) the time 25% of such performance period has elapsed.

- (iv) *Performance Award Pool.* The Committee may establish a Performance Award pool, which shall be an unfunded pool, for purposes of measuring performance of the Company in connection with Performance Awards. The amount of such Performance Award pool shall be based upon the achievement of a performance goal or goals based on one or more of the business criteria set forth in Section 7(b)(ii) during the given performance period, as specified by the Committee in accordance with Section 7(b)(iv). The Committee may specify the amount of the Performance Award pool as a percentage of any of such business criteria, a percentage thereof in excess of a threshold amount, or as another amount which need not bear a strictly mathematical relationship to such business criteria.
- (v) Settlement of Performance Awards; Other Terms. Settlement of such Performance Awards shall be in cash, Stock, other Awards or other property, in the discretion of the Committee. The Committee may, in its discretion, increase or reduce the amount of a settlement otherwise to be made in connection with such Performance Awards, but may not exercise discretion to increase any such amount payable to a Covered Employee in respect of a Performance Award subject to this Section 7(b). Any settlement which changes the form of payment from that originally specified shall be implemented in a manner such that the Performance Award and other related Awards do not, solely for that reason, fail to qualify as "performance-based compensation" for purposes of Code Section 162(m). The Committee shall specify the circumstances in which such Performance Awards shall be paid or forfeited in the event of termination of employment by the Participant or other event (including a Change in Control) prior to the end of a performance period or settlement of such Performance Awards.
- (c) Annual Incentive Awards Granted to Designated Covered Employees. The Committee may grant an Annual Incentive Award to an Eligible Person who is designated by the Committee as likely to be a Covered Employee. Such Annual Incentive Award will be intended to qualify as "performance-based compensation" for purposes of Code Section 162(m), and therefore its grant, exercise and/or settlement shall be contingent upon achievement of pre-established performance goals and other terms set forth in this Section 7(c).
 - (i) Grant of Annual Incentive Awards. Not later than the earlier of 90 days after the beginning of any performance period applicable to such Annual Incentive Award or the time 25% of such performance period has elapsed, the Committee shall determine the Covered Employees who will potentially receive Annual Incentive Awards, and the amount(s) potentially payable thereunder, for that performance period. The amount(s) potentially payable shall be based upon the achievement of a performance goal or goals based on one or more of the business criteria set forth in Section 7(b)(ii) in the given performance period, as specified by the Committee. The Committee may designate an annual incentive award pool as the means by which Annual Incentive Awards will be measured, which pool shall conform to the provisions of Section 7(b)(iv). In such case, the portion of the Annual Incentive Award pool potentially payable to each Covered Employee shall be preestablished by

12

the Committee. In all cases, the maximum Annual Incentive Award of any Participant shall be subject to the limitation set forth in Section 5.

- (ii) Payout of Annual Incentive Awards. After the end of each performance period, the Committee shall determine the amount, if any, of the Annual Incentive Award for that performance period payable to each Participant. The Committee may, in its discretion, determine that the amount payable to any Participant as a final Annual Incentive Award shall be reduced from the amount of his or her potential Annual Incentive Award, including a determination to make no final Award whatsoever, but may not exercise discretion to increase any such amount. The Committee shall specify the circumstances in which an Annual Incentive Award shall be paid or forfeited in the event of termination of employment by the Participant or other event (including a Change in Control) prior to the end of a performance period or settlement of such Annual Incentive Award.
- (d) Written Determinations. Determinations by the Committee as to the establishment of performance goals, the amount potentially payable in respect of Performance Awards and Annual Incentive Awards, the level of actual achievement of the specified performance goals relating to Performance Awards and Annual Incentive Awards, and the amount of any final Performance Award and Annual Incentive Award shall be recorded in writing in the case of Performance Awards intended to qualify under Section 162(m). Specifically, the Committee shall certify in writing, in a manner conforming to applicable regulations under Section 162(m), prior to settlement of each such Award granted to a Covered Employee, that the performance objective relating to the Performance Award and other material terms of the Award upon which settlement of the Award was conditioned have been satisfied.

8. Certain Provisions Applicable to Awards.

- (a) Stand-Alone, Additional, Tandem, and Substitute Awards. Awards granted under the Plan may, in the discretion of the Committee, be granted either alone or in addition to, in tandem with, or in substitution or exchange for, any other Award or any award granted under another plan of the Company, any subsidiary or affiliate, or any business entity to be acquired by the Company or a subsidiary or affiliate, or any other right of a Participant to receive payment from the Company or any subsidiary or affiliate. Awards granted in addition to or in tandem with other Awards or awards may be granted either as of the same time as or a different time from the grant of such other Awards or awards. Subject to Section 11(k), the Committee may determine that, in granting a new Award, the in-the-money value of any surrendered Award or award may be applied to reduce the exercise price of any Option, or purchase price of any other Award.
- (b) *Term of Awards*. The term of each Award shall be for such period as may be determined by the Committee, subject to the express limitations set forth in Section 6(b)(ii).
- (c) Form and Timing of Payment under Awards; Deferrals. Subject to the terms of the Plan (including Section 11(k)) and any applicable Award document, payments to be

13

made by the Company or a subsidiary or affiliate upon the exercise of an Option or other Award or settlement of an Award may be made in such forms as the Committee shall determine, including, without limitation, cash, Stock, other Awards or other property, and may be made in a single payment or transfer, in installments, or on a deferred basis. The settlement of any Award may be accelerated, and cash paid in lieu of Stock in connection with such settlement, in the discretion of the Committee or upon occurrence of one or more specified events (subject to Section 11(k)). Installment or deferred payments may be required by the Committee (subject to Section 11(e)) or permitted at the election of the Participant on terms and conditions established by the Committee. Payments may include, without limitation, provisions for the payment or crediting of reasonable interest on installment or deferred payments or the grant or crediting of Dividend Equivalents or other amounts in respect of installment or deferred payments denominated in Stock.

- (d) Exemptions from Section 16(b) Liability. With respect to a Participant who is then subject to the reporting requirements of Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act in respect of the Company, the Committee shall use reasonable efforts to implement transactions under the Plan and administer the Plan in a manner that will ensure that each transaction with respect to such a Participant is exempt from liability under Rule 16b-3 or otherwise not subject to liability under Section 16(b)), except that this provision shall not limit sales by such a Participant, and such a Participant may engage in other non-exempt transactions under the Plan. The Committee may authorize the Company to repurchase any Award or shares of Stock deliverable or delivered in connection with any Award (subject to Section 11(k)) in order to avoid a Participant who is subject to Section 16 of the Exchange Act incurring liability under Section 16(b). Unless otherwise specified by the Participant, equity securities or derivative securities acquired under the Plan which are disposed of by a Participant shall be deemed to be disposed of in the order acquired by the Participant.
- (e) Loan Provisions. With the consent of the Committee, and subject at all times to, and only to the extent, if any, permitted under and in accordance with, laws and regulations and other binding obligations or provisions applicable to the Company, the Company may make, guarantee, or arrange for a loan or loans to a Participant with respect to the exercise of any Option or other payment in connection with any Award, including the payment by a Participant of any or all federal, state, or local income or other taxes due in connection with any Award. Subject to such limitations, the Committee shall have full authority to decide whether to make a loan or loans hereunder and to determine the amount, terms, and provisions of any such loan or loans, including the interest rate, if any, to be charged in respect of any such loan or loans, whether the loan or loans are to be with or without recourse against the borrower, the terms on which the loan is to be repaid and conditions, if any, under which the loan or loans may be forgiven.
- (f) *Limitation on Vesting of Certain Awards*. Restricted Stock will vest over a minimum period of one year except in the event of a Participant's death, disability, or retirement, or in the event of a Change in Control or other special circumstances.

14

9. Change in Control.

- (a) Effect of "Change in Control" on Non-Performance Based Awards. In the event of a "Change in Control," the following provisions shall apply to non-performance based Awards, including Awards as to which performance conditions previously have been satisfied or are deemed satisfied under Section 9(b), unless otherwise provided by the Committee in the Award document:
 - (i) All deferral of settlement, forfeiture conditions and other restrictions applicable to Awards granted under the Plan shall lapse and such Awards shall be fully payable as of the time of the Change in Control without regard to deferral and vesting conditions, except to the extent of any waiver by the Participant or other express election to defer beyond a Change in Control and subject to applicable restrictions set forth in Section 11(a);
 - (ii) Any Award carrying a right to exercise that was not previously exercisable and vested shall become fully exercisable and vested as of the time of the Change in Control and shall remain exercisable and vested for the balance of the stated term of such Award without regard to any termination of employment or service by the Participant other than a termination for "cause" (as defined in any employment or severance agreement between the Company or a subsidiary or affiliate and the Participant then in effect or, if none, as defined by the Committee and in effect at the time of the Change in Control), subject only to applicable restrictions set forth in Section 11(a); and
 - (iii) The Committee may, in its discretion, determine to extend to any Participant who holds an Option the right to elect, during the 60-day period immediately following the Change in Control, in lieu of acquiring the shares of Stock covered by such Option, to receive in cash the excess of the Change in Control Price over the exercise price of such Option, multiplied by the number of shares of Stock covered by such Option, and to extend to any Participant who holds other types of Awards denominated in shares the right to elect, during the 60-day period immediately following the Change in Control, in lieu of receiving the shares of

Stock covered by such Award, to receive in cash the Change in Control Price multiplied by the number of shares of Stock covered by such Award.

- (b) *Effect of "Change in Control" on Performance-Based Awards.* In the event of a "Change in Control," with respect to an outstanding Award subject to achievement of performance goals and conditions, such performance goals and conditions shall be deemed to be met or exceeded if and to the extent so provided by the Committee in the Award document governing such Award or other agreement with the Participant.
- (c) Definition of "Change in Control." A "Change in Control" shall be deemed to have occurred if, after the Effective Date, there shall have occurred any of the following:

15

- (i) Any "person," as such term is used in Section 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act (other than the Company, any trustee or other fiduciary holding securities under an employee benefit plan of the Company, or any company owned, directly or indirectly, by the shareholders of the Company in substantially the same proportions as their ownership of stock of the Company), acquires voting securities of the Company and immediately thereafter is a "15% Beneficial Owner." For purposes of this provision, a "15% Beneficial Owner" shall mean a person who is the "beneficial owner" (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing 15% or more of the combined voting power of the Company's thenoutstanding voting securities; provided that the term "15% Beneficial Owner" shall not include any person who, at all times following such an acquisition of securities, remains eligib le to file a Schedule 13G pursuant to Rule 13d-1(b) under the Exchange Act, or remains exempt from filing a Schedule 13D under Section 13(d)(6)(b) of the Exchange Act, with respect to all classes of Company voting securities;
- (ii) During any period of two consecutive years commencing on or after the Effective Date, individuals who at the beginning of such period constitute the Board, and any new director (other than a director designated by a person (as defined above) who has entered into an agreement with the Company to effect a transaction described in subsections (i), (iii) or (iv) of this definition) whose election by the Board or nomination for election by the Company's shareholders was approved by a vote of at least two-thirds (2/3) of the directors then still in office who either were directors at the beginning of the period or whose election or nomination for election was previously so approved (the "Continuing Directors") cease for any reason to constitute at least a majority thereof;
- (iii) The shareholders of the Company have approved a merger, consolidation, recapitalization, or reorganization of the Company, or a reverse stock split of any class of voting securities of the Company, or the consummation of any such transaction if shareholder approval is not obtained, other than any such transaction which would result in at least 60% of the combined voting power of the voting securities of the Company or the surviving entity outstanding immediately after such transaction being beneficially owned by persons who together beneficially owned at least 80% of the combined voting power of the voting securities of the Company outstanding immediately prior to such transaction, with the relative voting power of each such continuing holder compared to the voting power of each other continuing holder not substantially altered as a result of the transaction; provided that, for purposes of this paragraph (iii), such continuity of ownership (and preservation of relative voting power) shall be deemed to be satisfied if the failure to meet such 60% threshold (or to substantially preserve such relative voting power) is due solely to the acquisition of voting securities by an employee benefit plan of the Company, such surviving entity or a subsidiary thereof; and provided further, that, if consummation of the corporate transaction referred to in this Section 9(c)(iii) is subject, at the time of such approval by shareholders, to the consent of any government or governmental agency or approval of the shareholders of another entity or other material

16

contingency, no Change in Control shall occur until such time as such consent and approval has been obtained and any other material contingency has been satisfied;

- (iv) The shareholders of the Company have approved a plan of complete liquidation of the Company or an agreement for the sale or disposition by the Company of all or substantially all of the Company's assets (or any transaction having a similar effect); provided that, if consummation of the transaction referred to in this Section 9(c)(iv) is subject, at the time of such approval by shareholders, to the consent of any government or governmental agency or approval of the shareholders of another entity or other material contingency, no Change in Control shall occur until such time as such consent and approval has been obtained and any other material contingency has been satisfied; and
- (v) any other event which the Board of Directors of the Company determines shall constitute a Change in Control for purposes of this Plan;

provided that a Change in Control shall not be deemed to have occurred if, prior to the later of occurrence of the specified event that would otherwise constitute a Change in Control under paragraphs (i) through (iv) hereof or the expiration of seven days after the Company has obtained actual notice that such an event has occurred, the Continuing Directors of the Company then in office, by a majority vote thereof, determine that the occurrence of such specified event shall not be deemed to be a Change in Control hereunder or shall not be deemed to be a Change in Control with respect to a particular Participant.

(d) Definition of "Change in Control Price." The "Change in Control Price" means an amount in cash equal to the higher of (i) the amount of cash and fair market value of property that is the highest price per share paid (including extraordinary dividends) in any transaction triggering the Change in Control or any liquidation of shares following a sale of substantially all assets of the Company, or (ii) the highest Fair Market Value per share at any time during the 60-day period preceding and 60-day period following the Change in Control.

- (a) Forfeiture of Options and Other Awards and Gains Realized Upon Prior Option Exercises or Award Settlements. Unless otherwise determined by the Committee, each Award granted hereunder shall be subject to the following additional forfeiture conditions, to which the Participant, by accepting an Award hereunder, agrees. If any of the events specified in Section 10(b)(i), (ii), or (iii) occurs (a "Forfeiture Event"), all of the following forfeitures will result:
 - (i) The unexercised portion of the Option, whether or not vested, and any other Award not then settled (except for an Award that has not been settled solely due to an elective deferral by the Participant and otherwise is not forfeitable in the event of any termination of service of the Participant) will be immediately forfeited and canceled upon the occurrence of the Forfeiture Event; and

- (ii) The Participant will be obligated to repay to the Company, in cash, within five business days after demand is made therefor by the Company, the total amount of Award Gain (as defined herein) realized by the Participant upon each exercise of an Option or settlement of an Award (regardless of any elective deferral) that occurred on or after (A) the date that is six months prior to the occurrence of the Forfeiture Event, if the Forfeiture Event occurred while the Participant was employed by the Company or a subsidiary or affiliate, or (B) the date that is six months prior to the date the Participant's employment by the Company or a subsidiary or affiliate terminated, if the Forfeiture Event occurred after the Participant ceased to be so employed. For purposes of this Section, the term "Award Gain" shall mean (i), in respect of a given Option exercise, the product of (X) the Fair Market Value per share of Stock at the date of such exercise (without regard to any subsequent change in the market price of shares) minus the exercise price times (Y) the number of shares as to which the Option was exercised at that date, and (ii), in respect of any other settlement of an Award granted to the Participant, the Fair Market Value of the cash or Stock paid or payable to Participant (regardless of any elective deferral) less any cash or the Fair Market Value of any Stock or property (other than an Award or award which would have itself then been forfeitable hereunder and excluding any payment of tax withholding) paid by the Participant to the Company as a condition of or in connection such settlement.
- (b) *Events Triggering Forfeiture*. The forfeitures specified in Section 10(a) will be triggered upon the occurrence of any one of the following Forfeiture Events at any time during the Participant's employment by the Company or a subsidiary or affiliate or during the one-year period following termination of such employment:
 - (i) The Participant, acting alone or with others, directly or indirectly, prior to a Change in Control, (A) engages, either as employee, employer, consultant, advisor, or director, or as an owner, investor, partner, or stockholder unless the Participant's interest is insubstantial, in any business in an area or region in which the Company conducts business at the date the event occurs, which is directly in competition with a business then conducted by the Company or a subsidiary or affiliate; (B) induces any customer or supplier of the Company or a subsidiary or affiliate has a business relationship, to curtail, cancel, not renew, or not continue his or her or its business with the Company or any subsidiary or affiliate; or (C) induces, or attempts to influence, any employee of or service provider to the Company or a subsidiary or affiliate to terminate such employment or service. The Committee shall, in its discretion, determine which lines of business the Company conducts on any particular date and which third parties may reasonably be deemed to be in competition with the Company. For purposes of this Section 10(b)(i), a Participant's interest as a stockholder is insubstantial if it represents beneficial ownership of less than five percent of the outstanding class of stock, and a Participant's interest as an owner, investor, or partner is insubstantial if it represents ownership, as determined by the Committee in its discretion, of less than five percent of the outstanding equity of the entity;

18

- (ii) The Participant discloses, uses, sells, or otherwise transfers, except in the course of employment with or other service to the Company or any subsidiary or affiliate, any confidential or proprietary information of the Company or any subsidiary or affiliate, including but not limited to information regarding the Company's current and potential customers, organization, employees, finances, and methods of operations and investments, so long as such information has not otherwise been disclosed to the public or is not otherwise in the public domain, except as required by law or pursuant to legal process, or the Participant makes statements or representations, or otherwise communicates, directly or indirectly, in writing, orally, or otherwise, or takes any other action which may, directly or indirectly, disparage or be damaging to the Company or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates or their respective officers, directors, empl oyees, advisors, businesses or reputations, except as required by law or pursuant to legal process; or
- (iii) The Participant fails to cooperate with the Company or any subsidiary or affiliate by making himself or herself available to testify on behalf of the Company or such subsidiary or affiliate in any action, suit, or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative, or investigative, or otherwise fails to assist the Company or any subsidiary or affiliate in any such action, suit, or proceeding by providing information and meeting and consulting with members of management of, other representatives of, or counsel to, the Company or such subsidiary or affiliate, as reasonably requested.
- (c) Agreement Does Not Prohibit Competition or Other Participant Activities. Although the conditions set forth in this Section 10 shall be deemed to be incorporated into an Award, a Participant is not thereby prohibited from engaging in any activity, including but not limited to competition with the Company and its subsidiaries and affiliates. Rather, the non-occurrence of the Forfeiture Events set forth in Section 10(b) is a condition to the Participant's right to realize and retain value from his or her compensatory Options and Awards, and the consequence under the Plan if the Participant engages in an activity giving rise to any such Forfeiture Event are the forfeitures specified herein. The Company and the Participant shall not be precluded by this provision or otherwise from entering into other agreements concerning the subject matter of Section 10(a) and 10(b).
- (d) *Committee Discretion.* The Committee may, in its discretion, waive in whole or in part the Company's right to forfeiture under this Section, but no such waiver shall be effective unless evidenced by a writing signed by a duly authorized officer of the Company. In addition, the Committee may impose additional conditions on Awards, by inclusion of appropriate provisions in the document evidencing or governing any such Award.

General Provisions.

- (a) Compliance with Legal and Other Requirements. The Company may, to the extent deemed necessary or advisable by the Committee, postpone the issuance or delivery of Stock or payment of other benefits under any Award until completion of such registration or qualification of such Stock or other required action under any federal or state law, rule or regulation, listing or other required action with respect to any stock exchange or automated quotation system upon which the Stock or other securities of the Company are listed or quoted, or compliance with any other obligation of the Company, as the Committee may consider appropriate, and may require any Participant to make such representations, furnish such information and comply with or be subject to such other conditions as it may consider appropriate in connection with the issuance or delivery of Stock or payment of other benefits in compliance with applicable laws, rules, and regulations, listing requirements, or other obligations. The foregoing notwithstanding, in connection with a Change in Control, the Company shall take or cause to be taken no action, and shall undertake or permit to arise no legal or contractual obligation, that results or would result in any postponement of the issuance or delivery of Stock or payment of benefits under any Award or the imposition of any other conditions on such issuance, delivery or payment, to the extent that such postponement or other condition would represent a greater burden on a Participant than existed on the 90th day preceding the Change in Control.
- (b) Limits on Transferability; Beneficiaries. No Award or other right or interest of a Participant under the Plan shall be pledged, hypothecated or otherwise encumbered or subject to any lien, obligation or liability of such Participant to any party (other than the Company or a subsidiary or affiliate thereof), or assigned or transferred by such Participant otherwise than by will or the laws of descent and distribution or to a Beneficiary upon the death of a Participant, and such Awards or rights that may be exercisable shall be exercised during the lifetime of the Participant only by the Participant or his or her guardian or legal representative, except that Awards and other rights (other than ISOs) may be transferred to one or more transferees during the lifetime of the Participant, and may be exercised by such transferees in accordance with the terms of such Award, but only if and to the extent such transfer rs are permitted by the Committee, subject to any terms and conditions which the Committee may impose thereon (including limitations the Committee may deem appropriate in order that offers and sales under the Plan will meet applicable requirements of registration forms under the Securities Act of 1933 specified by the Securities and Exchange Commission). A Beneficiary, transferee, or other person claiming any rights under the Plan from or through any Participant shall be subject to all terms and conditions of the Plan and any Award document applicable to such Participant, except as otherwise determined by the Committee, and to any additional terms and conditions deemed necessary or appropriate by the Committee.
- (c) *Adjustments*. In the event that any large, special and non-recurring dividend or other distribution (whether in the form of cash or property other than Stock), recapitalization, forward or reverse split, Stock dividend, reorganization, merger,

20

consolidation, spin-off, combination, repurchase, share exchange, liquidation, dissolution or other similar corporate transaction or event affects the Stock such that an adjustment is determined by the Committee to be appropriate under the Plan, then the Committee shall, in such manner as it may deem equitable, adjust any or all of (i) the number and kind of shares of Stock which may be delivered in connection with Awards granted thereafter, (ii) the number and kind of shares of Stock by which annual per-person Award limitations are measured under Section 5, (iii) the number and kind of shares of Stock subject to or deliverable in respect of outstanding Awards and (iv) the exercise price, grant price or purchase price relating to any Award or, if deemed appropriate, the Committee may make provision for a payment of cash or property to the holder of an outstanding Option (subject to Section 11(k)). In addition, the Committee is authorized to make adjustments in the terms and conditions of, and the criteria included in, Awards (including Performance Awards and performance goals and any hypothetical funding pool relating thereto) in recognition of unusual or nonrecurring events (including, without limitation, events described in the preceding sentence, as well as acquisitions and dispositions of businesses and assets) affecting the Company, any subsidiary or affiliate or other business unit, or the financial statements of the Company or any subsidiary or affiliate, or in response to changes in applicable laws, regulations, accounting principles, tax rates and regulations or business conditions or in view of the Committee's assessment of the business strategy of the Company, any subsidiary or affiliate or business unit thereof, performance of comparable organizations, economic and business conditions, personal performance of a Participant, and any other circumstances deemed relevant; provided that no such adjustment shall be authorized or made if and to the extent that the existence of such authority (i) would cause Options, or Performance Awards granted under Section 8 to Participants designated by the Committee as Covered Employees and intended to qualify as "performance-based compensation" under Code Section 162(m) and regulations thereunder to otherwise fail to qualify as "performance-based compensation" under Code Section 162(m) and regulations thereunder, or (ii) would cause the Committee to be deemed to have authority to change the targets, within the meaning of Treasury Regulation 1.162-27(e)(4)(vi), under the performance goals relating to Options granted to Covered Employees and intended to qualify as "performance-based compensation" under Code Section 162(m) and regulations thereunder.

(d) Tax Provisions.

(i) Withholding. The Company and any subsidiary or affiliate is authorized to withhold from any Award granted, any payment relating to an Award under the Plan, including from a distribution of Stock, or any payroll or other payment to a Participant, amounts of withholding and other taxes due or potentially payable in connection with any transaction involving an Award, and to take such other action as the Committee may deem advisable to enable the Company and Participants to satisfy obligations for the payment of withholding taxes and other tax obligations relating to any Award. This authority shall include authority to withhold or receive Stock or other property and to make cash payments in respect thereof in satisfaction of a Participant's withholding obligations, either on a mandatory or elective basis in the discretion of the Committee. Other provisions of the Plan notwithstanding, only the&nbs p;

- (ii) Required Consent to and Notification of Code Section 83(b) Election. No election under Section 83(b) of the Code (to include in gross income in the year of transfer the amounts specified in Code Section 83(b)) or under a similar provision of the laws of a jurisdiction outside the United States may be made unless expressly permitted by the terms of the Award document or by action of the Committee in writing prior to the making of such election. In any case in which a Participant is permitted to make such an election in connection with an Award, the Participant shall notify the Company of such election within ten days of filing notice of the election with the Internal Revenue Service or other governmental authority, in addition to any filing and notification required pursuant to regulations issued under Code Section 83(b) or other applicable provision.
- (iii) Requirement of Notification Upon Disqualifying Disposition Under Code Section 421(b). If any Participant shall make any disposition of shares of Stock delivered pursuant to the exercise of an Incentive Stock Option under the circumstances described in Code Section 421(b) (relating to certain disqualifying dispositions), such Participant shall notify the Company of such disposition within ten days thereof.
- (e) Changes to the Plan. The Board may amend, suspend or terminate the Plan or the Committee's authority to grant Awards under the Plan without the consent of stockholders or Participants; provided, however, that any amendment to the Plan shall be submitted to the Company's stockholders for approval not later than the earliest annual meeting for which the record date is after the date of such Board action if such stockholder approval is required by any federal or state law or regulation or the rules of any stock exchange or automated quotation system on which the Stock may then be listed or quoted or if such amendment would materially increase the number of shares reserved for issuance and delivery under the Plan or materially increase the benefits to Participants under the Plan, and the Board may otherwise, in its discretion, determine to submit other amendments to the Plan to stockholders for approval; and p rovided further, that, without the consent of an affected Participant, no such Board action may materially and adversely affect the rights of such Participant under any outstanding Award. Without the approval of stockholders, the Committee will not amend or replace previously granted Options in a transaction that constitutes a "repricing," as such term is used in Instruction 3 to Item 402(b)(2)(iv) of Regulation S-K, as promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission. With regard to other terms of Awards, the Committee shall have no authority to waive or modify any such Award term after the Award has been granted to the extent the waived or modified term would be mandatory under the Plan for any Award newly granted at the date of the waiver or modification.
- (f) *Right of Setoff.* The Company or any subsidiary or affiliate may, to the extent permitted by applicable law, deduct from and set off against any amounts the Company or a subsidiary or affiliate may owe to the Participant from time to time, including amounts

payable in connection with any Award, owed as wages, fringe benefits, or other compensation owed to the Participant, such amounts as may be owed by the Participant to the Company, including but not limited to amounts owed under Section 10(a), although the Participant shall remain liable for any part of the Participant's payment obligation not satisfied through such deduction and setoff. By accepting any Award granted hereunder, the Participant agrees to any deduction or setoff under this Section 11(f).

- (g) Unfunded Status of Awards; Creation of Trusts. The Plan is intended to constitute an "unfunded" plan for incentive and deferred compensation. With respect to any payments not yet made to a Participant or obligation to deliver Stock pursuant to an Award, nothing contained in the Plan or any Award shall give any such Participant any rights that are greater than those of a general creditor of the Company; provided that the Committee may authorize the creation of trusts and deposit therein cash, Stock, other Awards or other property, or make other arrangements to meet the Company's obligations under the Plan. Such trusts or other arrangements shall be consistent with the "unfunded" status of the Plan unless the Committee otherwise determines with the consent of each affected Participant.
- (h) *Nonexclusivity of the Plan.* Neither the adoption of the Plan by the Board nor its submission to the stockholders of the Company for approval shall be construed as creating any limitations on the power of the Board or a committee thereof to adopt such other incentive arrangements, apart from the Plan, as it may deem desirable, including incentive arrangements and awards which do not qualify under Code Section 162(m), and such other arrangements may be either applicable generally or only in specific cases.
- (i) Payments in the Event of Forfeitures; Fractional Shares. Unless otherwise determined by the Committee, in the event of a forfeiture of an Award with respect to which a Participant paid cash consideration, the Participant shall be repaid the amount of such cash consideration. No fractional shares of Stock shall be issued or delivered pursuant to the Plan or any Award. The Committee shall determine whether cash, other Awards or other property shall be issued or paid in lieu of such fractional shares or whether such fractional shares or any rights thereto shall be forfeited or otherwise eliminated.
- (j) Compliance with Code Section 162(m). It is the intent of the Company that Options granted to Covered Employees and other Awards designated as Awards to Covered Employees subject to Section 7 shall constitute qualified "performance-based compensation" within the meaning of Code Section 162(m) and regulations thereunder, unless otherwise determined by the Committee at the time of allocation of an Award. Accordingly, the terms of Sections 7(b), (c), and (d), including the definitions of Covered Employee and other terms used therein, shall be interpreted in a manner consistent with Code Section 162(m) and regulations thereunder. The foregoing notwithstanding, because the Committee cannot determine with certainty whether a given Participant will be a Covered Employee with respect to a fiscal year that has not yet been completed, the term Covered Employee as used herein shall mean only a person designated by the Committee as likely to be a Covered Employee with respect to a specified fiscal year. If any provision of the Plan or any Award document relating to a Performance Award that is designated as

23

intended to comply with Code Section 162(m) does not comply or is inconsistent with the requirements of Code Section 162(m) or regulations thereunder, such provision shall be construed or deemed amended to the extent necessary to conform to such requirements, and no provision shall be deemed to confer upon the Committee or any other person discretion to increase the amount of compensation otherwise payable in connection with any such Award upon attainment of the applicable performance objectives.

(k) Certain Limitations Relating to Accounting Treatment of Awards. Other provisions of the Plan notwithstanding, the Committee's authority under the Plan (including under Sections 8(c), 8(d), 11(c) and 11(d)) is limited to the extent necessary to ensure that any Option or other Award of a type that the Committee has intended to be subject to fixed accounting with a measurement date at the date of grant or the date performance conditions are satisfied under APB 25 shall not become subject to "variable" accounting solely due to the existence of such authority, unless the

Committee specifically determines that the Award shall remain outstanding despite such "variable" accounting. In addition, other provisions of the Plan notwithstanding, (i) if any right under this Plan would cause a transaction to be ineligible for pooling-of-interests accounting that would, but for the right hereunder, be eligible for such ac counting treatment, such right shall be automatically adjusted so that pooling-of-interests accounting shall be available, including by substituting Stock or cash having a Fair Market Value equal to any cash or Stock otherwise payable in respect of any right to cash which would cause the transaction to be ineligible for pooling-of-interests accounting, and (ii) if the authority of the Continuing Directors to determine that an event shall not constitute a Change in Control or other authority under Section 9(c) would cause a transaction to be ineligible for pooling-of-interests accounting treatment, such authority shall be limited to the extent necessary so that such transaction would be eligible for pooling-of-interests accounting.

- (l) Governing Law. The validity, construction, and effect of the Plan, any rules and regulations relating to the Plan and any Award document shall be determined in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware, without giving effect to principles of conflicts of laws, and applicable provisions of federal law.
- (m) Awards to Participants Outside the United States. The Committee may modify the terms of any Award under the Plan made to or held by a Participant who is then resident or primarily employed outside of the United States in any manner deemed by the Committee to be necessary or appropriate in order that such Award shall conform to laws, regulations, and customs of the country in which the Participant is then resident or primarily employed, or so that the value and other benefits of the Award to the Participant, as affected by foreign tax laws and other restrictions applicable as a result of the Participant's residence or employment abroad shall be comparable to the value of such an Award to a Participant who is resident or primarily employed in the United States. An Award may be modified under this Section 11(m) in a manner that is inconsistent with the express terms of the Plan, so long as such modifications will not contravene any applicable law or regulation or result in actual liability under Section 16(b) for the Participant whose Award is modified.

24

- (n) Limitation on Rights Conferred under Plan. Neither the Plan nor any action taken hereunder shall be construed as (i) giving any Eligible Person or Participant the right to continue as an Eligible Person or Participant or in the employ or service of the Company or a subsidiary or affiliate, (ii) interfering in any way with the right of the Company or a subsidiary or affiliate to terminate any Eligible Person's or Participant's employment or service at any time, (iii) giving an Eligible Person or Participant any claim to be granted any Award under the Plan or to be treated uniformly with other Participants and employees, or (iv) conferring on a Participant any of the rights of a stockholder of the Company unless and until the Participant is duly issued or transferred shares of Stock in accordance with the terms of an Award or an Option is duly exercised. Except as expressly provided in the Plan and an Award document, neither the Plan nor any Award document shall confer on any person other than the Company and the Participant any rights or remedies thereunder.
- (o) Severability; Entire Agreement. If any of the provisions of this Plan or any Award document is finally held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable (whether in whole or in part), such provision shall be deemed modified to the extent, but only to the extent, of such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability, and the remaining provisions shall not be affected thereby; provided, that, if any of such provisions is finally held to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable because it exceeds the maximum scope determined to be acceptable to permit such provision to be enforceable, such provision shall be deemed to be modified to the minimum extent necessary to modify such scope in order to make such provision enforceable hereunder. The Plan and any Award documents contain the entire agreement of the parties with respect to the subject matter thereof and supersede all prior agreements, promises, covenants, arrangements, communications, representations and warranties between them, whether written or oral with respect to the subject matter thereof.
- (p) Plan Effective Date and Termination. The Plan shall become effective if, and at such time as, the stockholders of the Company have approved it by the affirmative votes of the holders of a majority of the voting securities of the Company present, or represented, and entitled to vote on the subject matter at a duly held meeting of stockholders. Unless earlier terminated by action of the Board of Directors, the Plan will remain in effect until such time as no Stock remains available for delivery under the Plan and the Company has no further rights or obligations under the Plan with respect to outstanding Awards under the Plan.

ACCOUNTANTS' ACKNOWLEDGMENT

The Board of Directors Minerals Technologies Inc.:

Re: Registration Statement Nos. 33-59080, 33-65268, 33-96558 and 333-62739

With respect to the subject registration statements, we acknowledge our awareness of the use therein of our report dated July 19, 2001, related to our review of interim financial information.

Pursuant to Rule 436(c) under the Securities Act of 1933, such report is not considered a part of a registration statement prepared or certified by an accountant or a report prepared or certified by an accountant within the meaning of sections 7 and 11 of the Act.

Very truly yours,

KPMG LLP

New York, New York August 8, 2001

CAUTIONARY FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT FUTURE RESULTS

The disclosure and analysis set forth in this report contains certain forward-looking statements, particularly statements relating to future actions, performance or results of current and anticipated products, sales efforts, expenditures, and financial results. From time to time, the Company also provides forward-looking statements in other publicly-released materials, both written and oral. Forward-looking statements provide current expectations and forecasts of future events such as new products, revenues and financial performance, and are not limited to describing historical or current facts. They can be identified by the use of words such as "expects," "plans," "anticipates," "will" and other words and phrases of similar meaning.

Forward-looking statements are necessarily based on assumptions, estimates and limited information available at the time they are made. A broad variety of risks and uncertainties, both known and unknown, as well as the inaccuracy of assumptions and estimates, can affect the realization of the expectations or forecasts in these statements. Consequently, no forward-looking statement can be guaranteed. Actual future results may vary materially.

The Company undertakes no obligation to update any forward-looking statements. Investors should refer to the Company's subsequent filings under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 for further disclosures.

As permitted by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, the Company is providing the following cautionary statements which identify factors that could cause the Company's actual results to differ materially from historical and expected results. It is not possible to foresee or identify all such factors. Investors should not consider this list an exhaustive statement of all risks, uncertainties and potentially inaccurate assumptions.

· Historical Growth Rate

Continuance of the historical growth rate of the Company depends upon a number of uncertain events, including the outcome of the Company's strategies of increasing its penetration into geographical markets such as Asia and Europe; increasing its penetration into product markets such as the market for paper coating pigments and the market for groundwood paper pigments; increasing sales to existing PCC customers by increasing the amount of PCC used per ton of paper produced; and developing, introducing and selling new products. Difficulties, delays or failures of any of these strategies could cause the future growth rate of the Company to differ materially from its historical growth rate.

• Contract Renewals

The Company's sales of PCC are predominantly pursuant to long-term agreements, generally ten years in length, with paper mills at which the Company operates satellite PCC plants. The terms of many of these agreements have been extended, often in connection with an expansion of the satellite PCC plant. Failure of a number of the Company's customers to renew existing agreements on terms as favorable to the Company as those currently in effect could cause the future growth rate of the Company to differ materially from its historical growth rate, and could have a substantial adverse effect on the Company's results of operations.

· Consolidation in Paper Industry

Several acquisitions in the paper industry have taken place in the last two years. Such acquisitions could result in partial or total closure of some paper mills at which MTI operates PCC satellites. Such closures would reduce MTI's sales of PCC, except to the extent that they resulted in shifting paper production and associated purchases of PCC to another location served by MTI. There can be no assurance, however, that this will occur. In addition, such acquisitions concentrate purchasing power in the hands of a smaller number of papermakers, enabling them to increase competitive pressure on their suppliers, such as MTI. Such increased pressure could have an adverse effect on MTI's results of operations in the future.

• Litigation; Environmental Exposures

The Company's operations are subject to international, federal, state and local environmental, tax and other laws and regulations, and potentially to claims for various legal, environmental and tax matters. The Company is currently a party to various litigation matters. While the Company carries liability insurance which it believes to be appropriate to its businesses, and has provided reserves for such matters which it believes to be adequate, an unanticipated liability arising out of such a litigation matter or a tax or

environmental proceeding could have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial condition or results of operations.

• New Products

The Company is engaged in a continuous effort to develop new products and processes in all of its product lines. Difficulties, delays or failures in the development, testing, production, marketing or sale of such new products could cause actual results of operations to differ materially from expected results.

• Competition; Protection of Intellectual Property

Particularly in its PCC and Refractory product lines, the Company's ability to compete is based in part upon proprietary knowledge, both patented and unpatented. The Company's ability to achieve anticipated results depends in part on its ability to defend its intellectual property against inappropriate disclosure as well as against infringement. In addition, development by the Company's competitors of new products or technologies that are more effective or less expensive than those the Company offers could have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial condition or results of operations.

• Risks of Doing Business Abroad

As the Company expands its operations overseas, it faces the increased risks of doing business abroad, including inflation, fluctuations in interest rates and currency exchange rates, changes in applicable laws and regulatory requirements, export and import restrictions, tariffs, nationalization, expropriation, limits on repatriation of funds, unstable governments and legal systems, and other factors. Adverse developments in any of these areas could cause actual results to differ materially from historical and expected results.

• Availability of Raw Materials

The Company's ability to achieve anticipated results depends in part on having an adequate supply of raw materials for its manufacturing operations, particularly lime and carbon dioxide for PCC operations and magnesia for refractory operations, and on having adequate access to the ore reserves at its mining operations. Unanticipated changes in the costs or availability of such raw materials, or in the Company's ability to have access to its ore reserves, could adversely affect the Company's results of operations.

• Cyclical Nature of Customers' Businesses

The bulk of the Company's sales are to customers in two industries, paper manufacturing and steel manufacturing, which have historically been cyclical. The Company's exposure to variations in its customers' businesses has been reduced in recent years by the growth in the number of plants it operates; by the diversification of its portfolio of products and services; and by its geographic expansion. Also, the Company has structured some of its long-term satellite PCC contracts to provide a degree of protection against declines in the quantity of product purchased, since the

price per ton of PCC rises as the number of tons purchased declines. In addition, many of the Company's product lines lower its customers' costs of production or increase their productivity, which should encourage them to use its products. However, a sustained economic downturn in one or more of the industries or geographic regions that the Company serves, or in the worldwide economy, could cause actual results of operations to differ materially from historical and expected results.

• Adoption of a Common European Currency

On January 1, 1999, eleven European countries adopted the euro as their common currency. Adoption of a single currency and a common monetary policy by the countries adopting the euro can be expected to have effects on competition in Europe and on the overall economy of the region, which could adversely affect the Company's financial position or results of operations.